Reduction of agricultural soil N losses during the winter season by straw amendments, nitrification inhibitor and by intercropping

Inaugural – Dissertation

zur

Erlangung des Doktorgrades

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

der Universität zu Köln

vorgelegt von

Hao Chen

aus Shanxi

Köln, 2023

Berichterstatter: Prof. Dr. Michael Bonkowski Prof. Dr. Eric von Elert

Vorsitz der Prüfung: Prof. Dr. Christina Bogner

Beisitzer: Dr. Kenneth Dumack

Table of contents

Abstract1
Introduction
N fertilizer increased crop yield but induced environmental problems i.e. N ₂ O emission and N leaching
Temperature variation (cooling-warming cycle) and freezing-thawing affect the N transformation.3
Nitrification inhibitor application reduce N losses4
Straw amendment improve the N uptake of crops and reduce N losses
Intercropping improve crop growth and reduce N losses6
Aims and hypothesis7
Chapter summary9
Reference11
Chapter 1 Straw amendment and nitrification inhibitor controlling N losses and immobilization in a soil cooling-warming experiment
Chapter 2 Straw application and nitrification inhibitor affect soil N losses during cooling-warming and freeze-thaw cycles
Chapter 3 Gone and forgotten: facilitative effects of intercropping combinations did not carry over to affect barley performance in a follow-up crop rotation
General discussion
Losses of N (N leaching and N ₂ O) in winter period between crop growing21
Methods of reducing soil N losses and improving crop N uptake21
Contribution of this study to the science and agriculture24
Reference
Acknowledgements
Subpublications and Records of Achievement
Erklärung zur Dissertation

Abstract

Nitrogen (N) is a fundamental element for plant and crop growth, but soil N losses may cause low crop N use efficiency and reduced biomass. Moreover, soil N losses such as nitrous oxide (N₂O) emissions and nitrate leaching are causing environmental problems. In order to reduce N losses soil amendment with straw and the application of nitrification inhibitors are used in agriculture. Straw amendment stimulates the microbial uptake of N for stoichiometric reasons, thus reducing N losses form soil. However, significant parts of N may still remain sequestered in soil microbial biomass and cause N shortage of crops if N is not released in time, studies on long-term effects of straw incorporation and its effects on the performance subsequent crops are quite rare. Besides of soil amendment, a good crop management (i.e. intercropping and crop rotation) can also reduce soil N losses and improve crop N use efficiency. Different from intercropping, the effects of crop rotation are mediated through indirect feedback interactions known as plant-soil feedback (PSF) effects, the preceding plant affects the soil abiotic and biotic components that influence the succeeding plant generation. However, little is known about the ecological interactions and how the underlying mechanisms can also be utilized to enhance cropping systems productivity. The research of combining spatio-temporal diversity (intercropping together with crop rotation) in cropping systems is needed. Therefore, this thesis aimed to evaluate the effects of crop management (i.e. intercropping) and soil amendments application (i.e. application of straw and nitrification inhibitor) on crop growth, and the effects of soil amendments application on soil N losses under temperature variation (i.e. cooling-warming and freezing-thawing cycling).

A mesocosm experiment was designed in chapter 1, to reproduce the dynamics of soil N cycling before and after crop growth, and simulate winter temperature fluctuations under three different N fertilisation rates, incorporate with straw and nitrification inhibitor (NI). Straw addition promoted microbial fixation of N, thereby reducing soil N leaching and total N losses. NI was effective in reducing soil N₂O emissions and mitigate N₂O emissions caused by straw application. Soil cooling-warming enhanced ammonification and straw induced microbial fixation of N was released at the end of the experiment. But re-mineralization in no-N and low-N rates was insufficient at critical times of early barley growth, concurrently, barley biomass was decreased at both no-N and low-N fertilization rates. Therefore, adequate N fertilisation, combined with straw application, is essential to regulate the timely remineralisation of N for succeeding crops.

A mesocosm experiment that simulated the seasonal temperature variation was conducted in chapter 2, to investigate the effects of wheat straw amendment NI and temperature variation (both freezing-thawing and cooling-warming) on N losses from soil as N₂O and leachate with and without N fertilization. We observed straw addition reduced N leaching and total N losses, but increased the N₂O emission by denitrification in high N fertilizer levels. NI effectively reduced N₂O emission after fertilization. Cooling-warming strongly induced N mineralization and caused N₂O emission peak even in the absence of freezing-thawing, while freezing-thawing increased the N₂O emission furtherly.

In chapter 3, we set up a field trial consisting of an intercropping phase followed by a rotation phase. In the intercropping phase, maize, faba beans and lupins were grown as monocultures or mixtures of the two as intercrops. In the subsequent rotation phase, barley monocultures were grown to test the plant-soil feedback (PSF) effects of the intercropping phase. The

results were both good intercropping species combinations (maize and broad bean) and inefficient intercropping combinations (lupin with other crops). In addition, the intercropping phase altered soil mineral N content, but the feedback effect of intercropping had no impact on barley biomass. Although intercropping had no significant PSF effects in this experiment, PSF effects could be important for crops on soils with low fertiliser application or poor fertility.

In conclusion, straw addition significantly reduced soil N losses, NI addition counterbalanced the increased N₂O emissions due to straw amendment at high N fertilization, a great challenge of straw application is the timing of N-release for the following crop. Positive effects of intercropping on above-ground biomass are species specific, but soil legacies from the intercropping phase had no effect on soil microbial parameters and barley above-ground biomass in the rotation phase. In order to maximise crop yield and benefit the environment, management practices like intercropping, crop rotation, and the use of soil amendments like NI, straw should be carefully chosen for adoption based on the unique characteristics of the arable land as well as the costs and labour inputs.

Introduction

N fertilizer increased crop yield but induced environmental problems i.e. N₂O emission and N leaching

The use of chemical N fertilisers in agricultural production is essential to feed the growing global population (Sutton et al., 2011). However, more than half of the N fertiliser is lost into the environment, but not taken up by crops in agricultural fields (Lassaletta et al., 2014). Urea and anhydrous ammonia, as a common form of N fertiliser, are rapidly converted to nitrate (NO_3^-) by the microbial nitrification process when applied to soil (Huber et al., 1977). NO_3^- is highly mobile in soil and is therefore susceptible to a number of environmental problems, including water pollution and greenhouse gas emissions. The application of N in leachable forms (e.g. NO_3^-) can lead to the N losses, especially in intensive agriculture (Nixon and Agency, 2003), endangering human health through eutrophication of surface waters or contamination of drinking water (Di and Cameron, 2002). Moreover, autumn and winter are the main periods of N leaching in temperate agricultural systems, when crop residues decompose, and plant N uptake and evapotranspiration is low (Di and Cameron, 2002), preventing N leaching at critical times is crucial.

In addition to N leaching, N can also be lost to the atmosphere as N₂O through the nitrification and denitrification processes, making it the third largest greenhouse gas after carbon dioxide (CO₂) and methane. N₂O has an atmospheric lifetime of 116 \pm 9 years and therefore depletes atmospheric ozone over a long timescale (Prather et al., 2015), with a single-molecule warming potential 298 times that of CO₂ (Montzka et al., 2011). Soil is the major source of N₂O emissions, while agricultural production accounts for half of the anthropogenic N₂O emissions (Tian et al., 2020). Atmospheric concentrations of N₂O have increased by 20% over the past two hundred years and are still rising at a rate of 2% per decade (Tian et al., 2020). N₂O emissions are expected to increase in the future as the population and demand for food keep growing (Godfray et al., 2010). Furthermore, the recent growth in N₂O emissions exceeds some of the highest projected emission scenarios (Davidson, 2012), emphasizing the importance to mitigate N₂O emissions.

Temperature variation (cooling-warming cycle) and freezing-thawing affect the N transformation

In order to predict N losses from agriculture and devise mitigation strategies, theoretical knowledge must be applied to the unique environmental circumstances of a region or ecosystem. In this regard, temperature must be taken into account as one of the most important factors influencing the soil N transformation. During the fallow period of variable soil moisture and temperature, such as periods of cooling, warming, freezing and thawing, large amounts of N are lost before it can be captured by the subsequent crop generation (Cookson et al., 2002; Sieling and Kage, 2006). Previous studies investigated the effects of temperature on soil N content (Tan et al., 2021), ammonia volatilization (Siman et al., 2020), N₂O emission (Smith et al., 1998), temperature sensitivity (Q10) of soil N transformation rate (Guntiñas et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2016). However, these studies either investigated the soil N at one-time point in the natural environment ((Tan et al., 2021), or soils incubated under constant temperature (Li et al., 2017; Tan et al., 2021). The temperature is unstable during late winter and early spring, with temperature fluctuations of more than 20 °C within days in Europe (https://www.visualcrossing.com/weather-history), especially at times of winter

warming or spring frost. Winter warming combined with late spring frost can significantly decrease crop yield (Li et al., 2015). Despite seasonal temperature variations can greatly influence soil N fixation processes (Li et al., 2021), experiments on seasonal N cycling in agricultural soils are rare (Sieling and Kage, 2006).

Variation of temperatures below and above 0 °C causes freezing-thawing of soils, which is a common phenomenon in temperate environments and 55 % of the northern hemisphere are subject to seasonal soil freezing-thawing (Kreyling et al., 2008). This leads to more N losses as leachate and N₂O emission due to the increased release of inorganic N from soil (Gao et al., 2018). Soil freezing and thawing cause physical disruption of aggregates and cleavage of microbial cells, resulting in the release of nutrients. The released nutrients combined with the creation of anoxic microsites promote emissions of N₂O by up to one-fold. A burst of N₂O emissions from thawing soils is often observed (Matzner and Borken, 2008), and more than half of the annual N₂O emissions may result from thaw-related fluxes (Wagner-Riddle et al., 2017). The complete understanding of biological mechanisms explaining N loss during soil freezing and thawing, i.e. involved functional microbial genes and enzymes still needs further research (Hu et al., 2015).

Nitrification inhibitor application reduce N losses

To combat the problem of soil N losses, soil amendments are the most commonly used methods, among which nitrification inhibitors (NIs) are widely used to improve crops NUE and reduce N losses (Wu et al., 2017). NIs are compounds that inhibit the oxidation of soil ammonium (NH_4^+) to nitrite (NO_2^-) by ammonia-oxidizing bacteria, such as the genus Nitrosomonas (Zerulla et al., 2001). Ammonia monooxygenase (AMO) is responsible for catalysing the first step of nitrification and most NIs can inhibit AMO activity (Subbarao et al., 2006). Furthermore, NI may indirectly affect N₂O emissions from denitrification (Hatch et al., 2005; Ruser and Schulz, 2015) Although NI are known to reduce N₂O emissions from arable soils, their effectiveness varies widely (Menéndez et al., 2012). The longevity of NI can greatly limit its effectiveness, which is determined by soil temperature, moisture and fertiliser levels (Norton and Ouyang, 2019; Thapa et al., 2016). The effects of NIs on crop yields are affected by soil factors including soil pH, which influence NH₃ volatilization, and soil texture, which influence N leaching (Zaman et al., 2008). The management factors including irrigation, N fertilizer rate, crop varieties and NI species also influence the effect of NIs on yield (Abalos et al., 2014), thus, NIs can have positive (Zaman et al., 2013) or no effects on crops (Linquist et al., 2013). It is known that the inhibitory capacity of NIs decreased with increasing temperature (Irigoven et al., 2003; McGeough et al., 2016). Menéndez et al (2012) reported that the effect of soil temperature on the efficiency of NI was dependent on soil water content: the efficiency of NI decreased with temperature under 80% WFPS, but the mitigating effect of DMPP increases with temperature at 40% WFPS. Therefore, it is still no clear how soil temperature and moisture modify the efficiency of NI on soil N₂O emissions.

Among the NIs, pyrazole derivatives (PD) are a class of effective NI. Piadin (SKW, Piesteritc, Germany) is a commercial formulation incorporating two active PD compounds: 1H-1,2,4-triazole and 3-methylpyrazole at inclusion rates of approximately 3.1% and 1.6%, respectively, which commonly used as livestock slurry amendment (Barneze et al., 2015). PIADIN® retards the transformation of NH₄⁺ into NO₃⁻ for about two months and weeks immediately after application to the soil (https://www.piadin.de/en/#home). However, up to

now only few publications on the use of this product exist (Federolf et al., 2016; Misselbrook et al., 2014), and few investigations studied the effect of Piadin on soil N leaching.

Straw amendment improve the N uptake of crops and reduce N losses

In addition to NI application, straw as a high carbon additive, is one of the most commonly used soil amendments to control soil N loss (Diacono and Montemurro, 2011; Norton and Ouyang, 2019; Xia et al., 2018). Straw is a carbon (C) rich biomass resource that can act as a source of organic fertiliser (Liu et al., 2021). Compared with burning, returning straw to the field decreases air pollution, improves soil aggregation, enhances biological activity and reduces soil water evaporation (Yang et al., 2018). Soil C content is one of the main limiting factors for microbial growth and the addition of higher carbon straw promotes microbial N uptake due to stoichiometry (Chen et al., 2023). To fix excess mineral N in the soil by soil microorganisms, farmers apply straw from the previous season's crop to the field before sowing (van Duijnen et al., 2018). Although microorganisms compete with plants for soil N in the short term, because microbial cycles continually remobilize microbial biomass N (MB-N) in the rhizosphere, which is subsequently taken up by the root system or mycorrhizae (Bonkowski, 2004; Koller et al., 2013a; Koller et al., 2013b; Koller et al., 2013c; Rozmoš et al., 2021), the plant may win out in the long term (Hodge et al., 2000; Kuzyakov and Xu, 2013; Sieling and Kage, 2006).

However, intensive farming can hinder these processes of N released from microbial fixation (Roy et al., 2017). If N is not released in a timely manner, large amounts of N can be retained in the soil microbial biomass, leading to N deficiency in the crop (Jingguo and Bakken, 1997), requiring more N fertiliser for the next crop growth. Nevertheless, the long-term effects of straw addition on crop growth remain unclear (Congreves et al., 2013). A more accurate administration affecting the timing of N fixation and remobilization after straw addition can significantly mitigate global agricultural N losses and greenhouse gas emissions.

By immobilizing N in soil, both the NO_3^- and nitrite concentrations in surface water and in percolating water was reduced after straw application (Yang et al., 2018a). Besides that, straw application could enhance soil aggregation and water penetration by the extension of fungal hyphae (Peng et al., 2013). An increased soil water holding capacity due to a reduced soil bulk density and increased soil porosity will also reduce soil NO_3^- –N leaching (Yang et al., 2018a). While the effects of straw application on N leaching are influenced by e.g. soil texture, particle size of straw, time of percolation and type of straw amendment (Hansen et al., 2015; Nicholson et al., 1997; Zheng et al., 2019), this has led to widely varying results and understanding the causes is essential for efficient straw application (Gong et al., 2022; Hansen et al., 2010; Hansen et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2015).

Moreover, although straw is often used to mitigate soil N₂O emissions (Li et al., 2014; Ma et al., 2009), some doubts were expressed about potential N₂O emissions under straw incorporation (Huang et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2015a; Zhang et al., 2019). Because the effects of straw addition on soil N₂O emissions appear inconsistent, ranging from positive (Li et al., 2013; Xia et al., 2018) to neutral (John et al., 2020; Malhi and Lemke, 2007), and negative (Shan and Yan, 2013; Yao et al., 2017). The divergent N₂O responses to straw addition have been attributed to differences in soil physicochemical properties, fertilization practices, C/N ratio of straw, soil moisture and so on (Chen et al., 2013; Ma et al., 2009; Yu et al., 2019), indicating that the fundamental mechanisms controlling the impact of straw on N₂O

emissions are complicated and still little understood (Wu et al., 2020). Positive effect of straw amendment on leachate due to increased N immobilization can be counterbalanced by acceleration of N_2O emission via denitrification. Critical role in respect to N losses in this case play the dynamics of soil water content and oxygen availability. NI could suppress the provision of NO_3^- for denitrification and therefore, its combination with straw could potentially lead to an overall positive effect on soil N contents. But this hypothetical interaction needs to be proven under controlled conditions. It was reported that the efficiency of NI in reducing N₂O emissions was negatively correlated with soil organic matter content (Lin and Hernandez-Ramirez, 2020; McGeough et al., 2016), while Wu et al (2017) reported that NIs mitigate N₂O emissions more effectively with straw incorporation in soil. At present it is even unclear whether NIs and straw can be used in combination to effectively reduce N loss from the soil, especially under cooling-warming and freezing-thawing.

Intercropping improve crop growth and reduce N losses

Besides of soil amendment, a good crop diversification can improve the crop NUE (Gurr et al., 2016). Intercropping increases crop diversification in cropping systems by planting different varieties or crops concurrently in the same area (Kumar et al., 2021). Compared with monoculture, intercropping can ensure crop yields through crop diversification with less nutrient supply and pesticide use (Chen et al., 2019). Intercropping increases yields by raising the crop's efficiency of use of nutrients, light and water, it also suppresses pathogens, weeds and pests and promotes the growth of beneficial microorganisms (Döring et al., 2012; Hauggaard-Nielsen and Jensen, 2005). Meanwhile, intercropping also reduces soil erosion, and combining with legumes can enhance crop N uptake (Hauggaard-Nielsen and Jensen, 2005; Trenbath, 1993; Zougmore et al., 2000). Two prime advantages of intercropping, which make the practice particularly beneficial for developing country farmers, are diet diversification and risk reduction (Heywood et al., 2013). Intercropping can increase farmers' resilience to risk; when one crop is damaged by climate or insect pests, the companion crop may remain unaffected through physiological responses or by attracting different pests (Whitmore and Schröder, 2007).

Increasing crop diversification including intercropping was shown to have positive effects on plant productivity (Dong et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2017) and reduced N₂O emission (Chen et al., 2019), but negative effects have also been observed (Bukowski et al., 2018; Polley et al., 2003). It is a huge task to develop a sustainable cropping system based on agro-climatic conditions and available resources (Maitra et al., 2019). Few reports on successful development project initiatives that have led to widespread adoption of intercropping (Panel, 2013). The complexity of intercropping combinations contributes to this limitation, as inappropriate intercropping partners (Karpenstein-Machan and Stuelpnagel, 2000). The promotion of intercropping is limited by various factors, including the lack of necessary inputs, such as herbicides, and the fact that adjusting crop spacing impedes field traffic and discourages mechanisation and weeding (Chauhan et al., 2012; Rusinamhodzi et al., 2012).

In addition to intercropping, crop rotation is another way of diversifying crops, reducing pests and pathogens, improving nutrient use and utilising complementary ecological niches to increase yields (Dias et al., 2015). Crop rotation has similar benefits to intercropping, including benefit on crop yield, improved water use efficiency, the control of diseases, weeds and reduced N losses (Hegewald et al., 2018). While the effects are affected by climate

condition, soil texture, soil C, N contents, fertilizer, previously cultivated crops e.g. (Zhao et al., 2020). Different from intercropping, the effects of crop rotation are achieved via indirect feedback interactions, known as PSF effects (Mushonga et al., 2020; Schnitzer et al., 2011), where the prior crop affects the abiotic and biotic components of the soil that influence the subsequent crop generation (Bever, 1994; Ehrenfeld et al., 2005). PSF involves two steps: first, plants alter the composition of their related soil microbial community (Chanway et al., 1991; Kowalchuk et al., 2002); second, these plant-driven changes in the soil affect the performance of the next generation of plants (Bever et al., 1997; Thrall et al., 1997). Due to the PSF interactions, the growth rate of the subsequent crop may be higher than that of the previous crop, i.e. positive feedback, or lower than that of the previous crop, i.e. negative feedback.

Although the essence of PSF remains poorly understood, it is well known that the rhizosphere of plants contains both beneficial and detrimental microorganisms (Van der Putten, 2003). Positive PSF may be due to increased nutrient availability, such as legume-cereal (Chapman et al., 2006; Grayston et al., 1998; Wardle et al., 1999), or the enrichment of symbiotic mutualists in the rhizosphere (Klironomos, 2002). Nevertheless, it was found that the PSF is often negative (Bever, 1994; Bever et al., 1997; Klironomos, 2002; Olff et al., 2000). Accumulation of herbivores and soil pathogens in plant roots (Van der Putten, 2003), as well as the fixation or depletion of nutrients (Berendse, 1994), may cause negative feedbacks, and interspecies interactions can be influenced by negative feedbacks (Bonanomi et al., 2005; Van der Putten and Peters, 1997). However, most of the existing studies of PSF effects are from non-cropping systems, little is known about the ecological interactions and how the underlying mechanisms can also be utilized to enhance cropping systems productivity (Kumar et al., 2021). The research of combining spatio-temporal diversity (intercropping together with crop rotation) in cropping systems is needed.

Aims and hypothesis

In the first and second chapters a mesocosm experiments were conducted to investigate the effects of combining straw and NI Piadin^(R) on soil N loss and utilisation at temperature regime mimicking winter and spring soil temperature and freezing-thawing cycle at field conditions. We quantified soil mineral N, N₂O and leached N, microbial biomass at different phases and N uptake by barley. We hypothesized that i) NI will reduce N losses in the short term and must be applied repeatedly, while straw addition will reduce N losses through long-term microbial sequestration of N over seasonal temperature fluctuations, and NI and straw in combination have positive additive effects on barley N uptake; ii) a significant proportion of sequestered microbial N is released after soil cooling-warming periods mitigating N limitation of subsequent crops; iii) freezing-thawing will induce strong N₂O and N leaching losses more than cooling-warming. The size of straw and NI effects was studied against three rates of mineral N applied as fertilizer.

In chapter three, we designed a field trial that comprised an intercropping phase followed by a rotation phase. Maize, faba beans and lupins were grown as monocultures or mixtures of the two as intercrops in the intercropping phase. Following the intercropping phase, we grew barley monocultures in the rotation phase. The objectives of the study were twofold: i) to identify intercropping crop combinations with higher total yields than monocropping; ii) to determine the effect of PSF in the intercropping phase on barley yield and soil biochemical properties during the rotation. Therefore, we hypothesized that: i) Intercropping will yield

more than monocropping. ii) Intercropping would change soil properties and leave soil legacies, affecting the microbial properties and the performance of the following crop in the rotation via PSF effects. The conceptual diagram of the thesis is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Conceptual diagram of the thesis.

Chapter summary

Chapter 1 Straw amendment in combination with nitrification inhibitor controls N losses and immobilization under soil cooling-warming cycle

Summary: Soil amendments including straw and nitrification inhibitors (NI) were used to reduce soil N losses and improve crop N uptake. But the combined effects of straw and NI under seasonal soil temperature variations were rarely studied. To ascertain whether the remineralization of the soil microbial immobilised N following the addition of straw will occur in time for the growth of the following generation of barley, and NI and straw application can be effectively combined to combat N losses from soils. It was also aimed to address the effects of seasonally varying temperatures on N cycling in arable soils. To simulate the dynamics of soil N cycling before and after crop cultivation, we designed a mesocosm experiment simulating winter temperature variation at three different N fertiliser application rates, incorporating two soil amendments, straw and NI. We monitored the amount of soil N lost as N₂O and leaching, and the uptake by the next generation crop of barley. It was expected that i) straw and NI have a superimposed effect and their combination maximises N uptake by barley; ii) straw significantly reduces soil N losses at any stage of temperature variation; iii) the cooling-warming process triggers the release of N fixed by soil microorganisms to supply subsequent barley growth.

Chapter 2 Straw application and nitrification inhibitor affect soil N losses during coolingwarming and freeze-thaw cycles

Summary: Soil N losses including N₂O emissions and NO₃⁻ leaching caused multiple negative effects including eutrophication of surface waters, destroying the ecological balance and posing challenges to human health. To combat these problems soil amendment with straw and NI are used in agriculture. Microbial immobilization of N stimulated by straw and NI addition can be altered by seasonally varying temperatures, but the research is still inadequate. Moreover, it is still not clear how the variation in soil temperature and moisture will modify the effect of NI on soil N2O emissions. The divergent N2O responses to straw addition have been attributed to differences in soil physicochemical properties and fertilization practices, however, the mechanisms responsible for the effect of straw on N₂O emissions are complex and still little understood. It was aimed to address the effects of cooling-warming and freezing-thawing cycling on N transformations in agricultural soils. A mesocosm experiment simulating seasonally varying temperatures was carried out to study the effects of the addition of wheat straw, NI and temperature variation (both freezingthawing and cooling-warming) on N losses from soil as N2O and leachate with and without N fertilization. It was expected that i) NI and straw addition in combination have additive effects on mitigating N losses and NI could dampen negative effect of combined N and C addition effect on acceleration of N₂O emission; ii) The addition of straw is an effective way of preventing N losses in cooling-warming and freezing-thawing cycles; iii) freezing-thawing will induce strong N₂O and N leaching losses, but cooling-warming alone will not.

Chapter 3 Gone and forgotten: facilitative effects of intercropping combinations did not carry over to affect barley performance in a follow-up crop rotation

Summary: Intercropping can increase the yield of each crop relative to monocultures. Indeed, little is known about the facilitation effects in various intercropping systems and their role in shaping the soil legacy, which can indirectly influence the subsequent crops in the rotation

through PSF effects. It is unclear whether the crop species with enhanced yields from intercropping can produce a positive soil legacy, increasing soil nutrients and mutualistic bacteria populations and lowering pathogen levels to benefit the next crop in the rotation. To offer additional insights from cropping systems regarding the relative biomass production of various crop combinations with respect to the strength of the facilitative interactions that result in increased productivity. Select intercropping crop combinations with higher total biomass than in monocultures. It was also aimed to evaluate the PSF effect of intercropping on soil biochemical properties and barley biomass in crop rotation. We designed a field trial that comprised an intercropping phase followed by a rotation phase. Maize, faba beans and lupins were grown as monocultures or mixtures of the two as intercrops in the intercropping phase. Following the intercropping phase. It was expected that: i) Intercropping will increase yield compared to monocultures. ii) Intercropping would change soil properties and leave soil legacies that would affect the microbial properties and performance of the subsequent crop in the rotation via PSF effects.

Reference

- Abalos, D., Jeffery, S., Sanz-Cobena, A., Guardia, G. and Vallejo, A., 2014. Meta-analysis of the effect of urease and nitrification inhibitors on crop productivity and nitrogen use efficiency. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 189: 136-144.
- Barneze, A.S., Minet, E.P., Cerri, C.C. and Misselbrook, T., 2015. The effect of nitrification inhibitors on nitrous oxide emissions from cattle urine depositions to grassland under summer conditions in the UK. Chemosphere, 119: 122-129.
- Berendse, F., 1994. Litter decomposability--a neglected component of plant fitness. Journal of Ecology, 82(1): 187-190.
- Bever, J.D., 1994. Feeback between plants and their soil communities in an old field community. Ecology, 75(7): 1965-1977.
- Bever, J.D., Westover, K.M. and Antonovics, J., 1997. Incorporating the soil community into plant population dynamics: the utility of the feedback approach. Journal of Ecology: 561-573.
- Bonanomi, G., Giannino, F. and Mazzoleni, S., 2005. Negative plant-soil feedback and species coexistence. Oikos, 111(2): 311-321.
- Bonkowski, M., 2004. Protozoa and plant growth: the microbial loop in soil revisited. New Phytologist, 162(3): 617-631.
- Bukowski, A.R., Schittko, C. and Petermann, J.S., 2018. The strength of negative plant–soil feedback increases from the intraspecific to the interspecific and the functional group level. Ecology and evolution, 8(4): 2280-2289.
- Chanway, C.P., Turkington, R. and Holl, F., 1991. Ecological implications of specificity between plants and rhizosphere micro-organisms. Advances in ecological research, 21: 121-169.
- Chapman, S.K., Langley, J.A., Hart, S.C. and Koch, G.W., 2006. Plants actively control nitrogen cycling: uncorking the microbial bottleneck. New Phytologist, 169(1): 27-34.
- Chauhan, B.S., Singh, R.G. and Mahajan, G., 2012. Ecology and management of weeds under conservation agriculture: a review. Crop Protection, 38: 57-65.
- Chen, H., Li, X., Hu, F. and Shi, W., 2013. Soil nitrous oxide emissions following crop residue addition: A meta-analysis. Global Change Biology, 19(10): 2956-2964.
- Chen, H. et al., 2023. Straw amendment and nitrification inhibitor controlling N losses and immobilization in a soil cooling-warming experiment. Science of The Total Environment, 870: 162007.
- Chen, P. et al., 2019. Yield advantage and nitrogen fate in an additive maize-soybean relay intercropping system. Science of the Total Environment, 657: 987-999.
- Congreves, K.A., Vyn, R.J. and Van Eerd, L.L., 2013. Evaluation of post-harvest organic carbon amendments as a strategy to minimize nitrogen losses in cole crop production. Agronomy, 3(1): 181-199.
- Cookson, W., Cornforth, I. and Rowarth, J., 2002. Winter soil temperature (2–15 °C) effects on nitrogen transformations in clover green manure amended or unamended soils; a laboratory and field study. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 34(10): 1401-1415.
- Davidson, E.A., 2012. Representative concentration pathways and mitigation scenarios for nitrous oxide. Environmental Research Letters, 7(2): 024005.
- Di, H.J. and Cameron, K.C., 2002. Nitrate leaching in temperate agroecosystems: sources, factors and mitigating strategies. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 64(3): 237-256.
- Diacono, M. and Montemurro, F., 2011. Long-term effects of organic amendments on soil fertility, Sustainable agriculture volume 2. Springer, pp. 761-786.

- Dias, T., Dukes, A. and Antunes, P.M., 2015. Accounting for soil biotic effects on soil health and crop productivity in the design of crop rotations. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 95(3): 447-454.
- Dong, N. et al., 2018. Temporal differentiation of crop growth as one of the drivers of intercropping yield advantage. Scientific Reports, 8(1): 1-11.
- Döring, T.F., Pautasso, M., Wolfe, M.S. and Finckh, M.R., 2012. Pest and disease management in organic farming: implications and inspirations for plant breeding. Organic crop breeding: 39-59.
- Ehrenfeld, J.G., Ravit, B. and Elgersma, K., 2005. Feedback in the plant-soil system. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour, 30: 75-115.
- Federolf, C.-P., Westerschulte, M., Olfs, H.-W., Broll, G. and Trautz, D., 2016. Enhanced nutrient use efficiencies from liquid manure by positioned injection in maize cropping in northwest Germany. European Journal of Agronomy, 75: 130-138.
- Gao, D. et al., 2018. Responses of terrestrial nitrogen pools and dynamics to different patterns of freeze-thaw cycle: A meta-analysis. Global Change Biology, 24(6): 2377-2389.
- Godfray, H.C.J. et al., 2010. Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. Science, 327(5967): 812-818.
- Gong, F. et al., 2022. Effects of reducing nitrogen application and adding straw on N2O emission and soil nitrogen leaching of tomato in greenhouse. Chemosphere: 134549.
- Grayston, S.J., Wang, S., Campbell, C.D. and Edwards, A.C., 1998. Selective influence of plant species on microbial diversity in the rhizosphere. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 30(3): 369-378.
- Guntiñas, M.E., Leirós, M., Trasar-Cepeda, C. and Gil-Sotres, F., 2012. Effects of moisture and temperature on net soil nitrogen mineralization: A laboratory study. European Journal of Soil Biology, 48: 73-80.
- Gurr, G.M. et al., 2016. Multi-country evidence that crop diversification promotes ecological intensification of agriculture. Nature Plants, 2(3): 1-4.
- Hansen, E., Munkholm, L., Melander, B. and Olesen, J., 2010. Can non-inversion tillage and straw retainment reduce N leaching in cereal-based crop rotations? Soil and Tillage Research, 109(1): 1-8.
- Hansen, E., Munkholm, L., Olesen, J. and Melander, B., 2015. Nitrate leaching, yields and carbon sequestration after noninversion tillage, catch crops, and straw retention. Journal of Environmental Quality, 44(3): 868-881.
- Hatch, D. et al., 2005. Laboratory study of the effects of two nitrification inhibitors on greenhouse gas emissions from a slurry-treated arable soil: impact of diurnal temperature cycle. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 41(4): 225-232.
- Hauggaard-Nielsen, H. and Jensen, E.S., 2005. Facilitative root interactions in intercrops. Root physiology: From gene to function: 237-250.
- Hegewald, H., Wensch-Dorendorf, M., Sieling, K. and Christen, O., 2018. Impacts of break crops and crop rotations on oilseed rape productivity: A review. European journal of agronomy, 101: 63-77.
- Heywood, V.H., Fanzo, J. and Hunter, D., 2013. Overview of agricultural biodiversity and its contribution to nutrition and health. Diversifying food and diets: Using agricultural biodiversity to improve nutrition and health: 35-67.
- Hodge, A., Robinson, D. and Fitter, A., 2000. Are microorganisms more effective than plants at competing for nitrogen? Trends in Plant Science, 5(7): 304-308.
- Hu, H.-W., Chen, D. and He, J.-Z., 2015. Microbial regulation of terrestrial nitrous oxide formation: understanding the biological pathways for prediction of emission rates. FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 39(5): 729-749.

- Huang, T., Yang, H., Huang, C. and Ju, X., 2017. Effect of fertilizer N rates and straw management on yield-scaled nitrous oxide emissions in a maize-wheat double cropping system. Field Crops Research, 204: 1-11.
- Huber, D.M., Warren, H.L., Nelson, D.W. and Tsai, C.Y., 1977. Nitrification inhibitors— New tools for food production. Bioscience, 27(8): 523-529.
- Irigoyen, I., Muro, J., Azpilikueta, M., Aparicio-Tejo, P. and Lamsfus, C., 2003. Ammonium oxidation kinetics in the presence of nitrification inhibitors DCD and DMPP at various temperatures. Soil Research, 41(6): 1177-1183.
- Jingguo, W. and Bakken, L.R., 1997. Competition for nitrogen during decomposition of plant residues in soil: effect of spatial placement of N-rich and N-poor plant residues. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 29(2): 153-162.
- John, K. et al., 2020. Earthworms offset straw-induced increase of greenhouse gas emission in upland rice production. Science of The Total Environment, 710: 136352.
- Karpenstein-Machan, M. and Stuelpnagel, R., 2000. Biomass yield and nitrogen fixation of legumes monocropped and intercropped with rye and rotation effects on a subsequent maize crop. Plant and soil, 218: 215-232.
- Klironomos, J.N., 2002. Feedback with soil biota contributes to plant rarity and invasiveness in communities. Nature, 417(6884): 67-70.
- Koller, R., Robin, C., Bonkowski, M., Ruess, L. and Scheu, S., 2013a. Litter quality as driving factor for plant nutrition via grazing of protozoa on soil microorganisms. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 85(2): 241-250.
- Koller, R., Rodriguez, A., Robin, C., Scheu, S. and Bonkowski, M., 2013b. Protozoa enhance foraging efficiency of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for mineral nitrogen from organic matter in soil to the benefit of host plants. New Phytologist, 199(1): 203-211.
- Koller, R., Scheu, S., Bonkowski, M. and Robin, C., 2013c. Protozoa stimulate N uptake and growth of arbuscular mycorrhizal plants. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 65: 204-210.
- Kowalchuk, G.A., Buma, D.S., De Boer, W., Klinkhamer, P.G. and Van Veen, J.A., 2002. Effects of above-ground plant species composition and diversity on the diversity of soil-borne microorganisms. Antonie van leeuwenhoek, 81: 509-520.
- Kreyling, J., Beierkuhnlein, C., Pritsch, K., Schloter, M. and Jentsch, A., 2008. Recurrent soil freeze-thaw cycles enhance grassland productivity. New Phytologist, 177(4): 938-945.
- Kumar, A. et al., 2021. Gone and forgotten: facilitative effects of intercropping combinations did not carry over to affect barley performance in a follow-up crop rotation. Plant and Soil 467(1): 405-419.
- Kuzyakov, Y. and Xu, X., 2013. Competition between roots and microorganisms for nitrogen: mechanisms and ecological relevance. New Phytologist, 198(3): 656-669.
- Lassaletta, L. et al., 2014. Food and feed trade as a driver in the global nitrogen cycle: 50year trends. Biogeochemistry, 118(1): 225-241.
- Li, L., Konkel, J., Jin, V.L. and Schaeffer, S.M., 2021. Conservation management improves agroecosystem function and resilience of soil nitrogen cycling in response to seasonal changes in climate. Science of The Total Environment, 779: 146457.
- Li, Q. et al., 2017. Labile carbon and nitrogen additions affect soil organic matter decomposition more strongly than temperature. Applied Soil Ecology, 114: 152-160.
- Li, X. et al., 2015. Spring freeze effect on wheat yield is modulated by winter temperature fluctuations: evidence from meta-analysis and simulating experiment. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science, 201(4): 288-300.
- Li, X., Hu, F. and Shi, W., 2013. Plant material addition affects soil nitrous oxide production differently between aerobic and oxygen-limited conditions. Applied Soil Ecology, 64: 91-98.

- Li, X. et al., 2014. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from irrigated lowland rice paddies after wheat straw application and midseason aeration. Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems, 100(1): 65-76.
- Lin, S. and Hernandez-Ramirez, G., 2020. Nitrous oxide emissions from manured soils as a function of various nitrification inhibitor rates and soil moisture contents. Science of the Total Environment, 738: 139669.
- Linquist, B.A., Liu, L., van Kessel, C. and van Groenigen, K.J., 2013. Enhanced efficiency nitrogen fertilizers for rice systems: Meta-analysis of yield and nitrogen uptake. Field Crops Research, 154: 246-254.
- Liu, J. et al., 2021. Contrasting effects of straw and straw-derived biochar applications on soil carbon accumulation and nitrogen use efficiency in double-rice cropping systems. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 311: 107286.
- Liu, Y. et al., 2016. Patterns and regulating mechanisms of soil nitrogen mineralization and temperature sensitivity in Chinese terrestrial ecosystems. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 215: 40-46.
- Ma, J., Ma, E., Xu, H., Yagi, K. and Cai, Z., 2009. Wheat straw management affects CH4 and N2O emissions from rice fields. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 41(5): 1022-1028.
- Maitra, S., Palai, J.B., Manasa, P. and Kumar, D.P., 2019. Potential of intercropping system in sustaining crop productivity. International Journal of Agriculture, Environment and Biotechnology, 12(1): 39-45.
- Malhi, S. and Lemke, R., 2007. Tillage, crop residue and N fertilizer effects on crop yield, nutrient uptake, soil quality and nitrous oxide gas emissions in a second 4-yr rotation cycle. Soil Tillage Research, 96(1-2): 269-283.
- Matzner, E. and Borken, W., 2008. Do freeze-thaw events enhance C and N losses from soils of different ecosystems? A review. European Journal of Soil Science, 59(2): 274-284.
- McGeough, K., Watson, C., Müller, C., Laughlin, R. and Chadwick, D., 2016. Evidence that the efficacy of the nitrification inhibitor dicyandiamide (DCD) is affected by soil properties in UK soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 94: 222-232.
- Menéndez, S., Barrena, I., Setien, I., González-Murua, C. and Estavillo, J.M., 2012.
 Efficiency of nitrification inhibitor DMPP to reduce nitrous oxide emissions under different temperature and moisture conditions. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 53: 82-89.
- Misselbrook, T.H. et al., 2014. An assessment of nitrification inhibitors to reduce nitrous oxide emissions from UK agriculture. Environmental Research Letters, 9(11): 115006.
- Montzka, S.A., Dlugokencky, E.J. and Butler, J.H., 2011. Non-CO2 greenhouse gases and climate change. Nature, 476(7358): 43-50.
- Mushonga, K., Steyn, J.M., Swart, W.J. and van der Waals, J.E., 2020. Plant-soil feedback responses of four dryland crop species under greenhouse conditions. Plant-Environment Interactions, 1(3): 181-195.
- Nicholson, F., Chambers, B., Mills, A. and Strachan, P., 1997. Effects of repeated straw incorporation on crop fertilizer nitrogen requirements, soil mineral nitrogen and nitrate leaching losses. Soil use and management, 13(3): 136-142.
- Nixon, S.C. and Agency, E.E., 2003. Europe's water: An indicator-based assessment. European Environment Agency Copenhagen.
- Norton, J. and Ouyang, Y., 2019. Controls and adaptive management of nitrification in agricultural soils. Frontiers in Microbiology: 1931.
- Olff, H., Hoorens, B., De Goede, R., Van der Putten, W. and Gleichman, J., 2000. Smallscale shifting mosaics of two dominant grassland species: the possible role of soilborne pathogens. Oecologia, 125: 45-54.

- Panel, M., 2013. Sustainable intensification: A new paradigm for African agriculture. London: Agriculture for impact.
- Peng, S., Guo, T. and Liu, G., 2013. The effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal hyphal networks on soil aggregations of purple soil in southwest China. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 57: 411-417.
- Polley, H.W., Wilsey, B.J. and Derner, J.D., 2003. Do species evenness and plant density influence the magnitude of selection and complementarity effects in annual plant species mixtures? Ecology Letters, 6(3): 248-256.
- Prather, M.J. et al., 2015. Measuring and modeling the lifetime of nitrous oxide including its variability. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 120(11): 5693-5705.
- Roy, J., Reichel, R., Brüggemann, N., Hempel, S. and Rillig, M.C., 2017. Succession of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi along a 52-year agricultural recultivation chronosequence. FEMS Microbiology Ecology, 93(9).
- Rozmoš, M. et al., 2021. Organic nitrogen utilisation by an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus is mediated by specific soil bacteria and a protist. The ISME Journal, 16(3): 676–685.
- Ruser, R. and Schulz, R., 2015. The effect of nitrification inhibitors on the nitrous oxide (N2O) release from agricultural soils—a review. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science, 178(2): 171-188.
- Rusinamhodzi, L., Corbeels, M., Nyamangara, J. and Giller, K.E., 2012. Maize–grain legume intercropping is an attractive option for ecological intensification that reduces climatic risk for smallholder farmers in central Mozambique. Field crops research, 136: 12-22.
- Schnitzer, S.A. et al., 2011. Soil microbes drive the classic plant diversity–productivity pattern. Ecology, 92(2): 296-303.
- Shan, J. and Yan, X., 2013. Effects of crop residue returning on nitrous oxide emissions in agricultural soils. Atmospheric Environment, 71: 170-175.
- Sieling, K. and Kage, H., 2006. N balance as an indicator of N leaching in an oilseed rapewinter wheat-winter barley rotation. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 115(1-4): 261-269.
- Siman, F.C., Andrade, F.V. and Passos, R.R., 2020. Nitrogen fertilizers and NH3 volatilization: Effect of temperature and soil moisture. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis, 51(10): 1283-1292.
- Smith, K., Thomson, P., Clayton, H., McTaggart, I. and Conen, F., 1998. Effects of temperature, water content and nitrogen fertilisation on emissions of nitrous oxide by soils. Atmospheric Environment, 32(19): 3301-3309.
- Subbarao, G.V. et al., 2006. Scope and strategies for regulation of nitrification in agricultural systems—challenges and opportunities. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences, 25(4): 303-335.
- Sutton, M.A. et al., 2011. Too much of a good thing. Nature, 472(7342): 159-161.
- Tan, Q., Jia, Y. and Wang, G., 2021. Decoupling of soil nitrogen and phosphorus dynamics along a temperature gradient on the Qinghai-Tibetan Plateau. Geoderma, 396: 115084.
- Thapa, R., Chatterjee, A., Awale, R., McGranahan, D.A. and Daigh, A., 2016. Effect of enhanced efficiency fertilizers on nitrous oxide emissions and crop yields: A metaanalysis. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 80(5): 1121-1134.
- Thrall, P.H., Bever, J.D., Mihail, J. and Alexander, H.M., 1997. The population dynamics of annual plants and soil-borne fungal pathogens. Journal of ecology: 313-328.
- Tian, H. et al., 2020. A comprehensive quantification of global nitrous oxide sources and sinks. Nature, 586(7828): 248-256.
- Trenbath, B., 1993. Intercropping for the management of pests and diseases. Field crops research, 34(3-4): 381-405.

- Van der Putten, W.H., 2003. Plant defense belowground and spatiotemporal processes in natural vegetation. Ecology, 84(9): 2269-2280.
- Van der Putten, W.H. and Peters, B.A., 1997. How soil-borne pathogens may affect plant competition. Ecology, 78(6): 1785-1795.
- van Duijnen, R., Roy, J., Härdtle, W. and Temperton, V.M., 2018. Precrop functional group identity affects yield of winter barley but less so high carbon amendments in a mesocosm experiment. Frontiers in Plant Science, 9: 912.
- Wagner-Riddle, C. et al., 2017. Globally important nitrous oxide emissions from croplands induced by freeze-thaw cycles. Nature Geoscience, 10(4): 279-283.
- Wardle, D.A. et al., 1999. Plant removals in perennial grassland: vegetation dynamics, decomposers, soil biodiversity, and ecosystem properties. Ecological monographs, 69(4): 535-568.
- Whitmore, A. and Schröder, J., 2007. Intercropping reduces nitrate leaching from under field crops without loss of yield: a modelling study. European Journal of Agronomy, 27(1): 81-88.
- Wu, D. et al., 2017. Nitrification inhibitors mitigate N2O emissions more effectively under straw-induced conditions favoring denitrification. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 104: 197-207.
- Wu, L. et al., 2020. Nitrous oxide emissions in response to straw incorporation is regulated by historical fertilization. Environmental Pollution, 266: 115292.
- Xia, L. et al., 2018. Trade-offs between soil carbon sequestration and reactive nitrogen losses under straw return in global agroecosystems. Global Change Biology, 24(12): 5919-5932.
- Yang, B. et al., 2015a. Mitigating net global warming potential and greenhouse gas intensities by substituting chemical nitrogen fertilizers with organic fertilization strategies in rice-wheat annual rotation systems in China: A 3-year field experiment. Ecological Engineering, 81: 289-297.
- Yang, H. et al., 2015b. Soil nitrogen retention is increased by ditch-buried straw return in a rice-wheat rotation system. European Journal of Agronomy, 69: 52-58.
- Yang, S., Wang, Y., Liu, R., Xing, L. and Yang, Z., 2018a. Improved crop yield and reduced nitrate nitrogen leaching with straw return in a rice-wheat rotation of Ningxia irrigation district. Scientific Reports, 8(1): 1-8.
- Yang, Y., Yu, K. and Feng, H., 2018b. Effects of straw mulching and plastic film mulching on improving soil organic carbon and nitrogen fractions, crop yield and water use efficiency in the Loess Plateau, China. Agricultural Water Management, 201: 133-143.
- Yao, Z. et al., 2017. Straw return reduces yield-scaled N2O plus NO emissions from annual winter wheat-based cropping systems in the North China Plain. Science of the Total Environment, 590: 174-185.
- Yu, Y., Zhao, C., Zheng, N., Jia, H. and Yao, H., 2019. Interactive effects of soil texture and salinity on nitrous oxide emissions following crop residue amendment. Geoderma, 337: 1146-1154.
- Zaman, M., Nguyen, M., Blennerhassett, J., Quin, B.J.B. and soils, f.o., 2008. Reducing NH3, N2O and NO3--N losses from a pasture soil with urease or nitrification inhibitors and elemental S-amended nitrogenous fertilizers. Biology and fertility of soils, 44(5): 693-705.
- Zaman, M. et al., 2013. Effects of urease and nitrification inhibitors on the efficient use of urea for pastoral systems. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition, 59(4): 649-659.
- Zerulla, W. et al., 2001. 3, 4-Dimethylpyrazole phosphate (DMPP)–a new nitrification inhibitor for agriculture and horticulture. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 34(2): 79-84.

- Zhang, J. et al., 2019. Substituting organic manure for compound fertilizer increases yield and decreases NH3 and N2O emissions in an intensive vegetable production systems. Science of the Total Environment, 670: 1184-1189.
- Zhang, W.P. et al., 2017. Temporal dynamics of nutrient uptake by neighbouring plant species: evidence from intercropping. Functional Ecology, 31(2): 469-479.
- Zhao, J. et al., 2020. Does crop rotation yield more in China? A meta-analysis. Field Crops Research, 245: 107659.
- Zheng, J., Qu, Y., Kilasara, M.M., Mmari, W.N. and Funakawa, S., 2019. Nitrate leaching from the critical root zone of maize in two tropical highlands of Tanzania: Effects of fertilizer-nitrogen rate and straw incorporation. Soil and Tillage Research, 194: 104295.
- Zougmore, R., Kambou, F., Ouattara, K. and Guillobez, S., 2000. Sorghum-cowpea intercropping: an effective technique against runoff and soil erosion in the Sahel (Saria, Burkina Faso). Arid Soil Research and Rehabilitation, 14(4): 329-342.

Chapter 1

Chapter 1 Straw amendment and nitrification inhibitor controlling N losses and immobilization in a soil cooling-warming experiment

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect





Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Straw amendment and nitrification inhibitor controlling N losses and immobilization in a soil cooling-warming experiment



Hao Chen^a, Christoph Rosinger^{b,c}, Sergey Blagodatsky^{a,*}, Rüdiger Reichel^d, Bo Li^e, Amit Kumar^{f,i}, Steffen Rothardt^g, Jie Luo^h, Nicolas Brüggemann^d, Henning Kage^g, Michael Bonkowski^a

^a University of Cologne, Institute of Zoology, Department of Biology, Germany

^b Institute of Soil Research, Department of Forest and Soil Sciences, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Peter Jordan Straße 82, 1190 Vienna, Austria

^c Institute of Agronomy, Department of Crop Sciences, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Konrad Lorenz-Straße 24, 3430 Tulln an der Donau, Austria

^d Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH, Institute of Bio-and Geosciences, Agrosphere (IBG-3), Jülich, Germany

College of Natural Resources and Environment, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou, Guangdong 510642, PR China

^f Institute of Ecology, Leuphana University Lüneburg, Universitätsallee 1, 21335 Lüneburg, Germany

Agronomy and Crop Science, Institute of Crop Science and Plant Breeding, Christian-Albrechts-University, Kiel, Germany

h State Key Laboratory of Vegetation and Environmental Change, Institute of Botany, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China ¹ Department of Biology, College of Science, United Arab Emirates University, 15551 Al Ain, UAE

HIGHLIGHTS

inhibitor

tion.

emission.

· N losses from agriculture can be mitigated by combination of straw and nitrification

Effect of straw and nitrification inhibitor

Winter soil cooling-warming increased

ammonification and suppressed nitrifica-

Straw application decreased the N leaching from soil, but increased N2O

Straw amendment amplified N competition between soil microorganisms and

plants during the early growing phase.

application was not additive.

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT



ARTICLE INFO

Editor: Wei Shi

Keywords: N immobilization Nitrification Soil microbial biomass Temperature effect ¹⁵N labelling Nitrogen use efficiency ABSTRACT

It is common practice in agriculture to apply high-carbon amendments, e.g. straw, or nitrification inhibitors (NI) to reduce soil nitrogen (N) losses. However, little is known on the combined effects of straw and NI and how seasonal soil temperature variations further affect N immobilization. We conducted a 113-day mesocosm experiment with different levels of 15 N-fertilizer application (N0: control; N1: 125 kg N ha⁻¹; N2: 250 kg N ha⁻¹) in an agricultural soil, amended with either wheat straw, NI or a combination of both in order to investigate N retention and loss from soil after a cooling-warming phase simulating a seasonal temperature shift, i.e., 30 days cooling phase at 7 °C and 10 days warming phase at 21 °C. Subsequently, soils were planted with barley as phytometers to study ¹⁵Ntransfer to a following crop.

Straw addition significantly reduced soil N-losses due to microbial N immobilization. Although carbon added as straw led to increased N₂O emissions at high N fertilization, this was partly counterbalanced by NI. Soil cooling-warming strongly increased ammonification (+77 %), while nitrification was suppressed, and straw-induced microbial N

* Corresponding author. E-mail address: sblagoda@uni-koeln.de (S. Blagodatsky).

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.162007 Received 12 December 2022; Received in revised form 25 January 2023; Accepted 30 January 2023 Available online 2 February 2023 0048-9697/© 2023 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

immobilization dominated. N immobilized after straw addition was mineralized at the end of the experiment as indicated by structural equation models. Re-mineralization in N2 was sufficient, but still suboptimal in N0 and N1 at critical times of early barley growth. N-use efficiency of the ¹⁵N tracer decreased with fertilization intensity from 50 % in N1 to 35 % in N2, and straw amendment reduced NUE to 25 % at both fertilization rates. Straw amendment was most powerful in reducing N-losses (-41 %), in particular under variable soil temperature conditions, but NI enforced its effects by reducing N₂O emission (-40 %) in N2 treatment. Sufficient N-fertilization coupled with straw application is required to adjust the timely re-mineralization of N for subsequent crops.

1. Introduction

N application to agricultural land has increased steeply in recent decades and is expected to further increase in order to meet the growing food demand (Shahzad et al., 2019). Yet, only 30-50 % of applied N fertilizer is taken up by crops, with the remainder being either emitted into the atmosphere as nitrous oxide (N₂O) or leached into aquatic systems (Chen et al., 2020). Excess N in agriculture translates into economic losses for farmers, as the N has to be replenished, but it also entails significant costs for the general public. The European Union estimates the costs of pollution by excess N at 70–320 billion Euro per year, more than twice the value that N fertilizer use adds to European farm income (Sutton et al., 2011). Thus, retaining more N in soil and its targeted supply to crops is one of the most important challenges for sustainable agricultural management.

Substantial amounts of N are lost between cultivation phases, where longer periods of variable soil moisture and temperature with periods of warming, cooling, freezing and thawing release soil N before it can benefit the next crop generation (Cookson et al., 2002; Sieling and Kage, 2006). Seasonal temperature fluctuations are identified as main drivers of N transformation processes in soil (Hong et al., 2019; Li et al., 2021), and there is detailed knowledge on long-term N transformation after soil incubation at different temperatures (Dai et al., 2020; Hu et al., 2020), or after shortterm stresses like soil freezing-thawing cycles (Li et al., 2019; Monteux et al., 2020; Rosinger and Bonkowski, 2021; Rosinger et al., 2022). However, experiments addressing the effects of seasonal temperature fluctuations on N transformations in agricultural soils are scarce (Sieling and Kage, 2006).

Nitrification, i.e., the microbial conversion of ammonium (NH₄⁺) to nitrate (NO_3^-) in soil is a major source of seasonal N losses in agriculture (Norton and Ouyang, 2019). Farmers strive to directly control soil nitrification rates by applying synthetic nitrification inhibitors (NI) to inactivate the microbial enzymatic conversion of NH₄⁺ to NO₃⁻ (Lin and Hernandez-Ramirez, 2020; Zerulla et al., 2001). However, the persistence of NI strongly depends on soil temperature, moisture, and fertilization rate, which may restrict their effectiveness (Norton and Ouyang, 2019; Thapa et al., 2016). An indirect measure to prevent soil N losses in agriculture is the use of high organic C amendments (HCA) (Reichel et al., 2018). The incorporation of crop straw as HCA is one of the oldest, most feasible and economic practices worldwide to reduce soil N losses by improving the internal cycling of N (Diacono and Montemurro, 2011; Norton and Ouyang, 2019; Xia et al., 2018). As microbial growth in agricultural soil is strongly limited by the availability of C, the incorporation of HCA, such as straw with its wide C:N ratio, stimulates the microbial uptake of N for stoichiometric reasons (He et al., 2015). Farmers may apply the straw of pre-crops before sowing the next-generation crop in order to immobilize excess mineral N (N_{min}) in soil and microbial biomass (van Duijnen et al., 2018). Although microorganisms are very effective short-term competitors for N, plants may win in the longer term (Hodge et al., 2000; Kuzyakov and Xu, 2013; Sieling and Kage, 2006) due to the constant remobilization of microbial biomass N in the rhizosphere by the microbial loop and subsequent root or mycorrhizal uptake (Bonkowski, 2004; Koller et al., 2013a, 2013b; Rozmoš et al., 2022). However, intensive agricultural management may impede these processes (Roy et al., 2017). Significant parts of N may remain sequestered in soil microbial biomass and cause N shortage of crops if N is not released in time (Jingguo and Bakke, 1997), and even higher N fertilization may be needed to sustain optimal growth of the next crop generation. However, studies on the long-term effects of straw incorporation and its effects on the performance of subsequent crops are quite rare (Congreves et al., 2013). More precise management of the timing of N immobilization and mobilization by straw amendments could make a significant contribution to global efforts to reduce agricultural N losses and mitigate greenhouse gas emissions. At present, it is even unclear if direct (e.g., application of NIs) and indirect (e.g., application of straw) means can be reasonably combined to prevent N losses from soils.

Therefore, we designed a mesocosm experiment to simulate N dynamics between crop cultivation phases in soil using treatments with wheat straw incorporation in combination with the NI Piadin® at three different N fertilization rates. Variable incubation temperature represented winter and spring soil temperature changes under field conditions (Fig. 1). We quantified soil N_{min} and microbial biomass dynamics as well as N losses from soil as N₂O and leachate and the subsequent uptake of the remaining N into barley as next-generation crop. We hypothesized that i) a combination of NI and straw addition will be most effective due to additive effects on barley N uptake; ii) straw addition will be an effective means to reduce N losses over seasonal temperature fluctuations; iii) but soil cooling-warming periods stimulate mineralization of sequestered microbial N into soil to supply nutrients to subsequent crops.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Experimental set up

Agricultural soil was sampled at the Experimental Farm "Hohenschulen" (University of Kiel, Germany, 54°18′N, 9°58′E). The soil was classified as Luvisol with 58 % sand, 29 % silt, 13 % clay content and pH 6.5, containing 1.07 % organic C, 0.11 % total N (Ni et al., 2018).

Mesocosms (pots with 22 cm height, 24 cm diameter, 10 L volume) were filled with 8 kg dry weight of sieved (1 cm mesh size) and well homogenized soil at a bulk density of 1.2 g cm^{-3} in the pot. A hole of 1 cm diameter at the bottom of the mesocosms, covered with a 1 mm gauze to prevent soil from falling out, served for collecting leachate.

One week before the experiment started, wheat straw (41.8 % C, 0.84 %N), cut into 1-2 cm pieces, had been mixed into the soil of half of the mesocosms, giving 2.4 g C kg⁻¹ soil (eq. 14.4 t ha⁻¹ wheat straw amendment, which is closed to the upper limit of conventional straw amendment in agriculture, see e.g., Liu et al., 2014). The experiment started after adding 2.09 atom % ¹⁵N-enriched N-fertilizer ((¹⁵NH₄)₂SO₄, VWR, Germany) at three rates: N0, no fertilizer added; N1, 36.5 mg N kg⁻¹ soil (eq. to 125 kg N ha⁻¹); N2, 73 mg N kg⁻¹ soil (eq. to 250 kg N ha⁻¹), and application of nitrification inhibitor (NI) at 2.04 $\mu l \ kg^{-1}$ soil (eq. to 7 l ha^{-1}) to half of the mesocosms. The NI application was repeated on day 62 with a rate of 1.75 μ l kg⁻¹ soil (eq. to 6 l ha⁻¹, the start of the warming phase, see below), the application rate was selected according to manufacturer recommendation (https://www.piadin.de/en/#yield). As nitrification inhibitor served a commercial formulation (PIADIN®, SKW, Piesteritz, Germany), which contains approximately 3.1 % and 1.6 % of the two active pyrazole derivates 1H-1,2,4-triazole and 3-methylpyrazole, respectively (Barneze et al., 2015). The effect of PIADIN® starts immediately after fertilization, and the conversion of ammonium to nitrate is said to be delayed by six to ten weeks (https://www.piadin.de/en/#home). Soil water content was adjusted to 50 % WHC (equalling a gravimetric water content of



Fig. 1. Time plan of the experiment.

19 %) on the day of fertilizer application and monitored by regularly weighing the mesocosms (every two to three days during all phases).

Overall, the experimental treatments included three rates of N fertilizer (N0, N1 and N2), without (S0) and with (S1) wheat straw as a high-C amendment, and with and without a nitrification inhibitor (NI) to reduce post-harvest N-losses in a full factorial design. Each treatment had 7 replications totalling to 84 mesocosms (full description of treatments coding is found in Table S1).

The experiment was separated into three phases from June 2020 to September 2020 (Fig. 1): i) a conditioning phase from day 0 to day 28 simulating the summer and autumn season, during which mesocosms were incubated at stable daily average temperatures of around 19 ± 5 °C in a greenhouse, ii) a cooling-warming phase from day 29 to day 71, simulating mild winter soil temperatures of 7 °C over one month from day 29 till day 60 in a climate chamber, followed by a temperature rise to 21 \pm 5 °C from days 61 to 71 simulating the typical temperatures in the spring and following summer, and finally iii) a growing phase (day 72 to 98), where each mesocosm was sown with 50 seeds (eq. to 940 seeds m⁻²) of winter barley on day 72 and incubated at 27 °C in a temperature-controlled greenhouse until harvested at day 98. Winter barley served as phytometer to calculate the efficiency of ¹⁵N-fertilizer transfer to the next crop generation.

2.2. Analytical measurements

Soil samples were taken on day 28 at the end of the conditioning phase, on day 65 at the end of the cooling-warming phase, and on day 104 at the end of the growing phase. Around 30 g soil was sampled from three locations in each mesocosm with a soil corer of 2 cm diameter to a depth of 10 cm.

Soil NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ contents, and microbial biomass N and C were determined in all three phases. Soil enzyme activity and pH were measured at the end of the growing phase. For measurements of NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ contents, 5 g fresh soil was extracted with 20 ml 0.01 M CaCl₂. After horizontal shaking for 30 min, subsequent centrifugation (5 min, 4500 rpm) and filtration through a Whatman 595 filter paper, NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ concentrations were immediately determined using ELIT 8051 and ELIT 8021 ionselective electrodes, respectively (Nico 2000 Ltd., UK). Soil N_{min} was calculated as the sum of NH₄⁺ - and NO₃⁻ -N. Soil pH was determined in 0.01 M CaCl₂ at a ratio of 1:5 (*w*/*v*) (multi 340i pH meter, WTW GmbH, Weilheim, Germany) according to the ISO 10390 method (ISO, 2005).

Microbial biomass carbon (MB-C) and nitrogen (MB-N) were measured using the chloroform fumigation-extraction method (Vance et al., 1987). In brief, the soil sample was split into two parts of 4 g fresh weight each, one part was fumigated with ethanol-free chloroform in a desiccator for 24 h. Then, both fumigated and unfumigated soil samples were extracted with 16 ml of $0.5 \text{ M K}_2\text{SO}_4$. Extractable C and N were measured with a TOC/TN analyser (Multi N/C 2100S, Analytik Jena, Germany). MB-C and MB-N were calculated in fumigated samples subtracting the extractable C and N in the unfumigated samples with conversion factors of 0.45 and 0.54 for MB-C and MB-N, respectively (Joergensen and Mueller, 1996).

Potential extracellular activities of leucine aminopeptidase (LAP) and *N*-acetyl-glucosaminidase (NAG) were measured after the growth of barley (day 104) by applying standard fluorimetric techniques at 365 nm using a multiplate reader (Varioskan™, Thermo Fisher Scientific GmbH, Germany) with the substrate-conjugated fluorescent compounds, L-leucine-7-amino-4-methylcoumarin (AMC) and 4-methylumbelliferone (MUB) according to Marx et al. (2001) and German et al. (2011).

After barley growing, dry weight of shoots was determined (48 h, 60 °C) and total N content of milled shoot material was determined with a CN element analyser (Flash 2000, Thermo Fisher Scientific GmbH, Germany). Samples for ¹⁵N analysis were sent to the Stable Isotope Facility, University of California, Davis (https://stableisotopefacility.ucdavis.edu/) for analysis.

The N fertilizer use efficiency (NUE) of barley shoots was calculated according to eq. (1) (Cabrera and Kissel, 1989).

NUE (%) =
$$\frac{p \times (c-b)}{f \times (a-b)} \times 100.$$

where p = moles of N of plant material, f = moles of N of fertilizer, $c = a tom \% {}^{15}N$ abundance of plants, $b = a tom \% {}^{15}N$ of plants in unfertilized soil, $a = a tom \% {}^{15}N$ of fertilizer.

 N_2O fluxes were measured weekly and biweekly using the closed chamber method (Dobbie et al., 1999). Gas samples were taken four times over one week (i.e. 4 technical replicates) after the application of fertilizer and NI, as well as throughout the warming phase. Opaque PVC gas sampling chambers of 20 cm \times 55 cm (diameter \times height) were used to enclose the whole plants for gas sampling. The chambers were inserted into 5 cm soil depth to ensure gas-tightness. Sampling time was always between 11 am and 1 pm throughout the observation period. For each gas sampling, 20 ml of headspace gas samples were collected 30, 60 and 90 min after the chambers were inserted into the soil. As control, five ambient air samples were collected, and their average N_2O concentrations served as baseline N_2O measurements. N_2O were measured with a gas chromatograph, equipped with an electron capture detector and a flame ionization detector (GC-ECD/FID, Clarus 580, PerkinElmer, Rodgau, Germany) (Reichel et al., 2018).

To obtain leachate, mesocosms were watered with 600 ml water on day 62, the second day of the warming phase. The volumes of leachate were recorded and concentrations of NO_3^- and NH_4^+ were measured with ionsensitive electrodes as described above.

2.3. Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed in R 3.6.3 (R Core Team, 2020), and graphs were prepared with Origin Pro 8.1 (Origin Lab, Northampton, MA, USA). Data was analysed by 3-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) to test for the effects of N fertilizer, straw and NI. Comparisons between means were performed at p < 0.05 by a Tukey test.

Structural equation models (SEM) were calculated using the 'lavaan' package in R (Rosseel, 2012) in order to investigate potential microbial mobilization of N_{min} by enzyme activity and fluxes into barley and microbial biomass at the end of the experiment. The best fitting model was selected by step-wise removal of non-significant paths. The data were square root-transformed before SEM analysis, considering non-dimensional expressions. The standardized total effects of each variable on shoot N were calculated by summing up all direct and indirect effects. PCA was used to extract a major principal component (PC1, explaining 87 % of total variation) for SEM analysis from soil MB-C and MB-N (Fig. 2) as a representative parameter describing soil microbial biomass dynamics. The criteria for evaluation of the SEM fit, such as the Chi-square/degree values (CHI/DF), goodness-of-

fit index (GFI) and standardized root mean squared residual (SRMR) were adopted according to Shen et al. (2021).

3. Results

3.1. N-mineralization and soil microbial biomass after wheat straw amendment

Straw addition led to a 63 % increase of MB-C (F_[1,67] = 28.1, p < 0.001), but MB-N increased by 144 % (F_[1,58] = 39.6, p < 0.001, Fig. 2A, D). The disproportionate N-uptake in microbial biomass led to an overall strongly reduced MB-C:N ratio. The incorporation of N into MB-N was also influenced by N-fertilization rate and NI (significant N × NI interaction, F_[2,58] = 3.6, p = 0.033), but to a lesser extent. On average, NI slightly decreased MB-N in N0 and N1 by 12 and 16 %, respectively, but slightly increased MB-N (+16 %) in N2.

Accordingly, the resulting MB-C:N ratio was influenced by straw in concert with N-fertilization rate and NI (significant N × S × NI interaction, $F_{12,561} = 6.3$, p < 0.003). Straw always reduced MB-C:N to low values of 5–6, while in absence of straw the MB-C:N ratio was 10, 9 and 10 in N0, N1 and N2 levels, respectively (Fig. 2G).

Despite the increase of soil N_{min} by N fertilization from an average of 26 mg N kg⁻¹ in N0 to 30 and 44 mg N kg⁻¹ in N1 and N2, respectively ($F_{[2,67]} = 17, p < 0.001$), addition of straw always decreased N_{min} by half of the -straw treatments ($F_{[1,67]} = 12.1, p < 0.001$; Table S2). Soil NO₃⁻ contributed by far the most (67–92 %) to N_{min} content, and straw showed its greatest effects on reducing NO₃⁻ (38.7 and 16.9 mg N kg⁻¹ in -straw vs. +straw, respectively), while the proportion of NH₄⁺ increased in



Fig. 2. Soil microbial biomass C (MB-C), N (MB-N) and their ratio (MB-C:N) under different treatments in the conditioning, the cooling-warming and the growing phase. The treatments N0, N1 and N2 refer to the N fertilization rates of 0, 125 and 250 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively; S and NI refer to application of straw and nitrification inhibitor, respectively. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n = 7). Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences between treatments at the p < 0.05 level. Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by 3-way ANOVA are given on the top, with *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001.

+ straw treatments (+ 24 %, $F_{[2,66]} = 7.8$, p < 0.01). In comparison, the influence of NI on soil NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ levels was rather small in the conditioning phase and affected only the N2 fertilization rate (N × NI interaction, Table S2).

3.2. N-mineralization during the cooling-warming phase

The amount of NH₄⁺ had increased on average by 77 % after coolingwarming (Fig. 3, Table S2), with an increase by 57 and 94 % without and with NI addition, respectively. In the absence of NI, the relative increase of soil NH₄⁺ levels due to cooling-warming was reduced at higher N fertilizer rates (with 83 %, 48 % and 44 % increases of NH₄⁺ in N0, N1 and N2, respectively), but this was not the case in the presence of NI. NI application strongly enhanced the total amount of NH₄⁺ in N1 and N2 fertilization treatments, but not in N0 (N × NI, F_[2,67] = 24.9, *p* < 0.001), while straw strongly reduced the positive effect of NI on the availability of NH₄⁺ during the cooling-warming phase (significant N × S × NI interaction, F_[2,67] = 11.3, *p* < 0.001).

The positive effect NI on NH_4^+ and NO_3^- content was restricted to treatments with high fertilization (N2) without straw (significant N × S × NI interaction; Table S2). Accordingly, soil NO_3^- content was strongly enhanced during cooling-warming phase in N2 fertilization treatments and further increased with NI addition (38 % vs. 112 % increase in N2 and N2-NI, respectively) compared to conditioning phase. Moreover, the increase of NO_3^- was higher in absence of straw, NO_3^- content increased in N2 by 47 % and 133 % without and with NI, respectively.

3.3. N-mineralization and uptake during successive crop growth

During growing phase, MB-N was increased in + straw treatments on average by 78 % (F_[1,62] = 14.7, p < 0.001) as compared to non-strawamended soils, indicating that still significant amounts of N were locked up in microbial biomass. MB-C and MB-N remained approximately at constant levels in treatments without straw, while straw caused a doubling of MB-C and MB-N in N0. However, this effect decreased with increasing Nfertilization until MB-C and MB-N in N2 with straw was equal to N2 without straw (Fig. 2C, F). Effects of NI on MB-C were low and variable between treatments during growing phase (N × S × NI, F_[2,61] = 4.7, p < 0.05).

As expected, soil N_{min} contents of growing phase were strongly reduced, owing primarily to N uptake by plants (Fig. 3, Table S2). Compared to N0 and N1, the high N2 fertilization rate led 2-fold and 1.7-fold higher residual soil N_{min}, respectively (F_[2,67] = 13.2, p < 0.001), matching the high soil NO₃⁻ contents in N2 (F_[2,68] = 15.0, p < 0.001). Straw in contrast increased the availability of NH₄⁺ during barley growth, but the effect was strongly dependent on N-fertilization rates. Straw led to increased soil NH₄⁺ contents only in N0 (2-fold) and N1 (1.7-fold) treatments as compared to the average of all the other treatments (N × S interaction; F_[2,68] = 20.2, p < 0.001).



Fig. 3. Soil NH_4^+ , NO_3^- and mineral N contents under different treatments in the conditioning, the cooling-warming and the growing phase. The treatments N0, N1 and N2 refer to the N fertilization rates of 0, 125 and 250 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively; S0 and S1 refer to the treatments without or with straw application, S0-NI and S1-NI refer to the treatments with nitrification inhibitor application. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n = 7). Black solid arrows indicate the time of fertilization and first NI application, black dashed arrows indicate the time of second NI application, while green arrows indicate the time for sowing the seeds. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

Due to the restricted size of the mesocosms, the barley plants had to be harvested premature, well before the plants started to sprout. Shoot biomass of barley correlated well with shoot N uptake ($R^2 = 0.83$, p < 0.001), indicating that crop growth was mainly limited by the availability of N. Accordingly, treatment effects on shoot biomass were similar to the treatment effects on shoot N content. Compared to unfertilized control soils (N0), N-fertilization led to higher shoot biomass and N-uptake at both N1 and N2 fertilizer levels. However, while straw reduced shoot biomass by 23–34 % and shoot N by 28–46 % in N0 and N1 treatments, growth of barley at N2 fertilization rates was not negatively affected by straw (N × S, $F_{12,661} = 4.1$, p < 0.05, Fig. 4A, C).

¹⁵N-labelling of fertilizer allowed for calculation of plant-uptake efficiency of applied N as affected by straw and NI. Despite the higher total uptake of fertilizer N by barley in N2, barley NUE was significantly higher in N1 (50%) than in N2 (35%), and straw reduced NUE to 25 % at both N1 and N2 fertilization rates (N × S, $F_{1,481} = 47.1, p < 0.001$).

3.4. N lost from soil

Final total N losses, comprising N₂O-N emissions and leachate N, were 0.17–2.56 mg N kg⁻¹ soil (Fig. 5), which is much less than the soil N_{min} content (12–33 mg N kg⁻¹ soil) and barley shoot N (17–48 mg N kg⁻¹ soil). Despite a significantly higher release of N₂O with straw at high N-fertilization (N2), overall N losses were reduced by 41 % in + straw compared to -straw treatments ($F_{[1,36]} = 22.4$, p < 0.001), because N leaching losses were 43–91 % lower. While straw increased N₂O losses in N2 rates,

therefore the effects of straw on total N losses differed between N rates (N × S, $F_{[1,36]} = 4.9$, p < 0.05). NI led to a significant (-40%) reduction of N₂O losses at high N application (N2) and this effect was independent of straw application (Fig. 5, p < 0.001).

3.5. Soil enzyme activity

The N-acquiring enzyme activities were influenced by straw and N fertilization, but the effects differed between enzymes (Fig. 6). Straw led to increased LAP activities of 58–88 %, while N fertilization decreased LAP activity. In the presence of straw, LAP decreased by 30 % in N2 as compared to N1, and by 20 % in N1 as compared to N0. Without straw, LAP decreased in N2 by 50 % as compared to N0 (Fig. 6A, p < 0.001). NAG activity was increased by 113 %, 151 % and 161 % with straw in N0, N1 and N2 treatments, respectively (Fig. 6B, p < 0.001).

3.6. Structural equation model

The SEM explained 70 % of variation of total shoot N uptake (Fig. 7A). It showed that after the cooling-warming phase a significant part of the soil NH₄⁺ had been converted to NO₃⁻ ($\lambda = 0.45$, p < 0.001). Soil NO₃⁻ measured after the cooling-warming phase showed a strong positive correlation with shoot N uptake ($\lambda = 0.51$, p < 0.001), indicating that NO₃⁻ was the major N source for plant nutrition. Shoot N uptake in contrast showed a negative correlation to soil NH₄⁺ ($\lambda = -0.19$, p < 0.01) after the cooling-warming phase. Also, the NO₃⁻ contents in the growing phase were



Fig. 4. Barley shoot N content (A), NUE (B) and shoot biomass (C) under different treatments. The treatments N0, N1 and N2 refer to the N fertilization rates of 0, 125 and 250 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively; S and NI refer to application of straw and nitrification inhibitor, respectively. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n = 7). Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences between treatments at the *p* < 0.05 level. Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by 3-way ANOVA are given on the top, with *, *p* < 0.05; **, *p* < 0.01; and ***, *p* < 0.001.



Fig. 5. N losses from soil as N₂O and leachate under different treatments of the whole experiment phases. The treatments N0, N1 and N2 refer to the N fertilization rates of 0, 125 and 250 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively; S refers to straw application; N0-NI, N1-NI and N2-NI refer to the treatments with nitrification inhibitor application. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n = 4). Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences between treatments within - straw and + straw treatments at the p < 0.05 level, while different capital letters indicate significant differences between treatments grouped by straw at the p < 0.05 level. Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by 3-way ANOVA are given on the top, with *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001.

positively correlated to NO₃⁻ levels measured after the cooling-warming phase ($\lambda = 0.47, p < 0.001$), but correlated much less with shoot N uptake ($\lambda = 0.16, p < 0.05$). After the cooling-warming phase soil microbial biomass and soil NO₃⁻ contents showed a strongly negative correlation ($\lambda = -0.61, p < 0.001$), while soil NH₄⁺ contents of growing phase were positively correlated with microbial biomass ($\lambda = 0.21, p < 0.05$), indicating ongoing mineralization. Measurements at the end of the experiment indicate that soil microbial biomass had stimulated the activity of the N-mining enzyme LAP ($\lambda = 0.42, p < 0.001$), but less at high soil NO₃⁻ contents after the cooling-warming phase ($\lambda = -0.58, p < 0.001$). A strongly positive correlation of LAP activity and NH₄⁺ ($\lambda = 0.68, p < 0.001$) indicates that the enzyme released NH₄⁺ from organic material. The positive correlation between NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ remaining during the growing phase

($\lambda = 0.28, p < 0.001$) indicates that ammonium, being a substrate for nitrification, still was in excess to fuel this process. The standardized total effects of the SEM (Fig. 7B) show that NO₃⁻⁻ was the most influential N stock for plant uptake after the cooling-warming phase, and confirm negative relationships between barley N uptake and microbial biomass, LAP and NH₄⁺⁻ after the growing phase.

4. Discussion

We investigated the combined effects of straw and a nitrification inhibitor (PIADIN®) to prevent N mobilization in agricultural soil during a nonvegetated phase over variable temperatures and its mobilization and plant uptake into a simulated next barley crop generation. One month



Fig. 6. Enzyme activities of leucine aminopeptidase (LAP) and *N*-acetyl-glucosaminidase (NAG) under different treatments after the growing phase. The treatments N0, N1 and N2 refer to the N fertilization rates of 0, 125 and 250 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively; S and NI refer to application of straw and nitrification inhibitor, respectively. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n = 7). Different lowercase letters indicate significant differences between treatments at the p < 0.05 level. Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by 3-way ANOVA are given on the top, with *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001.



Fig. 7. Structural equation model explaining the multivariate effects on barley shoot N uptake (A) and the total effects of controlling variables on the barley shoot N uptake (B). The numbers adjacent to arrows are standardized path coefficients, which reflect the effect size of the relationship. Arrow width is proportional to the strength of path coefficients, the blue and red arrows indicate positive and negative relationships, respectively; the continuous and dash arrows indicate significant and non-significant relationships, respectively. The proportion of variance explained (\mathbb{R}^2) appears alongside each response variable. Significant levels are as follows: *, *p* < 0.05; **, *p* < 0.01; and ***, *p* < 0.001. Goodness-of-fit statistics are shown underneath the modeling frames. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

conditioning at 25 °C had led to the conversion of most (86–93 %) of the fertilizer- NH_4^+ to NO_3^- (Fig. 3), irrespective of the fertilizer application rates (N1 or N2), showing that the direct suppression of nitrification by NI was short-lived (Barneze et al., 2015; Federolf et al., 2016). The effectiveness of most NI products rapidly decreases with increasing soil temperatures due to an increased activity of nitrifiers (Thapa et al., 2016). Accordingly, NO₃⁻ was the dominant form of mineral N remaining in soil after the conditioning phase. During soil cooling N mineralization processes continue, but gross nitrification rates respond quite sensitive to low temperatures as compared to N mineralization and immobilization (Björsne et al., 2014; Schütt et al., 2014). Differences in soil NH₄⁺ contents between N fertilization rates (N0,N1,N2) after the cooling-warming phase therefore reflect the mineralization of previously immobilized N and a parallel suppression of nitrification in the cooling period. For example, Cookson et al. (2002), showed that decreasing soil temperatures from 15 to 2 °C for 56 days led to a transient accumulation of NH₄⁺ followed by a strongly delayed nitrification. In our experiment, the accumulation of NH₄⁺ during cooling-warming cycle continued due to a second NI application after the cooling phase, where in the soils without straw but with NI, the NH₄⁺ contents were steeply enhanced with increasing N fertilization rates. This demonstrates a legacy-effect of NI after the cooling-warming phase where high amounts of N_{min} were released at high N fertilization long after NI application. The soil cooling effect was not sufficiently strong to suppress net nitrification at high N application rate (N2), leading to an almost exponential increase of NO₃⁻ with increasing N fertilization rates in soils without straw. The fact that soil NO_3^- levels were further enhanced by NI (significant N \times S \times NI interaction) indicates that NI legacy caused only a delay, but did not prevent the nitrification processes.

In contrast to NI, straw led to a rapid immobilization of N and reduced potential mineralization losses by more than half reductions of soil NO_3^- contents in the conditioning as well as in the cooling-warming phase. However, due to optimal watering of plants in our experiment the amount

of N leaching losses accounted only for 1 % of fertilizer N, which is rather low compared to losses under natural field conditions (Abdalla et al., 2019). Under natural seasonal rainfall dynamics, N retention by straw is expected to be much more effective than what we simulated in our mesocosm study.

Straw applied after crop harvest, has a high potential to immobilize available soil N in microbial biomass (He et al., 2015; Xia et al., 2018). Straw provides soil microorganisms with a source of readily available C and stimulates microbial growth and reproduction (Pan et al., 2016; Reichel et al., 2018). Accordingly, N immobilization in the conditioning phase was strongly reflected by microbial nutrient contents, with straw increasing MB-C and MB-N 1.6-fold and 2.4-fold, respectively. The strongly negative correlation between soil microbial biomass and soil NO3⁻ contents after the cooling-warming phase in the SEM indicates the microbial uptake of $\mathrm{NO}_3^-.$ The fact that NI affected soil NH_4^+ and NO_3^- in the absence of straw during the cooling-warming phase, shows that N immobilization by straw dominated over the effect of NI (Ma et al., 2019). Straw on the other hand induced higher N2O emissions in N2 (Fig. 5), probably by providing additional C for denitrifiers (Akhtar et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2021). The combined application of NI with straw was shown to mitigate N₂O emissions caused by HCA (Wu et al., 2017) and this was confirmed at high fertilization (N2) in our experiment. The overall low N losses from soil as N₂O and leachate $(0.17-2.6 \text{ mg N kg}^{-1})$ in the present study had, however, little effect on barley N uptake and the total N budget of the whole system (Fig. 5). Overall, under natural conditions the application of straw and its combination with NI, especially at high fertilizer rates, has a high potential to reduce N losses from agricultural systems (Di and Cameron, 2002; Wu et al., 2017).

However, a great challenge of straw application is the timing of Nrelease for the following crop. The mineralization of N from straw can occur weeks or months after its application (Cao et al., 2018; Shindo and Nishio, 2005). N-mineralization is mainly a function of substrate stoichiometry which can be influenced by N fertilization at times of HCA incorporation (van Duijnen et al., 2018). High N sequestration by microbial biomass occurs at C:N ratios of >1:30 (Hodge et al., 2000), but the rates of net N mobilization will increase with decreasing substrate C:N ratio towards a critical threshold value at C:N \sim 20–25 for microbial mineralization (Aoyama and Nozawa, 1993; Kuzyakov et al., 2000). Fertilization of the applied straw decreased the C:N ratio of soil amendments from 49 in N0 to 28 and 22 in N1 and N2, respectively, which generally meets the stoichiometric requirements for net N mobilization at some later stage. High activity of both N-liberating enzymes, LAP and NAG in + straw treatments (Fig. 6) indicates still high microbial demand for N in all + straw treatments (Kumar et al., 2017; Sinsabaugh et al., 1993). Since the activity of NAG mainly reflects the mineralization of fungal biomass (Sinsabaugh and Moorhead, 1994), we included only LAP in our SEM model. Enhanced LAP activity correlated positively to higher microbial biomass (Fig. 7). However, in agreement with stoichiometric theory, the LAP activity decreased at higher N fertilization (Fig. 6), demonstrating that the N demand of soil microorganisms induced by straw was partly alleviated by N fertilizer application. Accordingly, straw led to the re-mineralization of N in the barley growth phase, where straw increased soil NH₄⁺ contents by 2fold in N0 and 1.7-fold in N1 (Fig. 3, Table S2). Soil NH₄⁺ content is the main indicator of ammonification and re-mineralization in our experiment. NO₃⁻ content depends on the further N transformations like nitrification and denitrification. This demonstrates that microbial mineralization of straw acted as a slow-release fertilizer during plant growing. Our hypotheses of a rapid, temporal sequestration of N directly after incorporation of straw; and the potential of straw to release NH⁺₄ later for plant uptake after subsequent soil cooling-warming periods was hereby confirmed. It must be noted, however, that the size of the mesocosms strongly restricted the growth of the root system and that the barley therefore had to be harvested prematurely. The NUE of shoots with 50 % and 35 % in N1 and N2, respectively, decreased with increasing fertilization rate, but in + straw treatments NUE was only 25 % at this premature state. The N gain of crops from decomposition of straw and subsequent release of N might last significantly longer under natural field conditions (Li et al., 2015). However, according to the SEM, the soil NO_3^- released after the cooling-warming phase contributed by far the most to shoot N uptake (Fig. 7), indicating that the availability of N at the seedling stage was most critical to plant performance. Apparently, the late mineralization of straw -immobilized N was not sufficient to compensate for the N demand of barley at its early growth stage. Still, we cannot exclude that a continuation of N mineralization in the + straw treatment over a longer growth period would have led to a better nutrient balance. In the absence of straw, the N1 fertilization rate was sufficient for barley growth as shoot biomass and N content did not differ between N1 and N2 fertilizer rates (Fig. 4). In presence of straw, a higher fertilization rate (N2) was necessary to reach a similar plant biomass (Fig. 4). Apart from its direct effects on Nimmobilization, straw also has indirect beneficial long-term effects. For example, straw application in long-term trials (>10-years) across the major agricultural zones of China increased crop yield by 7 % due to improved soil biophysical and physico-chemical properties, such as increased SOC contents (Wang et al., 2015). Therefore, it is likely that fertilization rates might be even reduced after long-term conditioning of soils by straw amendment. Overall, our results show that straw in combination with NI was highly efficient at preventing immediate N losses as well as N losses over a period of changing soil temperatures from agricultural soil. Given a sufficient stoichiometric balance between straw and N supply, straw acts as a slow-release fertilizer and can provide sufficient N for following crops (Cao et al., 2018). The timing of N-mineralization at the seedling stage, however, turned out to be most critical and deserves more attention in subsequent studies.

5. Conclusions

Straw application had immediate, strong and long-term effects on the immobilization of soil N that lasted until the cooling-warming phase.

Although straw stimulated N₂O emissions at high N fertilization, this might be alleviated by a combined application of HCA and NI. During the cooling phase, the nitrification rate was more suppressed than N immobilization by microorganisms, while cooling-warming cycle induced strong ammonification. Compared to the strong N-immobilization potential of straw, NI caused only a relatively short delay of N-mineralization and nitrification that did not last long enough to affect barley growth or N-uptake. Although N was partly re-mineralized until barley growing in + straw treatments, N was not sufficiently delivered during the critical early growth stage after the cooling-warming phase, resulting in reductions of barley growth under no N (N0) and low N fertilizer (N1) rates in its early growing phase. Thus, while straw amendments led to strongly reduced N losses, our study shows that the synergistic application of straw and NI has great potential to reduce N losses from agricultural soils between cropping seasons, but the timing of straw application and manipulation of its C:N stoichiometry by fertilization appear most critical to match N mineralization after winter periods with the demand of following crops.

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Hao Chen: Investigation, Formal Analysis, Data Curation, Writing – Original draft; Christoph Rosinger: Investigation, Conceptualization, Methodology, Data Curation, Sergey Blagodatsky: Conceptualization, Data curation, Writing - Review and Editing. Rüdiger Reichel: Investigation, Methodology. Bo Li: Methodology, Writing - Review and Editing; Amit Kumar: Methodology, Formal Analysis; Steffen Rothardt: Resources; Jie Luo: Formal Analysis, Visualization, Software; Nicolas Brüggemann: Project administration, Supervision; Henning Kage: Resources; Michael Bonkowski: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing- Reviewing and Editing.

Data availability

Data will be made available on request.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

We thank the China Scholarship Council (CSC) for funding Hao Chen in Germany. The project was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) as part of the BonaRes initiative, in the project INPLAMINT: 'Increasing agricultural nutrient-use efficiency by optimizing plant-soil-microorganism interactions' (BMBF-FKZ 031B0508F). Grant number: FKZ 031B0508A.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2023.162007.

References

- Abdalla, M., Hastings, A., Cheng, K., Yue, Q., Chadwick, D., Espenberg, M., Truu, J., Rees, R.M., Smith, P., 2019. A critical review of the impacts of cover crops on nitrogen leaching, net greenhouse gas balance and crop productivity. Glob. Chang. Biol. 25 (8), 2530–2543. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14644.
- Akhtar, K., Wang, W.Y., Ren, G.X., Khan, A., Enguang, N., Khan, A., Feng, Y.Z., Yang, G.H., Wang, H.Y., 2020. Straw mulching with inorganic nitrogen fertilizer reduces soil CO2 and N2O emissions and improves wheat yield. Sci. Total Environ. 741, 140488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140488.
- Aoyama, M., Nozawa, T., 1993. Microbial biomass nitrogen and mineralizationimmobilization processes of nitrogen in soils incubated with various organic materials. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 39 (1), 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/00380768.1993.10416971.

- Barneze, A.S., Minet, E.P., Cerri, C.C., Misselbrook, T., 2015. The effect of nitrification inhibitors on nitrous oxide emissions from cattle urine depositions to grassland under summer conditions in the UK. Chemosphere 119, 122–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. chemosphere.2014.06.002.
- Björsne, A.-K., Rütting, T., Ambus, P., 2014. Combined climate factors alleviate changes in gross soil nitrogen dynamics in heathlands. Biogeochemistry 120 (1), 191–201. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10533-014-9990-1.
- Bonkowski, M., 2004. Protozoa and plant growth: the microbial loop in soil revisited. New Phytol. 162 (3), 617–631. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01066.x.
- Cabrera, M.L., Kissel, D.E., 1989. Review and simplification of calculations in 15N tracer studies. Fertil.Res. 20 (1), 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01055396.
- Cao, Y.S., Sun, H.F., Zhang, J.N., Chen, G.F., Zhu, H.T., Zhou, S., Xiao, H.Y., 2018. Effects of wheat straw addition on dynamics and fate of nitrogen applied to paddy soils. Soil Tillage Res. 178, 92–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2017.12.023.
- Chen, K.E., Chen, H.Y., Tseng, C.S., Tsay, Y.F., 2020. Improving nitrogen use efficiency by manipulating nitrate remobilization in plants. Nat. Plants 6 (9), 1126–1135. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/s41477-020-00758-0.
- Congreves, K.A., Vyn, R.J., Van Eerd, L.L., 2013. Evaluation of post-harvest organic carbon amendments as a strategy to minimize nitrogen losses in cole crop production. Agronomy 3 (1), 181–199. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy3010181.
- Cookson, W., Cornforth, I., Rowarth, J., 2002. Winter soil temperature (2–15 °C) effects on nitrogen transformations in clover green manure amended or unamended soils; a laboratory and field study. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34 (10), 1401–1415. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0038-0717(02)00083-4.
- Dai, Z.M., Yu, M.J., Chen, H.H., Zhao, H.C., Huang, Y.L., Su, W.Q., Xia, F., Chang, S.X., Brookes, P.C., Dahlgren, R.A., Xu, J.M., 2020. Elevated temperature shifts soil N cycling from microbial immobilization to enhanced mineralization, nitrification and denitrification across global terrestrial ecosystems. Glob. Chang. Biol. 26 (9), 5267–5276. https:// doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15211.
- Di, H.J., Cameron, K.C., 2002. Nitrate leaching in temperate agroecosystems: sources, factors and mitigating strategies. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 64 (3), 237–256. https://doi.org/10. 1023/A:1021471531188.
- Diacono, M., Montemurro, F., 2011. Long-term effects of organic amendments on soil fertility. Sustainable Agriculture. vol. 2. Springer, pp. 761–786. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0394-0_34.
- Dobbie, K.E., McTaggart, I.P., Smith, K.A., 1999. Nitrous oxide emissions from intensive agricultural systems: variations between crops and seasons, key driving variables, and mean emission factors. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 104 (D21), 26891–26899. https://doi.org/10. 1029/1999JD900378.
- van Duijnen, R., Roy, J., Härdtle, W., Temperton, V.M., 2018. Precrop functional group identity affects yield of winter barley but less so high carbon amendments in a mesocosm experiment. Front. Plant Sci. 9, 912. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00912.
- Federolf, C.P., Westerschulte, M., Olfs, H.W., Broll, G., Trautz, D., 2016. Enhanced nutrient use efficiencies from liquid manure by positioned injection in maize cropping in northwest Germany. Eur. J. Agron. 75, 130–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2016.01.016.
- German, D.P., Weintraub, M.N., Grandy, A.S., Lauber, C.L., Rinkes, Z.L., Allison, S.D., 2011. Optimization of hydrolytic and oxidative enzyme methods for ecosystem studies. Soil Biol. Biochem. 43 (7), 1387–1397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.03.017.
- He, Y.T., Zhang, W.J., Xu, M.G., Tong, X.G., Sun, F.X., Wang, J.Z., Huang, S.M., Zhu, P., He, X.H., 2015. Long-term combined chemical and manure fertilizations increase soil organic carbon and total nitrogen in aggregate fractions at three typical cropland soils in China. Sci. Total Environ. 532, 635–644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.06.011.
- Hodge, A., Robinson, D., Fitter, A., 2000. Are microorganisms more effective than plants at competing for nitrogen? Trends Plant Sci. 5 (7), 304–308. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1360-1385(00)01656-3.
- Hong, J.T., Qin, X.J., Ma, X.X., Xu, X., Wang, X.D., 2019. Seasonal shifting in the absorption pattern of alpine species for NO3 – and NH4 + on the Tibetan Plateau. Biol. Fertil. Soils 55 (8), 801–811. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-019-01392-5.
- Hu, R.H., Wang, X.P., Xu, J.S., Zhang, Y.F., Pan, Y.X., Su, X., 2020. The mechanism of soil nitrogen transformation under different biocrusts to warming and reduced precipitation: from microbial functional genes to enzyme activity. Sci. Total Environ. 722, 137849. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137849.
- ISO, 2005. ISO 10390, 2005 Soil Quality-determination of pH. 1. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva.
- Jingguo, W., Bakke, L.R., 1997. Competition for nitrogen during decomposition of plant residues in soil: effect of spatial placement of N-rich and N-poor plant residues. Soil Biol. Biochem. 29 (2), 153–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(96)00291-X.
- Joergensen, R.G., Mueller, T., 1996. The fumigation-extraction method to estimate soil microbial biomass: calibration of the kEN value. Soil Biol. Biochem. 28 (1), 33–37. https://doi. org/10.1016/0038-0717(95)00101-8.
- Koller, R., Rodriguez, A., Robin, C., Scheu, S., Bonkowski, M., 2013a. Protozoa enhance foraging efficiency of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for mineral nitrogen from organic matter in soil to the benefit of host plants. New Phytol. 199 (1), 203–211. https://doi.org/10. 1111/nph.12249.
- Koller, R., Scheu, S., Bonkowski, M., Robin, C., 2013b. Protozoa stimulate N uptake and growth of arbuscular mycorrhizal plants. Soil Biol. Biochem. 65, 204–210. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.05.020.
- Kumar, A., Dorodnikov, M., Splettstößer, T., Kuzyakov, Y., Pausch, J., 2017. Effects of maize roots on aggregate stability and enzyme activities in soil. Geoderma 306, 50–57. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2017.07.007.
- Kuzyakov, Y., Xu, X.L., 2013. Competition between roots and microorganisms for nitrogen: mechanisms and ecological relevance. New Phytol. 198 (3), 656–669. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/nph.12235.
- Kuzyakov, Y., Friedel, J.K., Stahr, K., 2000. Review of mechanisms and quantification of priming effects. Soil Biol. Biochem. 32 (11–12), 1485–1498. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0038-0717(00)00084-5.

- Li, F.C., Wang, Z.H., Dai, J., Li, Q., Wang, X., Xue, C., Liu, H., He, G., 2015. Fate of nitrogen from green manure, straw, and fertilizer applied to wheat under different summer fallow management strategies in dryland. Biol. Fertil. Soils 51 (7), 769–780. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00374-015-1023-2.
- Li, Z.L., Tian, D.S., Wang, B.X., Wang, J.S., Wang, S., Chen, H.Y.H., Xu, X.F., Wang, C.H., He, N.P., Niu, S.L., 2019. Microbes drive global soil nitrogen mineralization and availability. Glob. Chang. Biol. 25 (3), 1078–1088. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14557.
- Li, L.D., Konkel, J., Jin, V.L., Schaeffer, S.M., 2021. Conservation management improves agroecosystem function and resilience of soil nitrogen cycling in response to seasonal changes in climate. Sci. Total Environ. 779, 146457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2021.146457.
- Lin, S., Hernandez-Ramirez, G., 2020. Nitrous oxide emissions from manured soils as a function of various nitrification inhibitor rates and soil moisture contents. Sci. Total Environ. 738, 139669. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139669.
- Liu, C., Lu, M., Cui, J., Li, B., Fang, C.M., 2014. Effects of straw carbon input on carbon dynamics in agricultural soils: a meta-analysis. Glob. Chang. Biol. 20, 1366–1381. https://doi. org/10.1111/gcb.12517.
- Ma, Q., Wu, Z.J., Yu, W.T., Zhou, C.R., Ning, C.C., Yuan, H.Y., Xia, Z.Q., 2019. Does the incorporation of dicyandiamide and hydroquinone with straw enhance the nitrogen supplying capacity in soil? Appl.Soil Ecol. 136, 158–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. apsoil.2018.12.007.
- Marx, M.C., Wood, M., Jarvis, S.C., 2001. A microplate fluorimetric assay for the study of enzyme diversity in soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 33 (12–13), 1633–1640. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0038-0717(01)00079-7.
- Monteux, S., Keuper, F., Fontaine, S., Gavazov, K., Hallin, S., Juhanson, J., Krab, E.J., Revaillot, S., Verbruggen, E., Walz, J., Weedon, J.T., Dorrepaal, E., 2020. Carbon and nitrogen cycling in Yedoma permafrost controlled by microbial functional limitations. Nat. Geosci. 13 (12), 794–798. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-020-00662-4.
- Ni, K., Kage, H., Pacholski, A., 2018. Effects of novel nitrification and urease inhibitors (DCD/ TZ and 2-NPT) on N2O emissions from surface applied urea: an incubation study. Atmos. Environ. 175, 75–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2017.12.002.
- Norton, J., Ouyang, Y., 2019. Controls and adaptive management of nitrification in agricultural soils. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1931. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01931.Pan, F.X., Li, Y.Y., Chapman, S.J., Khan, S., Yao, H.Y., 2016. Microbial utilization of rice straw
- Pan, F.X., Li, Y.Y., Chapman, S.J., Khan, S., Yao, H.Y., 2016. Microbial utilization of rice straw and its derived biochar in a paddy soil. Sci. Total Environ. 559, 15–23. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.122.
- Reichel, R., Wei, J., Islam, M.S., Schmid, C., Wissel, H., Schröder, P., Schloter, M., Brüggemann, N., 2018. Potential of wheat straw, spruce sawdust, and lignin as high organic carbon soil amendments to improve agricultural nitrogen retention capacity: an incubation study. Front. Plant Sci. 9, 900. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00900.
- Rosinger, C., Bonkowski, M., 2021. Soil age and soil organic carbon content shape biochemical responses to multiple freeze-thaw events in soils along a postmining agricultural chronosequence. Biogeochemistry 155 (1), 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-021-00816-5.
- Rosinger, C., Clayton, J., Baron, K., Bonkowski, M., 2022. Soil freezing-thawing induces immediate shifts in microbial and resource stoichiometry in Luvisol soils along a postmining agricultural chronosequence in Western Germany. Geoderma 408, 115596. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2021.115596.
- Rosseel, Y., 2012. Lavaan: an R package for structural equation modeling and more. Version 0.5–12 (BETA). J. Stat. Softw. 48 (2), 1–36.
- Roy, J., Reichel, R., Brüggemann, N., Hempel, S., Rillig, M.C., 2017. Succession of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi along a 52-year agricultural recultivation chronosequence. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 93 (9). https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fix102.
- Rozmoš, M., Bukovská, P., Hršelová, H., Kotianová, M., Dudáš, M., Gančarčíková, K., Jansa, J., 2022. Organic nitrogen utilisation by an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus is mediated by specific soil bacteria and a protist. ISME J. 16 (3), 676–685. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41396-021-01112-8.
- Schütt, M., Borken, W., Spott, O., Stange, C.F., Matzner, E., 2014. Temperature sensitivity of C and N mineralization in temperate forest soils at low temperatures. Soil Biol. Biochem. 69, 320–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2013.11.014.
- Shahzad, A.N., Qureshi, M.K., Wakeel, A., Misselbrook, T., 2019. Crop production in Pakistan and low nitrogen use efficiencies. Nat. Sustain. 2 (12), 1106–1114. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41893-019-0429-5.
- Shen, H.J., Zhang, Q.Q., Zhang, X., Jiang, X.Y., Zhu, S.G., Chen, A.F., Wu, Z., Xiong, Z.Q., 2021. In situ effects of biochar field-aged for six years on net N mineralization in paddy soil. Soil Tillage Res. 205, 104766. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.still.2020.104766.
- Shindo, H., Nishio, T., 2005. Immobilization and remineralization of N following addition of wheat straw into soil: determination of gross N transformation rates by 15N-ammonium isotope dilution technique. Soil Biol. Biochem. 37 (3), 425–432. https://doi.org/10. 1016/i.soilbio.2004.07.027.
- Sieling, K., Kage, H., 2006. N balance as an indicator of N leaching in an oilseed rape–winter wheat–winter barley rotation. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 115 (1–4), 261–269. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.agee.2006.01.011.
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., Moorhead, D.L., 1994. Resource allocation to extracellular enzyme production: a model for nitrogen and phosphorus control of litter decomposition. Soil Biol. Biochem. 26 (10), 1305–1311. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(94)90211-9.
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., Antibus, R.K., Linkins, A.E., McClaugherty, C.A., Rayburn, L., Repert, D., Weiland, T., 1993. Wood decomposition: nitrogen and phosphorus dynamics in relation to extracellular enzyme activity. Ecology 74 (5), 1586–1593. https://doi.org/10.2307/ 1940086.
- Sutton, M.A., Oenema, O., Erisman, J.W., Leip, A., van Grinsven, H., Winiwarter, W., 2011. Too much of a good thing. Nature 472 (7342), 159–161. https://doi.org/10.1038/ 472159a.
- Thapa, R., Chatterjee, A., Awale, R., McGranahan, D.A., Daigh, A., 2016. Effect of enhanced efficiency fertilizers on nitrous oxide emissions and crop yields: a meta-analysis. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 80 (5), 1121–1134. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj2016.06.0179.

H. Chen et al.

- Vance, E.D., Brookes, P.C., Jenkinson, D.S., 1987. An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass C. Soil Biol. Biochem. 19 (6), 703–707. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(87)90052-6.
- Wang, J.Z., Wang, X.J., Xu, M.G., Feng, G., Zhang, W.J., Lu, C.A., 2015. Crop yield and soil organic matter after long-term straw return to soil in China. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 102 (3), 371–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10705-015-9710-9.
- Wu, D., Senbayram, M., Well, R., Brüggemann, N., Pfeiffer, B., Loick, N., Stempfhuber, B., Dittert, K., Bol, R., 2017. Nitrification inhibitors mitigate N2O emissions more effectively under straw-induced conditions favoring denitrification. Soil Biol. Biochem. 104, 197–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.10.022.
- Xia, L.L., Lam, S.K., Wolf, B., Kiese, R., Chen, D.L., Butterbach-Bahl, K., 2018. Trade-offs between soil carbon sequestration and reactive nitrogen losses under straw return in global agroecosystems. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24 (12), 5919–5932. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14466.
- Xu, C., Han, X., Zhuge, Y.P., Xiao, G.M., Ni, B., Xu, X.C., Meng, F.Q., 2021. Crop straw incorporation alleviates overall fertilizer-N losses and mitigates N2O emissions per unit applied N from intensively farmed soils: an in situ 15N tracing study. Sci. Total Environ. 764, 142884. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142884.
- Zerulla, W., Barth, T., Dressel, J., Erhardt, K., Horchler von Locquenghien, K., Pasda, G., Rädle, M., Wissemeier, A., 2001. 3,4-Dimethylpyrazole phosphate (DMPP)–a new nitrification inhibitor for agriculture and horticulture. Biol. Fertil. Soils 34 (2), 79–84. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s003740100380.

Chapter 2

Chapter 2 Straw application and nitrification inhibitor affect soil N losses during cooling-warming and freeze-thaw cycles

Straw application and nitrification inhibitor affect soil N losses during cooling-warming and freeze-thaw cycles

Hao Chen^a, Christoph Rosinger^{b,c}, Sergey Blagodatsky^{a,*}, Rüdiger Reichel^d, Bo Li^e, Amit Kumar^f, Steffen Rothardt^g, Jie Luo^h, Nicolas Brüggemann^d, Henning Kage^g, Michael Bonkowski^a

^aUniversity of Cologne, Institute of Zoology, Department of Biology, Germany

^bInstitute of Soil Research, Department of Forest and Soil Sciences, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Peter Jordan Straße 82, 1190 Vienna, Austria

^cInstitute of Agronomy, Department of Crop Sciences, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences (BOKU), Konrad Lorenz-Straße 24, 3430 Tulln an der Donau, Austria

^dForschungszentrum Jülich GmbH, Institute of Bio-and Geosciences, Agrosphere (IBG-3), Jülich, Germany

^eCollege of Natural Resources and Environment, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou, Guangdong 510642, PR China

^fInstitute of Ecology, Leuphana University Lüneburg, Universitätsallee 1, 21335 Lüneburg, Germany

^gAgronomy and Crop Science, Institute of Crop Science and Plant Breeding, Christian-Albrechts-University, Kiel, Germany

^hState Key Laboratory of Vegetation and Environmental Change, Institute of Botany, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing, China

Chapter 2

Abstract

Nitrogen (N) lost from the agricultural field as leachate and nitrous oxide (N_2O) cause water pollution, global warming and decreases N use efficiency by plants. To combat these problems soil amendment with straw and application of nitrification inhibitors are used in agriculture. Microbial immobilization of N stimulated by straw addition and nitrification can be moderated by seasonal temperature variation, but this interfering factor is insufficiently studied. A 99-days mesocosm experiment that simulated the seasonal temperature variation was conducted, to investigate the effects of wheat straw amendment, nitrification inhibitor (NI) and temperature variation (both freezing-thawing and cooling-warming) on N losses from soil as N₂O and leachate with and without N fertilization. We observed N₂O emission peak immediately after applying straw and N fertilizer that increased the N₂O emission threefolds by stimulating denitrification. NI effectively reduced N₂O emission after fertilization by 57.6 %. Cooling-warming strongly induced N mineralization and caused N₂O emission peak even in the absence of freezing-thawing, while freezing-thawing increased the N₂O emission furtherly (38 %). Straw addition and NI had no legacy effect on N₂O emission during this phase that was caused mainly by denitrification according to the SEM analysis. Straw addition (70 %) and freezing-thawing (66.3 %) reduced N leaching, thus mitigating the total N losses as N₂O and leaching by 26 % and 31.6 %, respectively. We showed that temperature variation during winter season strongly affect the processes leading to N losses from soil and this factor need to be considered when measures preventing N losses, as straw and NI application are planned.

1. Introduction

Globally, soils are the largest anthropogenic source of N_2O , and agricultural activities are responsible for about 52% of the anthropogenic N_2O emissions (Tian et al., 2020). The main N flux escaping agroecosystems is nitrate leaching, especially prominent in intensive agriculture (Kumar et al., 2020). These losses causing multiple negative effects such as eutrophication of surface waters, destroying the ecological balance and posing challenges to human health (Cui et al., 2020).

Substantial amounts of N are lost from soil between plant cultivation phases, where longer periods of variable soil moisture and temperature with e.g. warming, cooling, freezing and thawing periods in temperate climate release soil N before it can benefit the next crop (Cookson et al., 2002; Sieling and Kage, 2006). Despite seasonal temperature fluctuations are identified as main drivers of N mobilising processes in soil (Li et al., 2021), and there is detailed information on long-term N transformation and losses after soil incubation at different stable temperatures (Dai et al., 2020; Duan et al., 2018), or after short-term stresses like soil freezing-thawing cycles (Li et al., 2019; Monteux et al., 2020; Rosinger and Bonkowski, 2021; Rosinger et al., 2022), experiments on seasonal N transformations and losses in agricultural soils are needed (Sieling and Kage, 2006).

Nitrification inhibitors (NIs) are widely used to reduce N loss and improve crops NUE (Wu et al., 2017). NIs are compounds applied to prevent the bacterial oxidation of soil ammonium (NH₄⁺) to nitrite (NO₂⁻) by inhibiting the activity of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria in the soil (Zerulla et al., 2001). Application of NIs has repeatedly been shown to lower N₂O emissions from agricultural soils; however, their effectiveness varies greatly (Prasad and Power, 1995; Qiao et al., 2015; Ruser and Schulz, 2015). Soil temperature, moisture, and fertilization level may affect the longevity of NIs and reduce their effectiveness (Norton and Ouyang, 2019; Thapa et al., 2016). It is known that the inhibitory capacity of NIs decreased with increasing temperature (Irigoyen et al., 2003; McGeough et al., 2016), while Menéndez et al (2012) reported a higher persistence of the NI in soil at higher water contents, and the effect of soil temperature on the efficiency of NI was dependent on soil water content, under 80% WFPS, the efficiency in reducing N₂O emissions after DMPP application increased with temperature (Menéndez et al., 2012). Therefore, it is still not clear how the variation in soil temperature and moisture will modify the effect of NI on soil N₂O emissions.

The incorporation of crop straw as high organic carbon soil amendment is one of the world's oldest, most practical and economical methods of reducing soil N losses by increasing internal N cycles (Diacono and Montemurro, 2011; Norton and Ouyang, 2019; Xia et al., 2018). By retaining the N and restraining its losses from soil, straw has the potential to combat N losses in agriculture (Wu et al., 2017). Straw mitigates N leaching by immobilizing N in microbial biomass (Reichel et al., 2022; Reichel et al., 2018; van Duijnen et al., 2018; Wei et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2021) as shown both in incubation (Congreves et al., 2013a; Zavalloni et al., 2011) and field studies (Congreves et al., 2013b; Török et al., 2014). However, concerns have been raised regarding potential increase of N₂O emissions under straw incorporation (Huang et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2019). The effects of straw addition on soil N₂O emissions appear inconsistent, ranging from positive (Li et al., 2013; Xia et al., 2018) to neutral (John et al., 2020; Malhi and Lemke, 2007), and negative (Shan and Yan, 2013; Yao et al., 2017). The divergent N₂O responses to straw addition have
been attributed to differences in soil physicochemical properties and fertilization practices (Chen et al., 2013; Yu et al., 2019), suggesting that the underlying mechanisms driving straw effects on N₂O emissions are complex and still little understood (Wu et al., 2020). The positive effect of straw amendment on N losses with leachate due to increased N immobilization can be counterbalanced by acceleration of N₂O emission via denitrification. A critical role in this case will be played by the dynamics of soil water content and oxygen availability, which could support anaerobiosis. In this case, NI could suppress the provision of NO₃⁻ for denitrification and its combination with straw could potentially lead to the overall positive effect. However, this hypothetical interaction needs to be proven under controlled conditions. It was reported that the efficiency of NI in reducing N2O emissions was negatively correlated with soil organic matter content (Lin and Hernandez-Ramirez, 2020; McGeough et al., 2016), while Wu et al (2017) reported that NIs mitigate N₂O emissions more effectively under straw-induced conditions. At present it is even unclear if direct (i.e. application of NIs) and indirect (i.e. application of high organic carbon soil amendment) means can be reasonably combined to prevent N losses from soils, especially under temperature variation and freezing-thawing.

Thus, we set up a mesocosm experiment to simulate soil N dynamics in treatments with wheat straw incorporation combined with the NI Piadin[®] at varying temperature regimes/cooling-warming and freezing-thawing cycle and quantified N losses from soil as N₂O and leachate. We hypothesized that i) NI and straw addition in combination have additive effects on mitigating N losses and NI could dampen negative effect of combined N and C addition effect on acceleration of N₂O emission; ii) Straw addition will be an effective mean to reduce N losses over seasonal temperature fluctuations; iii) freezing-thawing will induce strong N₂O and N leaching losses, but cooling-warming alone will not; iv) nitrification and denitrification contribute differently to the N₂O emission during different phases of experiment and this can be used in planning of NI application.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Experiment design

We performed a mesocosm experiment simulating seasonal variations comprising two typical between-crop cultivating phases: i) a conditioning phase simulating the incorporation of crop residues into soil after harvest (phase 1), ii) a cooling-warming phase simulating winterly temperature fluctuations (phase 2). First phase continued from day 0 to day 28, all pots were incubated in a greenhouse with daily average temperature around 19 °C. Second phase continued from day 29 to day 71, all pots were incubated in a climate chamber at 7 °C from day 29-60, then from day 58 to day 60, 7 repetitions with fertilized pots (as detailed below) were frozen in -20°C freezer as freezing treatments (Fert-F1), the other half repetitions of the fertilized pots were not frozen (Fert-F0), and all pots were incubated in greenhouse again from day 61 to day 71 with daily average temperature around 21 °C. On day 62, the soil water content was adjusted to 69.8% water holding capacity to obtain leachate (Figure 1).





The mesocosms consisted of 10L buckets with a tube in central hole at the bottom to collect leachate. The buckets were filled with 8 kg dry-weight agricultural soil irrigated regularly with tap water to keep 50% water holding capacity during the whole experiment. The agricultural soil used in this study was obtained from the Experimental Farm Hohenschulen, which is affiliated to the University of Kiel, Germany (54°18′N, 9°58′E) in June 2019. The soil is classified as Luvisol, with the following properties: Bulk density 1.37 g cm⁻³, pH 6.5, total organic C 1.07%, total N 0.11%, sand 58%, silt 29%, clay 13%. The soil gravimetric water content was 7.2% (w/w, about 19.4% water holding capacity) before incubation. The soil was sieved (1 cm mesh size) and homogenized for the experimental set up.

The treatments including two levels of N fertilization (Ctrl, no N added; Fert, 73 mg N kg⁻¹ soil added as $(NH_4)_2SO_4$, which is equal to 250 kg N ha⁻¹), two levels of wheat straw (W0, no straw; W1, eq. to 20 t ha⁻¹) and two levels of nitrification inhibitor (no NI and NI, eq. to 13 l ha⁻¹) were applied in a multifactorial design. The 4 treatments of Ctrl levels have 7 repetitions and the 4 treatments of Fert levels have 14 repetitions (i.e., 84 pots in total). These additional

fertilized pots were used to test the effect of freezing (forth factor), as detailed in the first paragraph. 25 cm of soil tillage layer was used for calculating N fertilizer, straw and Piadin application amount, the amount of straw application is 10 t ha⁻¹ in the field of Germany normally, but the residues of root and shoot from the former crops are left in the field; in our study the soil was not grown with plants for years, so we choose 20 t ha⁻¹ to simulate the organic C amendments from straw and crops residues. Each pot contained 8 kg dry weight soil, irrigated regularly with tap water to keep 50% water holding capacity during the whole experiment.

Straw was added into the soil and mixed homogenously one week before the starting of experiment. As NI we used Piadin® (SKW, Piesteritc, Germany), a commercial formulation containing the two active pyrazole derivatives1H-1,2,4-triazole and 3-methylpyrazole at inclusion rates of approximately 3.1% and 1.6%, respectively, which is a product to enhance N use efficiency and improve crop yields when applied to soils with livestock manure (Barneze et al., 2015). The effect of PIADIN® starts immediately after fertilisation. The conversion of N from stable NH₄⁺ to the mobile NO₃⁻ form is delayed by six to ten weeks (https://www.piadin.de/en/#home). The NI (Piadin) was applied twice, the first time (eq. to 7 l. ha⁻¹) together with N was applied on day 0 (the start of the experiment), soil water content was adjusted to 50% water holding capacity on the same day. The second application of Piadin (eq. to 6 l. ha⁻¹) occurred on day 62 (the beginning of warming phase).

2.2 Repeated measurements of soil biological activity during the incubation experiment

Gas samples for the determination of net N_2O and CO_2 emissions were taken at regular intervals with 4 replicates in each treatment using the static-opaque chamber method (Chen et al., 2023; Dobbie et al., 1999). Chambers for gas sampling consisted of PVC tubes (20 cm diameter, 55 cm height) and were closed by an airtight lid with tubing and a three-way cock for gas sampling. For gas sampling, the chambers were inserted to a depth of 5 cm into the soil surface of mesocosms to ensure gas tightness. During the barley growth phase, the chambers enclosed the whole plants during gas sampling. During each sampling, three samples were collected from the headspace with a 20 ml syringe 30, 60 and 90 min after the chambers were inserted into the soil. As control, 5 ambient air samples were collected on each sampling occasion, and the average N₂O concentration from these samples were used as "time-zero" N₂O measurement. Sampling time was always between 11 a.m. and 1 p.m.

In addition to gas analysis, soil samples were collected on day 28 at the end of the conditioning phase (phase 1), on day 65 cooling-warming phase (phase 2). The samples collected after the warming-thawing were immediately frozen at -20°C and later used for functional gene abundance analysis. At each time point, approximately 30 g of soil was sampled from 3 opposite locations in each mesocosm using a soil corer with a diameter of 2 cm to a depth of 10 cm. Soil NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- -N contents were measured at days 28 and 65.

For the determination of soil NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- -N contents 5 g fresh wt soil was extracted with 20 ml 0.01 M CaCl₂ under shaking (30 min). After subsequent centrifugation (for 5 min at 4500 rpm) the supernatant was filtered (Whatman 595 filter paper) and NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- -N concentrations were immediately determined using ion-selective electrodes (Nico 2000 Ltd, UK). Total potentially available soil mineral N (Nmin) was calculated as the sum of NH_4^+ -N and NO_3^- -N. Soil pH was determined with a pH meter (multi 340i, WTW GmbH, Weilheim, Germany) according to ISO 10390 guidelines (ISO, 2005) from a suspension of 5 g fresh wt soil in 1 M KCl at 1:5 (w/v) after shaking for 2 h.

Functional marker genes involved in nitrification (AOB and AOA amoA) and denitrification (bacterial nirK, nirS, nosZ), were amplified by quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) using SYBR Premix Ex Taq (TaKaRa Biotechnology Co. Ltd., Dalian, China) and the CFX96 Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc., Hercules, CA, U.S.A.). All nucleic acid extracts were diluted to decrease the impact of inhibition for successful amplification and increased reaction sensitivity. The RT-qPCR reaction mixtures contained 5μ L of 2×SYBR Green qPCR Master Mix (TaKaRa Biotechnology, Otsu, Shiga, Japan), 0.2 μ L10 μ M each of forward and reverse primer, 1 μ L of cDNA template, and 3.6 RNAase/DNase-free water to a final volume of 10 μ L. Melting curve analyses were performed at the end of each run to confirm the reactions specificity. The RT-qPCR data presented in this study were derived from independent extractions of six replicates. Standards of 108 to 101 gene copies μ L-1 were prepared from linearised plasmids with target gene fragments inserted. Amplification efficiencies varied between 90.9% and 101.2% and R2 values were > 0.991 for all genes.

2.3 N leachate

To collect leachate, the mesocosms were irrigated with 600 ml water on day 62, the second day of the warming phase. Leachate volumes were recorded and concentrations of NO_3^- and NH_4^+ determined using ion-sensitive electrodes as described above.

2.4 Calculations and statistical analysis

The N₂O emission factors were calculated as the amount of net N₂O-N emissions in +N treatments minus the net emissions in no fertilization treatment (background N₂O emissions) as the percentage of the fertilizer N applied for the period between gas samplings. The yield-scaled N₂O emissions were related to barley biomass at harvest as in Van Groenigen et al. (2010) and were calculated as the amount of cumulative N₂O emissions per dry shoot biomass. The global warming potential (GWP) of total greenhouse gas emissions was calculated with CO₂ as reference gas, where an increase or reduction in emissions of N₂O were converted into 'CO₂-equivalents' by means of their GWPs (Wei et al., 2022; Wei et al., 2018). We used the following equations to calculate the GWP (g CO₂ equivalent/kg soil):

 $GWP = CO_2 (g CO_2/kg soil) + 298 \times N_2O (g N_2O/kg soil)$

The presented values in graphs and tables are means \pm standard errors. All the statistical analyses were performed in R 3.6.3 (R Core Team, 2020) and graphs were prepared with the Origin Pro 8.1 (Origin Lab, Northampton, MA, USA). Treatment effects were analysed by a prior contrast. Linear regression analyses were used to evaluate the relationships of the parameters from soil, microorganisms, and N₂O emission.

Structural equation modelling (SEM; 'lavaan' package; (Rosseel, 2012)), was used to identify the potential relationships between barley shoot N, soil microbial biomass, soil mineral N content, N₂O emissions, soil enzyme activities and abundance of microbial functional genes responsible for nitrification and denitrification. Prior to the SEM procedure, principal component analysis (PCA) as implemented in the vegan package (Oksanen et al., 2013) was conducted to remove variables with collinearity. Hypothetical relationships between the variables in the models were established according to the results of correlation analyses. The best fitting model was selected by step-wise removal of non-significant paths. The data were square root-transformed before the SEM analysis considering nondimensional expression.

The criteria for evaluation of the structural equation model fit, such as the Chi-square/degree values (CHI/DF), adjusted goodness-of-fit index (AGFI) and root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) were adopted according to Duan et al. (2018).

3. Results

There were two N_2O emission peaks during the experiment: one at the beginning of the conditioning phase just after N fertilizer application, and the other during the warming phase after soil cooling or freezing. Since these two emission peaks dominated (90%) the total cumulative N_2O emission, we present the results on N_2O and other soil properties separately for two phases: first - conditioning phase (section 3.1) and second - cooling-warming phase (section 3.2). Freezing-thawing (FT) occurred in the transition period between the cooling and warming phases for half of the fertilized samples.

$3.1\ N$ immobilization and N_2O emission during conditioning phase

The application of straw increased the cumulative CO_2 emission in the conditioning phase by an eightfold compared to the variants with no straw (p<0.001, Fig. S1 A).



Figure S1 Cumulative CO₂ emission as affected by straw and NI application, fertilization and freezingthawing separated according to experiment phases. The treatments Ctrl and Fert refer to the unfertilized and N-fertilized pots, respectively; Fert-FR refer to the Fert levels experiencing freezing-thawing. Straw refers to the treatments with straw application, NI refer to the treatments with nitrification inhibitor application. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n=4). Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by ANOVA with contrast is given on the top, with *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001.

As a result of microbial activity and N immobilization stimulated by straw addition, amounts of total soil mineral N (Nmin) decreased by half in straw addition treatments (Figure 2, p<0.001), and this effect was independent of N-fertilisation and corresponding average decrease of Nmin (p<0.001) was 25.8 mg N kg⁻¹ in no fertilization and 44.1 mg N kg⁻¹ in fertilization treatments, respectively. Application of the NI increased Nmin content by 32.1 % in no fertilization level in the absence of straw addition (Figure 2, p<0.05). Since soil NO₃⁻ contributed by far most (67-92 %) to the total Nmin content, straw addition showed its greatest effects on reducing NO₃⁻ (41.1 and 17.8 mg N kg⁻¹ in no straw vs. straw addition, respectively), while the proportion of NH₄⁺ slightly increased in straw addition treatments (+ 14.6 %, p<0.001), specifically, straw addition increase of NH₄⁺ only in fertilization levels (p<0.001). Addition of NI led to significant increase of NH₄⁺ only in fertilization levels in the absence of straw addition (p<0.05).

Chapter 2



Figure 2 Soil NH₄, NO₃ and mineral N contents under different treatments of conditioning and cooling-warming phases. The treatments Ctrl and Fert refer to the unfertilized and N-fertilized pots, respectively; Fert-FR refer to the Fert levels experiencing freezing-thawing. Straw refers to the treatments with straw application, NI refer to the treatments with nitrification inhibitor application. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n=7). Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by ANOVA with contrast is given on the top, with *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001.

Once after application of N fertilizer and/or NI, N₂O emission peaked 1.5 times in no fertilization and 5.5 times in fertilization treatments, comparing treatments with and without straw. (Figure 3). Accordingly, fertilization increased the cumulative N₂O emission during the conditioning phase by an average of 6.5 times. (Figure 4, p<0.001). Straw addition increased it by 5-folds (p<0.001), while NI decreased N₂O emissions by 58.6 % in fertilized pots (Figure 4, p < 0.01). These general effects were confirmed by ANOVA with contrasts as shown in the Table 1.



Figure 3 Dynamics of N₂O emission under different treatments during the incubation experiment, the top sub-figure is the Ctrl level treatments, the middle sub-figure is the Fert level without freezing-thawing treatments, the bottom sub-figure is the Fert level with freezing-thawing treatments, given is the mean \pm 1SE (n=4), the dash lines separate the different phases of experiment, the solid arrow indicates application of N fertilizer and NI, the dash arrow indicates application of NI only.

Chapter 2



Figure 4 Cumulative N₂O emission under different treatments during the whole experiment (top left) and split by phases (conditioning phase – top right, cooling-warming phase – bottom left) and emission factors (bottom right). The treatments Ctrl and Fert refer to the control and with N fertilizer, respectively; Fert-F0 and Fert-F1 refer to the Fert levels without and with freezing-thawing, respectively. Straw refers to the treatments with straw application, NI refer to the treatments with nitrification inhibitor application. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n=4). Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by ANOVA with contrast is given on the top, with *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001.

3.2 N remineralization and N₂O emission after cooling-warming and freezing- thawing Straw addition increased cumulative CO₂ emissions throughout the cooling-warming phase (two-folds, p<0.001, Fig. S1 B), but the increase was significantly less than that observed in the conditioning phase, reflecting exhausting of available C sources in straw addition treatments during the conditioning phase.

During the cooling-warming phase, total Nmin showed little difference in magnitude from the conditioning phase, except after N fertilization, where Nmin levels doubled (fertilization) and tripled (fertilization-NI) in treatments without straw addition (Figure 2). This effect was mainly due to the strong increase of NO_3^- levels in the fertilized pots. N fertilization increased soil NO_3^- by 5.5 times (p<0.001), while straw addition reduced it by half (p<0.05). The effect of NI depended on N fertilization and straw addition: NI increased NO_3^- by 46 % in the absence of straw addition when fertilized (p<0.001).

Total amounts of NH₄⁺ had increased by 80.4% on average after cooling warming and freezingthawing without significant differences between no-frost and frost treatments. NI application strongly enhanced the amounts of NH₄⁺ in fertilization levels (p<0.001), while straw addition strongly reduced the positive effect of NI on the availability of NH₄⁺ (p=0.09). Similar to CO₂, N₂O showed two emission peaks, but in contrast to CO₂, the one at the onset of the conditioning phase was approximately half of the massive peak occurred directly after the end of the cooling phase (Figure 3). The first (day 1-14 in conditioning phase) and second (day 61-67 in warming phase) N₂O emission peaks contributed 33 % and 56 % of the total cumulative N₂O emission, respectively, therefore these two N₂O emission peaks dominated the pattern of total cumulative N₂O emission.

Straw addition, fertilization and NI had variable effects on cumulative N₂O emissions of different phases (Figure 4). Fertilization increased the cumulative N₂O emissions of cooling-warming phase by 5-folds compared to no fertilization treatments (p<0.001), freezing-thawing increased it by 29.2 % compared to cooling-warming treatments (p<0.001), while not in the case of having both straw addition and NI (p=0.388). NI decreased N₂O emissions under fertilization for the cooling-warming and freezing-thawing temperature treatments by 12.6 and 30.9 %, respectively (p<0.001).

3.3 N transformation gene abundances

The gene abundances of denitrifiers were higher than those of nitrifiers, and the nirS abundances was in general lower than abundancies of nirK and nosZ (Figure 5). Denitrifiers were affected mostly by freezing-thawing treatment, it increased nirK, nirS and nosZ by 3-folds (p<0.001), 9-folds (p<0.001), and 1.5-folds (p<0.001), respectively, in comparison with cooling-warming treatment. The freezing-thawing also increased AOB by 1.5-folds (p<0.001) and was dependent on straw application (p<0.001). Straw addition increased gene abundances of denitrifiers nirK, nirS and nosZ under no fertilization levels by 3-folds (p<0.01), 2.6-folds (p<0.001) and 2.7-folds (p<0.001), respectively. Straw addition increased AOA by 2.7-folds if unfertilized treatments without NI (p<0.001) are compared. N fertilization decreased AOB, nirS and nosZ by 67 % (p<0.001), 86.5 % (p<0.001) and 13.1 % (p<0.05), respectively. In the absence of straw addition and freezing-thawing, NI increased the AOA, AOB, nirK, nirS and nosZ by 42.9 % (p<0.001), 19.6 % (p<0.05), 68.2 % (p<0.05), 60.3 % (p<0.01) and 36.5 % (p<0.01), respectively. NI increased AOA by 13 % on average (F[1,57]=5, p<0.05).



Chapter 2

Figure 5 N cycling functional gene abundances of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria (AOB) and archaea (AOA), NO₂⁻ reductase nirK and nirS, nitrous oxide reductase nosZ under different treatments. The treatments Ctrl and Fert refer to the control and with N fertilizer, respectively; Fert-F0 and Fert-F1 refer to the Fert levels without and with freezing-thawing, respectively. Straw refers to the treatments with straw application, NI refer to the treatments with nitrification inhibitor application. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n=7). Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by ANOVA with contrast is given on the top, with *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001.

3.4 Reduction of N losses due to leaching and N₂O emissions

As hypothesized, total N losses (gaseous N₂O-N emissions plus leached mineral N) increased by half with N-fertilisation (p<0.001), whereas total N losses were reduced by both NI and straw addition (p<0.001). Overall, NI reduced N-losses under both fertilisation treatments (no-frost and freezing-thawing) by 35.5 % on average (p<0.001). However, the effect of straw additionwas dependent on N-fertilisation with N-losses decreasing by 72.8 (p<0.001) and 20.6 % (p<0.001) in no fertilization and fertilization-no frost treatments, respectively. Freezing-thawing decreased the total N losses by 31.6 % on average (p<0.001) and this happened mainly due to the relative decrease of leachate volume if frost and no-frost fertilized treatment are compared (Supplementary Fig. 2).

When the factors were considered separately, fertilization increased N lost through leaching by 44.9% (p < 0.001) and straw addition reduced N leaching by an average of 70% (p < 0.001). NI reduced the N leaching if all treatments with and without NI were compared (p < 0.001), the only significant NI effect on N leaching was in fertilization-no frost treatments in the absence of straw addition (p < 0.001). Freezing-thawing reduced it by 66.3 % on average (p < 0.001), if fertilization-no frost and fertilization-frost treatments are compared.

N fertilization increased the total cumulative N₂O emissions by 5.5-folds (p < 0.001), straw addition increased it by 2.8-folds in fertilized microcosms (p < 0.001), and NI decreased it by 42.3 % in fertilized treatments (p < 0.001). As a result, straw addition increased the N₂O emission factors during the whole experiment by 3 times (p < 0.001), while NI decreased them by half (p < 0.001).



Figure 6 N lost from soil as N₂O and leachate under different treatments during the whole experiment. The treatments Ctrl and Fert refer to the control and with N fertilizer, respectively; NI refer to the treatments with nitrification inhibitor application. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n=4).



Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by ANOVA with contrast is given on the top, with *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001.

Figure S2 Amount of leaching N from ammonium, nitrate, volume of leachate, concentration of leaching N from ammonium, nitrate under different treatments. The treatments Ctrl and Fert refer to the control and with N fertilizer, respectively; Fert-F0 and Fert-F1 refer to the Fert levels without and with freezing-thawing, respectively. Straw refers to the treatments with straw application, NI refers to the treatments with nitrification inhibitor application. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n=7). Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by ANOVA with contrast is given on the top, with *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001.

3.5 Pathways leading to N losses as disclosed by structural equation model

The SEM explained 77 % of variation of N₂O emission during cooling-warming phase. Soil NH₄⁺ decreased N₂O emission directly (λ =-0.2, p<0.001), but increased soil NO₃⁻ by nitrification (λ =0.39, p<0.001). Soil NO₃⁻ increased N₂O emission directly (λ =0.35, p<0.001), but decreased AOB (λ =-0.69, p<0.001). nirK increased N₂O emission (λ =0.44, p<0.001) and AOB decreased N₂O emission (λ =-0.51, p<0.001), respectively. As a result, the N₂O emission after freezing-thawing was contributed mostly by soil NO₃⁻ of cooling-warming phase (0.71) and nirK (0.44), but decreased by AOB (-0.51), soil NH₄⁺ (0.06) had tiny effect on the N₂O emission.

Chapter 2



Figure 7 Structural equation model (SEM) of conditioning phase showing the hypothesized causal relationships between N_2O emission and soil mineral N, gene abundance of AOB and nirK. The NH4 2^{nd} and NO3 2^{nd} indicate the soil mineral N of cooling-warming phase.

3.6 Global warming potential of GHG

When computing the GWP of two gases, CO₂ and N₂O, the CO₂ emission was dominant, therefore the pattern is the same as the total cumulative CO₂ emission, straw addition increased the GWP by 4.6-fold (p < 0.001). Because of the contribution of N₂O, N fertilization increased GWP by 14.7 % (p < 0.001) in the presence of straw addition, NI decreased GWP by 4.6 % (p < 0.001) in the presence of N fertilization.



Figure S3 Global warming potential of CO₂ and N₂O gases. Given is the mean \pm 1SE (n=4). Significant treatment and interaction effects as revealed by ANOVA with contrast is given on the top, with *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; and ***, p < 0.001.

4. Discussion

The cumulative N_2O emission in our experiment was increased by fertilizer and straw addition, and decreased by the addition of nitrification inhibitor, however, the effects of these treatments differ between phases of our experiment (Figure 3, Figure 4).

4.1 N2O emission before cooling-warming

During the conditioning phase, straw addition strongly increased soil N₂O emission (Figure 3, Figure 4, p < 0.001). Numerous reports have shown that the addition of soil organic matter with readily decomposable organic C can stimulate denitrification by increasing respiration (through the creation of anoxic microsites) and by supplying energy to denitrifiers (Burford and Bremner, 1975; Firestone and Davidson, 1989; Köster et al., 2015; Weier et al., 1993). Straw addition resulted in dramatically increased CO₂ and N₂O emissions compared to the non-straw-amended soils (Figure S1), indicating stimulated microbial activity and greater denitrification rate; denitrification was considered to be the main process leading to increased N₂O fluxes specifically in straw-amended soils (Wu et al., 2017).

However, the reports of straw addition affect soil N2O emission are inconsistent, straw addition could have positive, neutral or negative effects on N2O emission, which depends on the quality of straw, soil and fertilization management (Wu et al., 2020). Straw application under reduced N fertilizer and drip irrigation neither increased the N2O emission nor decreased the crop N uptake compared to the treatments without straw (Zhao et al., 2021). However, under flooding irrigation conditions, adding organic matter stimulated N₂O losses (Wang et al., 2018). Generally, straw amendment in conjunction with NO₃⁻ can cause higher soil N₂O emissions under conditions favouring denitrification (Wu et al., 2018). We argue that the effects of straw addition on N₂O emission could be highly affected by soil water content and N content, for example, in wet soil with enough mineral N, the straw addition easily induced anaerobic environment by increasing soil respiration, which stimulates denitrification strongly and increases N₂O emission; while in dry soil, straw decomposed slowly and increased soil respiration slightly, the soil is still aerobic and unfavourable for denitrification, but straw addition stimulated the growth of microbes and retained soil mineral N, thus decreased N₂O emission by reducing available N for nitrification. It has been revealed that N2O emissions in response to straw addition were largely regulated by the timing of N fertilizer and straw application: the simultaneous application of straw and urea could boost the fast development of anoxic zones caused by the rapid degradation of straw together with ammonium nitrification, thus induced higher N₂O emission; but the N fertilization delayed for 3 weeks could untangle the coupling effects of straw and N fertilizers on N₂O stimulation (Ye et al., 2023). We recommend that apply the straw enough time before fertilization, so when the straw is decomposed, there is not enough N resource for denitrification and N₂O emission, which is same with the situation of no fertilization treatments during the whole experiment phases (Figure 4).

NI reduced N₂O emission significantly, we assumed that at the beginning of the experiment, after adding fertilizer (NH₄)₂SO₄ and NI, NI inhibited nitrification, decreased soil NO₃⁻ while increased NH₄⁺ compared with treatments without NI, which can be also indicated by the obvious decrease of N₂O emission in this phase (in the first two weeks). NI reduces N₂O emission by directly decreasing the nitrification rate and furtherly reducing the NO₃⁻ concentration as substrate for denitrification (Chen et al., 2019). NI decreased N₂O emission

of fertilization levels in conditioning phase, while NI did not reduce the N₂O emission of no fertilization levels, because no N fertilizer was added in no fertilization levels (Figure 4). However, NI had no strong effect on soil mineral N during conditioning phase, because the mean soil nitrification rate was $3.82 \text{ mg kg}^{-1} \text{ day}^{-1}$ in croplands, and positively related with temperature (Li et al., 2020). After 4 weeks when we measured the soil mineral N contents at the end of conditioning phase, most of soil NH₄⁺ was already transferred to NO₃⁻, thus, no significant effects of NI on soil mineral N were detected (Figure 2).

We assumed that during the first two weeks of the experiment when the first emission peak happened, both nitrification and denitrification contributed to the N₂O emission. Because straw addition leads to a simultaneous emission peak of CO₂ and N₂O, and the increase in CO₂ indicates a decrease of O₂ content in the soil, which favours denitrification. While NI inhibited N₂O emission in this phase efficiently and N₂O emission was positively corelated with soil NH₄⁺ content, which means that nitrification was also a pathway of N₂O emission.

4.2 N₂O emission after cooling-warming

During the cooling-warming phase of the experiment we observed an N₂O emission peak and the increase in soil NH₄⁺ and NO₃⁻ content differing between N fertilization variants (no fertilization, fertilization) reflecting thus the remineralization of previously immobilized N (Figure 2, Figure 3). It is reported that elevated temperature drives microbial N cycling from anabolic processes (i.e. speculated from decreased microbial biomass N) to catabolic (i.e. increased N mineralization) processes, regardless of the presence or absence of plants (Dai et al., 2020). Thus, less N was converted to microbial biomass and a relatively larger fraction of organic N was released as NH₄⁺ by N mineralization. This change leads to increased inorganic N availability (e.g. NH4⁺) and its subsequent processing (e.g. nitrification, denitrification) in the soil environment (Wang et al., 2020b). Similar effect was observed by Cookson et al (2002) that decreasing soil temperature from 15 to 2 °C caused an initial increase in mineral-N and quickly followed by rapid immobilization of mineral-N, microbial biomass N and gross immobilization increased with decreasing soil temperature; increasing temperature from 2, 5 or 10 °C to 15 °C caused a rapid increase in soil NO₃⁻ concentration and gross mineralization and nitrification rates, but less mineral-N was released if incubated at a constant 15 °C (Cookson et al., 2002). It indicates a potential risk of N losses during the substantial cooling-warming cycle, which happens in early spring frequently (Cameron et al., 2013). Generally, experimental warming significantly increased the net mineralization, net nitrification and denitrification rates (Yin et al., 2012), increased N₂O emission. On the other hand, the soil water content was increased from 50 % water holding capacity to 70 % water holding capacity before collecting leachate, which increased the soil denitrification (Thilakarathna and Hernandez-Ramirez, 2021). The N2O emission rate of all treatments was similar during cooling, but during warming, the N₂O emission rate of Fert levels was obviously higher than that of no fertilization levels, indicate that the N fertilizer stimulated the emission peak during warming. We assumed that the significant higher soil NO_3^- of fertilization levels provided substrate for denitrification, which produced more N₂O than that of no fertilization levels. Qiu et al (2018) reported that the increased N₂O emission was caused by warming enhancement of soil NO₃⁻-N substrate and the microbial community, significantly higher abundances of nirK and nirS provided direct evidence illustrating that warming stimulated denitrifiers, and nirK communities were more sensitive to temperature

changes than nirS communities, which is similar with our research that nirK was positively correlated with N₂O emission during cooling-warming.

In the meanwhile, compared with conditioning phase, the soil NO_3^- was increased during cooling-warming phase in fertilization levels but not in no fertilization levels, we assumed that the increased soil NO_3^- came from mineralized soil NH_4^+ through nitrification. However, the nitrification was not the major pathway of N₂O emission in this phase (SEM, Figure 7), denitrification contributed mostly of N₂O emission during this phase, because soil NO_3^- and nirK contributed mostly to N₂O emission but soil NH_4^+ and AOB decreased N₂O emission (Figure 7). In addition, the soil NH_4^+ of no fertilization and fertilization levels were similar during cooling-warming, but the soil NO_3^- of fertilization levels were higher than no fertilization levels, indicating that soil NO_3^- was the factor that induced difference of N₂O emission between different N levels.

Freezing-thawing increased N₂O emission compared to the treatments without freezing (Figure 4, p < 0.01). This may be due to (i) degradation of diffusion barriers after thawing; (ii) increased soil moisture during thawing under anaerobic environment; and (iii) strong acclimation of denitrifiers to the changing environment and rapid recovery during thawing. (Gao et al., 2018). Freezing-thawing increased the gene abundances of nirk, nirS (Figure 5, p < 0.01), which explained the effect of freezing on N₂O emission. However, the increase of N₂O (5.5-37.9%) caused by freezing in our experiment was less than that found by many researches (Song et al., 2017; Wagner-Riddle et al., 2017). We assume that on the basis of alternating cooling-warming, freezing-thawing would not strongly increase N₂O emission as compared with treatments experienced cooling-warming. If there were treatments without cooling phase but incubated continuously in the greenhouse, freezing would have a large increase of N₂O emission compared to them. Because the N₂O emission rates of all treatments were quite low at the end of conditioning phase (Figure 3), if no fluctuation of soil temperature or moisture, no N₂O emission peak should be in the next phases of experiment.

Straw addition had no effect on N_2O emission after cooling (Figure 4), we assumed that the straw was decomposed already before warming phase, thus did not increase the soil CO_2 emission, did not reduce the soil O_2 content and provided no additional substrate for denitrification.

During warming-thawing, a slight downtrend of N_2O emission after cooling was observed with NI amendment (this trend was more pronounced under freezing thawing, figure 4), we assumed the reason is either nitrification contributed much less than denitrification to N_2O production during this phase, or the NI was leached into subsoil, thus the effects was diminished.

During the cooling-warming phase, NI had effect on soil NH_4^+ and NO_3^- in the absence of straw addition (NIxStraw interaction), indicating straw addition inhibiting the effects of NI by immobilizing N (Ma et al., 2019). NI increased soil NH_4^+ in fertilization levels but not in no fertilization levels (NIxN fertilizer interaction), because there was exogenous N in fertilization treatments.

4.3 N losses from soil

N lost as N₂O and leachate was reduced by straw addition which resulted from the decreased N leaching (Figure 6, p < 0.001). Straw addition increased the N lost from N₂O emission, but

the combination of NI could mitigate the increased N₂O emission caused by straw addition. In our experiment, the leaching N (accounted for around 1% of fertilizer N) was much less than the field situation (Abdalla et al., 2019), we assumed that straw should have stronger mitigation of N losses under the field conditions. Contrary to the former researches that freezing-thawing increased N leaching (Gao et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2020a), in our study the freezing-thawing decreased N leaching, thus decreased total N losses especially in the absence of straw addition. Freezing-thawing increased the volume and porosity of the soil (Xie et al., 2015), thus, increased the ability of soil water retention, since we added water to a constant soil water content in all the treatments, freezing-thawing decreased the leachate volume. Freezing decreased leached N because it also decreased first, leachate volume, second, N concertation of leachate (data not shown), resulting in decreased N amount in leachate (Hentschel et al., 2008). In the field, freezing reduce the soil water evaporation and during thawing the meltwater increase soil water content results in leaching (Kreyling et al., 2020). While in our study we adjusted the soil water content constantly, counteracted the effects of increased soil moisture during thawing. The ammonia volatilization is negatively correlated with soil moisture below 60% water holding capacity (McGarry et al., 1987) and correlated with the drying-rewetting of soil surface (Hargrove, 1988), the soil was kept constantly at 50% water holding capacity in our study, which reduces the potential of ammonia volatilization. In our reach, we collected the leachate 2 months after fertilization when most of the soil NH4⁺ was transferred into NO3⁻, so the effect of NI on N leaching was weaker than straw addition. But still, NI decreased the N leaching under fertilization level in the absence of straw addition and freezing-thawing. WSA also inhibited the capacity of NI in soil mineral content and all the gene abundance in our study, which is similar with the other research that straw application decreased the effects of NIs because NIs can be adsorbed on organic matter and clay mineral surfaces (Lin and Hernandez-Ramirez, 2020). But in the field situation, the rainfall and irrigation after fertilization will cause obviously N leaching, and the NI will reduce the N leaching from soil when the soil NH₄⁺ content is enough.

Conclusions

In the whole experiment phase, straw increased N₂O emission by stimulating denitrification and NI reduced N₂O emission by inhibiting nitrification once after application, indicating both nitrification and denitrification contributed to the N₂O emission before cooling-warming cycle. Cooling-warming induced strong N mineralization and inspired N₂O emission peak and freezing-thawing increased the N₂O emission furtherly by denitrification, but straw addition and NI had no effect during this phase. Straw addition mitigated the total N losses by reducing N leaching, we suggest applying straw when the soil inorganic N and moisture is under low content, could avoid causing N₂O emission from denitrification.

Acknowledgement

We thank the China Scholarship Council (CSC) for funding Hao Chen in Germany. The project was funded by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) as part of the BonaRes initiative, in the project INPLAMINT: 'Increasing agricultural nutrient-use efficiency by optimizing plant-soil-microorganism interactions' (BMBF-FKZ 031B0508F).

Refences

- Abdalla, M. et al., 2019. A critical review of the impacts of cover crops on nitrogen leaching, net greenhouse gas balance and crop productivity. Global change biology, 25(8): 2530-2543.
- Aulakh, M.S. and Doran, J., 2001. Effects of 4-amino 1, 2, 4-triazole, dicyandiamide and encapsulated calcium carbide on nitrification inhibition in a subtropical soil under upland and flooded conditions. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 33(3): 258-263.
- Barneze, A.S., Minet, E.P., Cerri, C.C. and Misselbrook, T., 2015. The effect of nitrification inhibitors on nitrous oxide emissions from cattle urine depositions to grassland under summer conditions in the UK. Chemosphere, 119: 122-129.
- Burford, J.R. and Bremner, J.M., 1975. Relationships between the denitrification capacities of soils and total, water-soluble and readily decomposable soil organic matter. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 7(6): 389-394.
- Cameron, K.C., Di, H.J. and Moir, J.L., 2013. Nitrogen losses from the soil/plant system: a review. Annals of applied biology, 162(2): 145-173.
- Chen, H., Li, X., Hu, F. and Shi, W., 2013. Soil nitrous oxide emissions following crop residue addition: A meta-analysis. Global Change Biology, 19(10): 2956-2964.
- Chen, H. et al., 2023. Straw amendment and nitrification inhibitor controlling N losses and immobilization in a soil cooling-warming experiment. 870: 162007.
- Chen, H., Zhou, J., Li, B. and Xiong, Z., 2019. Yield-scaled N2O emissions as affected by nitrification inhibitor and overdose fertilization under an intensively managed vegetable field: A three-year field study. Atmospheric Environment, 206: 247-257.
- Chen, K.-E., Chen, H.-Y., Tseng, C.-S. and Tsay, Y.-F., 2020. Improving nitrogen use efficiency by manipulating nitrate remobilization in plants. Nature Plants, 6(9): 1126-1135.
- Congreves, K.A., Voroney, R.P., O'Halloran, I.P. and Van Eerd, L.L., 2013a. Broccoli residue-derived nitrogen immobilization following amendments of organic carbon: An incubation study. Canadian Journal of Soil Science, 93(1): 23-31.
- Congreves, K.A., Vyn, R.J. and Van Eerd, L.L., 2013b. Evaluation of conditioning organic carbon amendments as a strategy to minimize nitrogen losses in cole crop production. Agronomy, 3(1): 181-199.
- Cookson, W., Cornforth, I. and Rowarth, J., 2002. Winter soil temperature (2–15 C) effects on nitrogen transformations in clover green manure amended or unamended soils; a laboratory and field study. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 34(10): 1401-1415.
- Cui, M., Zeng, L., Qin, W. and Feng, J., 2020. Measures for reducing nitrate leaching in orchards: A review. Environmental Pollution, 263: 114553.
- Dai, Z. et al., 2020. Elevated temperature shifts soil N cycling from microbial immobilization to enhanced mineralization, nitrification and denitrification across global terrestrial ecosystems. Global Change Biology, 26(9): 5267-5276.
- Diacono, M. and Montemurro, F., 2011. Long-term effects of organic amendments on soil fertility, Sustainable agriculture volume 2. Springer, pp. 761-786.
- Dobbie, K., McTaggart, I. and Smith, K., 1999. Nitrous oxide emissions from intensive agricultural systems: variations between crops and seasons, key driving variables, and mean emission factors. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 104(D21): 26891-26899.
- Duan, P., Wu, Z., Zhang, Q., Fan, C. and Xiong, Z., 2018. Thermodynamic responses of ammonia-oxidizing archaea and bacteria explain N2O production from greenhouse vegetable soils. Soil Biology Biochemistry, 120: 37-47.

- Federolf, C.-P., Westerschulte, M., Olfs, H.-W., Broll, G. and Trautz, D., 2016. Enhanced nutrient use efficiencies from liquid manure by positioned injection in maize cropping in northwest Germany. European Journal of Agronomy, 75: 130-138.
- Firestone, M.K. and Davidson, E.A., 1989. Microbiological basis of NO and N2O production and consumption in soil. Exchange of Trace Gases between Terrestrial Ecosystems and The Atmosphere, 47: 7-21.
- Gao, D. et al., 2018. Responses of terrestrial nitrogen pools and dynamics to different patterns of freeze-thaw cycle: A meta-analysis. Global Change Biology, 24(6): 2377-2389.
- German, D.P. et al., 2011. Optimization of hydrolytic and oxidative enzyme methods for ecosystem studies. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 43(7): 1387-1397.
- Hao, X., Chang, C., Carefoot, J.M., Janzen, H.H. and Ellert, B.H., 2001. Nitrous oxide emissions from an irrigated soil as affected by fertilizer and straw management. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 60(1): 1-8.
- Hargrove, W., 1988. Evaluation of ammonia volatilization in the field. Journal of production agriculture, 1(2): 104-111.
- Hentschel, K., Borken, W. and Matzner, E., 2008. Repeated freeze-thaw events affect leaching losses of nitrogen and dissolved organic matter in a forest soil. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science, 171(5): 699-706.
- Huang, T., Yang, H., Huang, C. and Ju, X., 2017. Effect of fertilizer N rates and straw management on yield-scaled nitrous oxide emissions in a maize-wheat double cropping system. Field Crops Research, 204: 1-11.
- Irigoyen, I., Muro, J., Azpilikueta, M., Aparicio-Tejo, P. and Lamsfus, C., 2003. Ammonium oxidation kinetics in the presence of nitrification inhibitors DCD and DMPP at various temperatures. Soil Research, 41(6): 1177-1183.
- ISO, 2005. ISO 10390: 2005 Soil Quality-Determination of pH. Geneva: International Organization for Standardization, 1.
- Jenkinson, D.S. and Ladd, J.N., 1981. Microbial biomass in soil: measurement and turnover. Soil Biochemistry, 5(1): 415-471.
- John, K. et al., 2020. Earthworms offset straw-induced increase of greenhouse gas emission in upland rice production. Science of The Total Environment, 710: 136352.
- Köster, J.R. et al., 2015. Anaerobic digestates lower N2O emissions compared to cattle slurry by affecting rate and product stoichiometry of denitrification–An N2O isotopomer case study. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 84: 65-74.
- Kreyling, J., Schumann, R. and Weigel, R., 2020. Soils from cold and snowy temperate deciduous forests release more nitrogen and phosphorus after soil freeze-thaw cycles than soils from warmer, snow-poor conditions. Biogeosciences, 17(15): 4103-4117.
- Kumar, A., Dorodnikov, M., Splettstößer, T., Kuzyakov, Y. and Pausch, J., 2017. Effects of maize roots on aggregate stability and enzyme activities in soil. Geoderma, 306: 50-57.
- Kumar, A., Shahbaz, M., Blagodatskaya, E., Kuzyakov, Y. and Pausch, J., 2018. Maize phenology alters the distribution of enzyme activities in soil: Field estimates. Applied Soil Ecology, 125: 233-239.
- Kumar, R. et al., 2020. Strong hydroclimatic controls on vulnerability to subsurface nitrate contamination across Europe. Nature communications, 11(1): 1-10.
- Levy-Booth, D.J., Prescott, C.E. and Grayston, S., 2014. Microbial functional genes involved in nitrogen fixation, nitrification and denitrification in forest ecosystems. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 75: 11-25.

- Li, L., Konkel, J., Jin, V.L. and Schaeffer, S.M., 2021. Conservation management improves agroecosystem function and resilience of soil nitrogen cycling in response to seasonal changes in climate. Science of The Total Environment, 779: 146457.
- Li, X., Hu, F. and Shi, W., 2013. Plant material addition affects soil nitrous oxide production differently between aerobic and oxygen-limited conditions. Applied Soil Ecology, 64: 91-98.
- Li, Z. et al., 2019. Microbes drive global soil nitrogen mineralization and availability. Global change biology, 25(3): 1078-1088.
- Li, Z. et al., 2020. Global patterns and controlling factors of soil nitrification rate. Global Change Biology, 26(7): 4147-4157.
- Lin, S. and Hernandez-Ramirez, G., 2020. Nitrous oxide emissions from manured soils as a function of various nitrification inhibitor rates and soil moisture contents. Science of the Total Environment, 738: 139669.
- Ma, Q. et al., 2019. Does the incorporation of dicyandiamide and hydroquinone with straw enhance the nitrogen supplying capacity in soil? Applied Soil Ecology, 136: 158-162.
- Malhi, S. and Lemke, R., 2007. Tillage, crop residue and N fertilizer effects on crop yield, nutrient uptake, soil quality and nitrous oxide gas emissions in a second 4-yr rotation cycle. Soil Tillage Research, 96(1-2): 269-283.
- Marx, M.-C., Wood, M. and Jarvis, S.C., 2001. A microplate fluorimetric assay for the study of enzyme diversity in soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 33(12-13): 1633-1640.
- McCarty, G.W. and Bremner, J.M., 1990. Evaluation of 3-methylpyrazole-1-carboxamide as a soil nitrification inhibitor. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 9(3): 252-256.
- McGarry, S., O'Toole, P. and Morgan, M., 1987. Effects of soil temperature and moisture content on ammonia volatilization from urea-treated pasture and tillage soils. Irish Journal of Agricultural Research: 173-182.
- McGeough, K., Watson, C., Müller, C., Laughlin, R. and Chadwick, D., 2016. Evidence that the efficacy of the nitrification inhibitor dicyandiamide (DCD) is affected by soil properties in UK soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 94: 222-232.
- Menéndez, S., Barrena, I., Setien, I., González-Murua, C. and Estavillo, J.M., 2012.
 Efficiency of nitrification inhibitor DMPP to reduce nitrous oxide emissions under different temperature and moisture conditions. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 53: 82-89.
- Misselbrook, T.H. et al., 2014. An assessment of nitrification inhibitors to reduce nitrous oxide emissions from UK agriculture. Environmental Research Letters, 9(11): 115006.
- Monteux, S. et al., 2020. Carbon and nitrogen cycling in Yedoma permafrost controlled by microbial functional limitations. Nature Geoscience, 13(12): 794-798.
- Moorhead, D.L., Lashermes, G., Sinsabaugh, R.L.J.S.B. and Biochemistry, 2012. A theoretical model of C-and N-acquiring exoenzyme activities, which balances microbial demands during decomposition. 53: 133-141.
- Mosier, A.R., Halvorson, A.D., Reule, C.A. and Liu, X., 2006. Net global warming potential and greenhouse gas intensity in irrigated cropping systems in northeastern Colorado. Journal of Environmental Quality, 35(4): 1584-1598.
- Norton, J. and Ouyang, Y., 2019. Controls and adaptive management of nitrification in agricultural soils. Frontiers in microbiology: 1931.
- Oksanen, J. et al., 2013. Community ecology package. R package version, 2(0)
- Prasad, R. and Power, J., 1995. Nitrification inhibitors for agriculture, health, and the environment. Advances in Agronomy.

- Qiao, C. et al., 2015. How inhibiting nitrification affects nitrogen cycle and reduces environmental impacts of anthropogenic nitrogen input. Global Change Biology, 21(3): 1249-1257.
- Qin, Y., Liu, S., Guo, Y., Liu, Q. and Zou, J., 2010. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from organic and conventional rice cropping systems in Southeast China. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 46(8): 825-834.
- Reichel, R. et al., 2022. Spring barley performance benefits from simultaneous shallow straw incorporation and top dressing as revealed by rhizotrons with resealable sampling ports. Biology and Fertility of Soils: 1-14.
- Reichel, R. et al., 2018. Potential of wheat straw, spruce sawdust, and lignin as high organic carbon soil amendments to improve agricultural nitrogen retention capacity: an incubation study. Frontiers in plant science, 9: 900.
- Rosinger, C. and Bonkowski, M., 2021. Soil age and soil organic carbon content shape biochemical responses to multiple freeze-thaw events in soils along a postmining agricultural chronosequence. Biogeochemistry, 155(1): 113-125.
- Rosinger, C., Clayton, J., Baron, K. and Bonkowski, M., 2022. Soil freezing-thawing induces immediate shifts in microbial and resource stoichiometry in Luvisol soils along a postmining agricultural chronosequence in Western Germany. Geoderma, 408: 115596.
- Rosseel, Y., 2012. Lavaan: An R package for structural equation modeling and more. Version 0.5–12 (BETA). Journal of Statistical Software, 48(2): 1-36.
- Ruser, R. and Schulz, R., 2015. The effect of nitrification inhibitors on the nitrous oxide (N2O) release from agricultural soils—a review. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science, 178(2): 171-188.
- Shahzad, A.N., Qureshi, M.K., Wakeel, A. and Misselbrook, T., 2019. Crop production in Pakistan and low nitrogen use efficiencies. Nature Sustainability, 2(12): 1106-1114.
- Shan, J. and Yan, X., 2013. Effects of crop residue returning on nitrous oxide emissions in agricultural soils. Atmospheric Environment, 71: 170-175.
- Sieling, K. and Kage, H., 2006. N balance as an indicator of N leaching in an oilseed rapewinter wheat-winter barley rotation. Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 115(1-4): 261-269.
- Song, Y., Zou, Y., Wang, G. and Yu, X., 2017. Altered soil carbon and nitrogen cycles due to the freeze-thaw effect: A meta-analysis. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 109: 35-49.
- Tarafdar, J.C. and Claassen, N., 1988. Organic phosphorus compounds as a phosphorus source for higher plants through the activity of phosphatases produced by plant roots and microorganisms. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 5(4): 308-312.
- Thapa, R., Chatterjee, A., Awale, R., McGranahan, D.A. and Daigh, A., 2016. Effect of enhanced efficiency fertilizers on nitrous oxide emissions and crop yields: A meta-analysis. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 80(5): 1121-1134.
- Thers, H., Petersen, S.O. and Elsgaard, L., 2019. DMPP reduced nitrification, but not annual N2O emissions from mineral fertilizer applied to oilseed rape on a sandy loam soil. GCB Bioenergy, 11(12): 1396-1407.
- Thilakarathna, S.K. and Hernandez-Ramirez, G., 2021. Primings of soil organic matter and denitrification mediate the effects of moisture on nitrous oxide production. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 155: 108166.
- Tian, H. et al., 2020. A comprehensive quantification of global nitrous oxide sources and sinks. Nature, 586(7828): 248-256.
- Török, K. et al., 2014. Long-term outcome of nitrogen immobilization to restore endemic sand grassland in Hungary. Journal of Applied Ecology, 51(3): 756-765.

- van Duijnen, R., Roy, J., Härdtle, W. and Temperton, V.M., 2018. Precrop functional group identity affects yield of winter barley but less so high carbon amendments in a mesocosm experiment. Frontiers in Plant Science, 9: 912.
- Vance, E.D., Brookes, P.C. and Jenkinson, D.S., 1987. An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass C. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 19(6): 703-707.
- Wagner-Riddle, C. et al., 2017. Globally important nitrous oxide emissions from croplands induced by freeze-thaw cycles. Nature Geoscience, 10(4): 279-283.
- Wang, Q. et al., 2020a. Nitrate loading projection is sensitive to freeze-thaw cycle representation. Water Research, 186: 116355.
- Wang, Y. et al., 2020b. Effects of warming and elevated O3 concentrations on N2O emission and soil nitrification and denitrification rates in a wheat-soybean rotation cropland. Environmental Pollution, 257: 113556.
- Wang, Y. et al., 2018. Effect of irrigation and straw returning on soil CO2 emissions in greenhouse tomato. Transactions of the Chinese Society of Agricultural Engineering, 34(17): 76-81.
- Wei, J. et al., 2020. Chemical composition of high organic carbon soil amendments affects fertilizer-derived N2O emission and nitrogen immobilization in an oxic sandy loam. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 8: 15
- Wei, Q. et al., 2022. Responses of Soil N2O and CO2 Emissions and Their Global Warming Potentials to Irrigation Water Salinity. Atmosphere, 13(11): 1777.
- Wei, Q. et al., 2018. Subsurface watering resulted in reduced soil N2O and CO2 emissions and their global warming potentials than surface watering. Atmospheric Environment, 173: 248-255
- Weier, K.L., Doran, J.W., Power, J.F. and Walters, D.T., 1993. Denitrification and the dinitrogen/nitrous oxide ratio as affected by soil water, available carbon, and nitrate. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 57(1): 66-72.
- Wu, D. et al., 2017. Nitrification inhibitors mitigate N2O emissions more effectively under straw-induced conditions favoring denitrification. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 104: 197-207.
- Wu, D. et al., 2018. Straw amendment with nitrate-N decreased N2O/(N2O+ N2) ratio but increased soil N2O emission: A case study of direct soil-born N2 measurements. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 127: 301-304.
- Wu, L. et al., 2020. Nitrous oxide emissions in response to straw incorporation is regulated by historical fertilization. Environmental Pollution, 266: 115292.
- Xia, L. et al., 2018. Trade-offs between soil carbon sequestration and reactive nitrogen losses under straw return in global agroecosystems. Global Change Biology, 24(12): 5919-5932.
- Xie, S.-b., Jian-Jun, Q., Yuan-Ming, L., Zhi-Wei, Z. and Xiang-Tian, X., 2015. Effects of freeze-thaw cycles on soil mechanical and physical properties in the Qinghai-Tibet Plateau. Journal of Mountain Science, 12(4): 999-1009.
- Yang, B. et al., 2015. Mitigating net global warming potential and greenhouse gas intensities by substituting chemical nitrogen fertilizers with organic fertilization strategies in rice-wheat annual rotation systems in China: A 3-year field experiment. Ecological Engineering, 81: 289-297.
- Yao, Z. et al., 2017. Straw return reduces yield-scaled N2O plus NO emissions from annual winter wheat-based cropping systems in the North China Plain. Science of the Total Environment, 590: 174-185.
- Ye, X. et al., 2023. Delayed nitrogen application after straw and charred straw addition altered the hot moment of soil N2O emissions. European Journal of Soil Science: e13349.

- Yin, H., Chen, Z. and Liu, Q., 2012. Effects of experimental warming on soil N transformations of two coniferous species, Eastern Tibetan Plateau, China. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 50: 77-84.
- Yu, Y., Zhao, C., Zheng, N., Jia, H. and Yao, H., 2019. Interactive effects of soil texture and salinity on nitrous oxide emissions following crop residue amendment. Geoderma, 337: 1146-1154.
- Zavalloni, C. et al., 2011. Microbial mineralization of biochar and wheat straw mixture in soil: a short-term study. Applied Soil Ecology, 50: 45-51.
- Zerulla, W. et al., 2001. 3, 4-Dimethylpyrazole phosphate (DMPP)–a new nitrification inhibitor for agriculture and horticulture. Biology and Fertility of Soils, 34(2): 79-84.
- Zhang, J. et al., 2019. Substituting organic manure for compound fertilizer increases yield and decreases NH3 and N2O emissions in an intensive vegetable production systems. Science of the total environment, 670: 1184-1189.
- Zhao, Y. et al., 2021. Drip fertigation with straw incorporation significantly reduces N2O emission and N leaching while maintaining high vegetable yields in solar greenhouse production. Environmental Pollution 273: 116521.

Chapter 3 Gone and forgotten: facilitative effects of intercropping combinations did not carry over to affect barley performance in a follow-up crop rotation

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Gone and forgotten: facilitative effects of intercropping combinations did not carry over to affect barley performance in a follow-up crop rotation

Amit Kumar · Christoph Rosinger · Hao Chen · Siobhan Protic · Michael Bonkowski · Vicky M. Temperton

Received: 12 April 2021 / Accepted: 26 July 2021 © The Author(s) 2021

Abstract

Aim Intercropping often leads to improved productivity of individual species compared to monocultures. We have practically little knowledge of facilitation effects in different intercropping systems and their importance in creating soil legacies that can indirectly affect the succeeding crop in a crop rotation through plant-soil feedback (PSF) effects.

Methods To test this, we used a two-phased field experiment where we combined intercropping and crop rotation. During intercropping, we grew maize, faba bean, and lupine in monocultures or two-species crop combinations. The following season, we grew winter barley on the soil previously used for intercropping to test PSF effects under field conditions.

Results We found evidence for facilitative effects on aboveground biomass production that were

Responsible Editor: Kenny Png.

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-021-05104-7.

A. Kumar (⊠) · S. Protic · V. M. Temperton Institute of Ecology, Faculty of Sustainability, Leuphana University Lüneburg, Universitätsallee 1, 21335 Lüneburg, Germany e-mail: kumar@leuphana.de; aksoni089@gmail.com

C. Rosinger · H. Chen · M. Bonkowski Cologne Biocenter, University of Cologne, Zülpicher Straße 47b, 50674 Cologne, Germany species-specific with faba bean and maize biomass benefitting when intercropped compared to their expected biomasses in monocultures. Lupine, in contrast, performed best in monocultures. After the intercropping phase, total soil mineral nitrogen was higher in legume monocultures creating soil legacies but this did not affect soil microbial parameters and barley biomass production in the follow-up rotation phase. *Conclusions* We found support for species-specific positive and negative interactions in intercropping. Our results also demonstrated that soil legacies play no significant role under moderately high nutrient environments.

Keywords Soil legacies · Plant-soil feedback effects · Arbuscular mycorrhiza colonization · Enzyme activities · Microbial biomass · Belowground interactions

Introduction

To meet the projected food demand by 2050, agricultural production must increase by 60–110% and this increase should be environment-friendly through reduced usage of synthetic pesticides and fertilizers and increased ecological intensification (Tilman et al. 2011; Wezel et al. 2014). In this regard, Gurr et al. (2016) showed evidence that ecological intensification can be promoted by crop diversification. Through crop diversification, increasing the positive biodiversity effects, that is, higher productivity in mixed cultures than the corresponding monocultures, may help us enhance the ecological intensification. We have demonstrated knowledge where increasing plant species richness has shown to increase multiple ecosystem functions in forest (Huang et al. 2018) and grassland (Isbell et al. 2017) ecosystems. This knowledge may be applied in cropping systems to boost agricultural productivity. However, differences in experimental designs and management practices in both forest & grassland ecosystems and cropping systems make it difficult to apply the knowledge gained from the former to cropping systems. For instance, in cropping systems, different intercropping types (relay-, strip- and mixed intercropping) and planting densities have been used, whereas, in most of the biodiversity-ecosystem functioning experiments, planting densities remain constant whereas the proportion of plant species vary. Further, the cropping systems remain intensively managed as compared to forest and less intensive grasslands. Therefore, we require more evidence from cropping systems on relative biomass production with different crop combinations as regards the strength of facilitative interactions leading to enhanced productivity. In situations where facilitation is particularly strong, one could envisage that its effects may even carry over into a subsequent crop.

In cropping systems, crop diversification can be achieved either spatially by growing more than one cultivar or crop simultaneously in close proximity (intercropping) or temporally by growing different consecutive crops (crop rotation). The positive effects of intercropping are mediated through trait complementarity and plasticity as well as the facilitative effects of interacting plant species (summarized in Li et al. 2014) whereas, for crop rotation, such effects are mediated through indirect feedback interactions (Schnitzer et al. 2011; Mushonga et al. 2020). There is more evidence on the positive spatio-temporal crop diversification on plant productivity (Li et al. 2014; Gaudin et al. 2015; Zhang et al. 2017; Dong et al. 2018), but negative effects have also been observed (Polley et al. 2003; Bukowski et al. 2018). This suggests that such effects appear to be species-specific and to a larger extent depend on soil biotic and abiotic properties as well as environmental conditions (Van der Putten et al. 2013; Craven et al. 2016; Png et al. 2019). For instance, by growing 4 barley cultivars (Prague, Spire, Waggon, and Krystal) and 3 legumes (Trifolium subterranaeum, Ornithopus sativus, and Medicago trunculata) in monocultures and possible intercropping combinations, Darch et al. (2018) showed that, compared to monocultures, barley-legume intercropping resulted in an up to 40% increase in overall biomass production (combined of both crops in intercropping). This increase was dependent on soil P availability, with the highest gain occurring at or below the sub-critical P demand for barley. They further showed that intercropping of different cultivars of barley did not change their productivity compared to when growing in monocultures. Su et al. (2014) showed that even though the total chlorophyll content (chlorophyll a+chlorophyll b) of two soyabean cultivars increased in a relay intercropping with maize, the photosynthetic activity decreased as compared to their monocultures. This decreased photosynthetic activity was attributed to shading effects of maize. In an another wheat/maize relay intercropping system, the SPAD values (measure of leaf greenness) of maize decreased when intercropped with wheat (Li et al. 2020). This suggests that it is not always the bigger plant in the mixed cultures that suppress the growth of the 'subordinate' plant. The underlying mechanisms still need to be identified.

The cornerstone of crop rotation practices lies on the assumption of plant-soil feedback (PSF) effects, that is, a preceding plant alters the soil abiotic and biotic components that may ultimately affect succeeding plant performance (Bever 1994; Ehrenfeld et al. 2005). It has been shown how PSF effects contribute to overvielding in intercropping and the succeeding crops by altering soil microbial communities (Wang et al. 2017, 2020). As microbiome assemblages in the soil appear to be generally plant species-dependent (Panke-Buisse et al. 2015; Uroz et al. 2019), it is believed that having phylogenetically distinct preceding and succeeding plant species may disrupt the species-specific pathogen accumulation in soil, thereby resulting in negative PSF effects (better plant performance in soil previously grown with different species) (Bever 2003; Miller et al. 2019; Heinen et al. 2020). This ideology is not strongly supported by either empirical (Fitzpatrick et al. 2017; Ingerslew and Kaplan 2018; Kaplan et al. 2020) or synthesis (Mehrabi and Tuck 2015) evidence. For example, Ingerslew and Kaplan (2018) demonstrated using the PSF approach that the succeeding plant biomass (tomato) strongly depended on the identity of 36 plant species that previously trained the soil. However, this effect was independent of phylogenetic relatedness of tomato with the preceding plant species.

These findings urge us to identify optimal crop species combinations in intercropping as well as in the rotation with an overall positive interaction effect on both above- and belowground yields and processes, irrespective of their phylogenetic relatedness. As most of the biodiversity-ecosystem functioning and PSF effects knowledge is derived from noncropping systems, we have limited knowledge if these ecological interactions and underlying mechanisms can also be utilized in cropping systems to enhance productivity through ecological intensification. More specifically, there have been limited attempts to combine spatio-temporal diversity (intercropping together with crop rotation) in cropping systems (Karpenstein-Machan and Stuelpnagel 2000; Scalise et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2017, 2020; Kaplan et al. 2020). It is also not clear if different crop species that are performing better when intercropped would also create a positive soil legacy by improving soil nutrient contents, dilution of soil borne pathogens, and increased abundance of mutualists (e.g. arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi) that later would benefit the next crop in the rotation. It has recently been shown that identity of previous crop may lead to changes in AMF communities in soil that may persist over time to affect the follow-up crop (Roy et al. 2021). To fill this knowledge gap, we performed a field experiment comprising of two phases: an intercropping phase followed by a crop rotation phase. The intercropping phase consisted of monocultures and intercrops (a combination of two crops) of maize, faba bean, and lupine. The rotation phase had barley monocultures grown on soils from intercropping phase. The overall aim was two-fold: (1) identify the crop combinations in intercropping with overall enhanced biomass production relative to their expected biomasses in monocultures, and (2) to test the PSF effects of intercropping on soil biochemical parameters and barley biomass production in the rotation. Therefore, we hypothesized that:

- 1. Compared to monocultures, intercropped species will have a greater aboveground biomass production.
- 2. Intercropping would alter soil properties and create soil legacies which, in turn, affect the micro-

bial parameters & the performance of the next crop in the rotation through PSF effects.

Materials and methods

Experimental design and management

The field experiment started in May 2019 in an agricultural field in Lüneburg (53° 12' N and 10° 22' E), Germany. The climate is typical of temperate regions with mild summers and cold winters. The daily mean temperature and precipitation are shown in Supplementary Fig. 1. The agricultural field was under conventional practices with 800 kg ha⁻¹ chalk lime, 470 HAS (Harnstoff-Ammonsulfat) solution containing 20% N and 6% S, and 300 kg ha⁻¹ Caralonkali containing 12% P 30% K, 6% Mg, and 4% S applied for summer barley in 2018. Soil was slightly acidic (pH_{H20} 6) and classified as Cambisol and contained around 2.1% total C and 0.2% total N. The experiment comprised of block design in which five blocks were placed parallel to each other and six plots of 2×2 m were randomly placed inside each block, yielding a total of five replicates per monoculture and intercrop combination. In each block, plots were 1 m apart from each other to avoid edge effects. The experiment consisted of two phases: an intercropping phase and a rotation phase.

Phase 1: intercropping phase

Maize (Zea mays L. cv. Colisee), faba bean (Vicia faba L. cv. Tiffany), and white lupine (Lupinus albus L. cv. Energy) were grown in monocultures and intercrops of two species combinations (Fig. 1). Crops were grown in rows and intercrops had alternating rows of each species. Monocultures of maize (M-M), faba bean (Fb-Fb), and lupine (L-L) had planting densities of 12, 42, and 42 plants m⁻², respectively. In intercropping (maize + faba bean (M-Fb), maize + lupine (M-L), and faba bean + lupine (Fb-L)), the planting density of each species was reduced to half (6, 21, and 21 plants m⁻² for maize, faba bean, and lupine, respectively). All crop species were sown simultaneously within 2 days (9th and 10th May 2019) and crop weeds were removed weekly during the growing season.



May 2019

Jun 2019

Jul 2019

Aug

2019 20th August Harvest Faba bean

Sep 2019

Nov 2019

Dec 2019

Jan 2020

Feb 2020

Mar 2020

Apr 2020

May 2020

Jun 2020

Fig. 1 Upper panel shows the experimental design and layout with all the crop combinations and planting densities in monocultures and in the intercropping phase and that of barley in the subsequent rotation phase. The lower panel shows sowing and harvesting times for both the phases

SPAD measurements

Approximately on the 80th day after sowing, leaf greenness was measured as a proxy of chlorophyll content using a SPAD 502 Plus Chlorophyll Meter (SPAD-502-, Minolta Camera, Tokyo, Japan). We chose this time period as all the crop species were fully developed and were in their reproductive phase. For this, we randomly selected five plants from each crop species from both monocultures and intercrops. SPAD values were taken from two youngest yet fully developed healthy leaves at 10 points along the leaf length by avoiding edges and mid ribs. For faba bean and lupine, the measurements were distributed over the leaflets per leaf. Doing this, we had 4500 measurement points.

Harvest and soil sampling

On 20th and 30th August 2019, we harvested faba bean and lupine, respectively, whereas maize was harvested on 26th September 2019. This differential harvest date was chosen to allow complete maturity of each crop at harvest. We had initially planned to separate the grain yield from the total aboveground biomass at harvest, but due to a rust pathogen infection on the faba bean, we had to harvest before grain maturity. Since we did not have this separation in the faba bean, we decided in order to be consistent to treat all three species in the same way by measuring aboveground biomass. We randomly harvested 5, 10, and 10 plants of maize, faba bean, and lupine, respectively by cutting stem from soil surface towards the center of each plot to avoid edge effects at plot level. The harvested biomass was dried at 60 °C for 5 days to measure dry biomass and extrapolated to kg m⁻². The total aboveground biomass in intercrops for each species was calculated as difference between observed and expected values in intercrops compared to their respective monocultures to identify either positive or negative effects of intercropping on biomass production. For the expected aboveground biomass estimation for each crop species in intercrops, we halved their respective biomasses in monocultures to correct for planting density using paired monocultures and intercrops per block to account for block effects.

After maize harvest on 26th September 2019, all the plots experienced a fallow period of 12–13 days before rotation phase started (Fig. 1 lower panel). Prior to sowing winter barley in the rotation phase, we collected soil samples for loss-on-ignition and soil mineral N measurements to assess soil legacies created by intercropping phase.

Loss-on-ignition (LOI) was used as a proxy for soil organic matter (SOM). Pre-weighed fresh soil samples were first oven dried at 105 °C for overnight to remove the moisture content. Pre- and post-ignition (500 °C for 24 h) soil weight was recorded. Percent LOI was calculated as below:

$LOI(\%) = 100 \times$	$pre \cdot ignition \ weight(g) - post \cdot ignition \ weight(g)$
	$pre \cdot ignition \ weight(g)$

For ammonium (NH^{4+}) and nitrate (NO^{3-}) , 5 g of fresh soil were extracted in 20 ml of a 0.01 M CaCl₂ solution. After horizontal shaking for 30 min and subsequent centrifugation (for 5 min at 4500 rpm) and filtration (through a Whatman 595 filter paper), ammonium and nitrate concentrations were immediately determined using ion-selective electrodes (Nico 2000 Ltd, UK).

Phase 2: rotation phase

We grew winter barley (*Hordeum vulgare* vr. Meridian) in the same plots which were used for the previous intercropping phase to investigate if barley performance is affected by soil legacy created by intercropping through PSF effects. For this, barley seeds were hand sown in rows on 10th and 11th October 2019 at a planting density of 300 seeds m⁻². As it was impractical to hand-sow 30 plots of 2×2 m², we reduced the sowing area to 1×2 m (2 m²) per plot in the rotation phase. To facilitate sowing, we superficially ploughed all plots (~10 cm deep) and barley seeds were placed at 4–5 cm soil depth.

Harvest and soil sampling

Barley was harvested on 27th May 2020 from an area of 0.5×0.25 m². After harvesting barley, we randomly took 4 soil cores (4 cm inner diameter and 10 cm depth) from the harvested area by placing the soil cores on the cut stem. This allowed us to collect

soil and barley roots. Four cores were then pooled together to make one composite sample per plot and stored at 4 °C overnight before sieving (2 mm sieve) the next day. After the sieving process, the roots were transferred to 250 ml plastic bottles containing distilled water and shaken overnight to remove soil adhering to roots. Afterwards, roots were carefully washed and stored in 90% glycerol for later counting for root length colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi.

Microbial biomass and potential enzyme activities

Sieved soil samples were used to measure microbial biomass C and N by chloroform-fumigationextraction with modifications (Vance et al. 1987; Witt et al. 2000). Two sets of subsamples (5 g) were taken from fresh samples. One set was horizontally shaken in 25 ml of 0.5 M K₂SO₄ for 1 h and thereafter centrifuged for 5 min at 4500 rpm. Subsequently, 3 ml of the supernatant were transferred to another plastic vessel and stored frozen until they were analysed for dissolved organic C (DOC) and total dissolved N (TDN) with a TOC analyser (multi N/C 2100S, Analytik Jena, Germany). The other set of samples was fumigated with 50 ml of ethanol-free chloroform for 24 h. After fumigation, soil extractions and C and N measurements were performed as described above. Soil microbial biomass C and N were determined as the difference of fumigated and non-fumigated DOC and TDN, respectively. Microbial biomass C and N were corrected by extraction efficiency factors of 0.45 (Vance et al. 1987) and 0.54 (Brookes et al. 1985), respectively.

Microbial biomass C (or N)

$$\frac{DOC(or TDN)_{fumigated \ soil} - DOC(or TDN)_{non-fumigated \ soil}}{K_{EC(0.45)or \ EN(0.54)}}$$

Potential activities of leucine aminopeptidase (LAP), N-acetyl- β -D-glucosaminidase (NAG), β -glucosidase (GLU), and phosphomonoesterase (PHO) were measured fluorometrically according to the method described in Marx et al. (2001) and German et al. (2011). Briefly, 0.5 g of soil was suspended in 50 ml sterile deionized water, homogenized for 1 min in a sonication bath, and aliquots of 200 µl were subsequently pipetted under constant stirring into black 96-well microplates (Puregrade, Germany). Optimal

=

substrate concentrations and incubation times for substrates were evaluated ahead. 50 μ l of substrate solution were added to each well, followed by a 120 min incubation in the dark at 20 °C. Fluorescence was measured using a Perkin Elmer EnSpire multiplate reader with an excitation of 365 nm and an emission of 450 nm. Potential enzyme activity was expressed in units of nmol MUB/AMC cleaved g⁻¹ dry soil h⁻¹.

Barley root length colonization by AMF

AMF abundance was determined as root length colonization in percent. Fresh roots stored in 90% glycerol were cut into 1–1.5 cm fragments and cleared in 10% KOH for 20 min in a water bath at 80 °C. Afterward, roots were washed 4 times with distilled water and acidified for 10 min with 1% HCl and placed in a 2% blue ink in 1% HCl for 30 min at 80 °C before clearing them overnight in lactoglycerol (1:1:1) (Phillips and Hayman 1970; Vierheilig et al. 1998). Cleared root fragments were mounted on glass slides and the percent of root length colonization was quantified with the intersection method (McGonigle et al. 1990).

Statistics

All the statistical analyses were performed within R environment (Team 2020) and graphs were prepared with the 'ggplot2' (Wickham 2016) and 'ggpurb' (Kassambara 2020) libraries. The measured variables are presented as means with confidence intervals (CIs) of 95% that were computed by using non-parametric bootstrap resampling with 10,000 iterations. To avoid common statistical errors, we followed the step-wise protocol for data exploration (Zuur et al. 2010). The mean-variance relationship was visually checked from residual plots. We used 'glmmPQL' function from 'MASS' library (Venables and Ripley 2002) to fit generalized linear mixed models (GLMMs) followed by Type III ANOVA and Tukey's test for multiple contrasts to test if intercropping phase affected LOI, mineral N, barley shoot biomass, root length colonization with AMF, microbial C and N, and the potential activity of GLU, LAP, NAG, and PHO enzymes. For SPAD values, separate GLMMs were fit for each crop species followed by Type III ANOVA and Tukey's test for multiple contrasts as mentioned above. The absolute mean, bootstrap mean, and upper & lower CIs of the measured values were computed with 'rcompanion' library (Mangiafico 2020). We refer to significant differences at the p < 0.05 level but based on recent discussion on the significance and null hypothesis testing using $\alpha = 0.05$, we refrain from using the word 'significant' and mostly mention the mean differences between the treatments and effect sizes wherever possible (Ho et al. 2019; Rillig et al. 2019).

Results

Phase 1: intercropping phase

Aboveground biomass production and SPAD values

Total aboveground biomass was affected in intercrops relative to their monocultures and this effect was crop-specific. Aboveground biomass of faba bean and maize increased when intercropped whereas that of lupine decreased in intercropping irrespective of crop combinations. This increase was 65% and 47% for faba bean when intercropped with maize and lupine, respectively (Fig. 2, Supplementary table 2). Similarly, maize aboveground biomass increased by 135% and 131% in intercropping with faba bean and lupine, respectively. On the contrary, the aboveground biomass of lupine decreased by 28% and 36% when intercropped with maize and faba bean, respectively. At the species level, we found greatest SPAD values for lupine and the values remained similar in both monoculture and when intercropped. On the other hand, faba bean and maize had greater SPAD values in their monocultures compared to their intercropping independent of species combination (Supplementary Figure 2).

Legacy effects on soil properties

The total SOM content was unaffected after intercropping phase (Fig. 3a). The mineral N in the soil, however, showed the legacy effects created from the intercropping phase (Fig. 3b). For instance, compared to maize monoculture, legume monocultures had higher mineral N content in the soil (38% higher in Fb-Fb monoculture and 46% higher in L-L monoculture), whereas that of intercrops was in between.



Fig. 2 Effect sizes of crop species combinations on observed aboveground biomass production in intercropped combinations. Dashed lines indicate aboveground biomass of the respective monoculture. Values are the absolute differences between intercrops and monocultures for each crop species. Positive and negative values for each species represent greater or lower aboveground biomass in intercropping than its corresponding monoculture. Values are the means and 95% confidence intervals. Small dots represents individual replicates. Fb–L: faba bean + lupine intercrop, M-Fb: maize + faba bean intercrop

Phase 2: rotation phase

Microbial biomass and potential enzyme activities

In the rotation phase, microbial biomass C and N remained similar and did not vary depending on the intercropping phase. The same was true for microbial biomass C:N ratios (data not shown). Similarly, the potential activities of four measured enzymes were not dependent on the soil legacies from the intercropping phase (Fig. 4).

Root length colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi

The percent root length of barley colonized by AMF (as determined by staining technique) was affected by the intercropping phase (Fig. 5). Barley grown in soil previously trained by maize-faba bean (M-Fb) crop combination had the highest root length colonization (61%) followed by faba bean-lupine (Fb-L)



Fig. 3 a) Loss on ignition (%) as a proxy for soil organic matter (SOM) and b) soil mineral N (mg N kg⁻¹ soil) after the intercropping phase. Values are the means and 95% confidence intervals. Small dots represents individual replicates. M–M:

intercropping (56%). Barley root length colonized by AMF was lower when grown in soil from monocultures and the maize-lupine (M-L) intercrops.

Barley aboveground biomass production

Barley aboveground biomass varied from 0.25 to 0.37 kg m⁻² but the soil feedback effects from the intercropping phase had no effect on barley biomass production (Fig. 6).

Discussion

Positive effects of intercropping on aboveground biomass production are species-specific

In support of the first hypothesis, we showed positive effects of intercropping on aboveground biomass production and such effects were crop-specific and dependent on the exact combinations of species grown together (Fig. 2). Maize benefitted the most from facilitative interactions with the legumes. The mineral N accumulation that occurred only in legume monoculture plots underlines the importance of legume-grass interactions as strong candidates for creating facilitative interactions. Such crop-specific effects of intercropping on aboveground biomass production have previously been shown to be likely mediated by interspecific interactions and soil type

maize monoculture, Fb–Fb: faba bean monoculture, L–L: lupine monoculture, Fb–L: faba bean + lupine intercrop, M–Fb: maize + faba bean intercrop, M–L: maize + lupine intercrop. Refer to Supplementary table 1 for descriptive statistics

(Dissanayaka et al. 2015; Gou et al. 2016; Chen et al. 2019), with the underlying mechanisms varying with crop species identity. In intercropping systems of two crops growing simultaneously in close proximity, multiple scenarios may arise in terms of biomass production. For instance, in intercropping, (1) both crop species may benefit from each other thereby increasing their biomasses, (2) one crop species may benefit without affecting the performance of other species, (3) one species may benefit on the expense of other species, and (4) no benefit of intercropping on biomass production of both crop species.

In our study, we found that faba bean and maize had greater aboveground biomass production in in intercropping than their expected biomasses in monocultures (Fig. 2). Such stimulated productivity of maize and faba bean biomass has been attributed to inter-specific rhizosphere interactions, in which, root exudates from maize act as signaling molecules to induce faba bean root nodulation and consequently higher rates of biological N fixation (Li et al. 2016). Maize, on the other hand, gets access to soil nutrients such as N that is spared by faba bean but also to increased P availability through faba bean mediated by rhizosphere acidification (Li et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2016). It should also be noted that even though maize is found to be benefitting when intercropped with legumes (Sileshi et al. 2008; Chai et al. 2014; Latati et al. 2014), the aboveground biomass of maize



Fig. 4 a) Microbial biomass C (MBC, mg C kg⁻¹ soil), b) microbial biomass N (MBN, mg N kg⁻¹ soil), c) β -1,4glucosidase (GLU, nmol MUB cleaved g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹) activity, d) L-leucine aminopeptidase (LAP, nmol AMC cleaved g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹) activity, e) β -1,4-N-acetylglucosaminidase (NAG, nmol MUB cleaved g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹) activity, and f) phosphomonoesterase (PHO, nmol MUB cleaved g⁻¹ soil h⁻¹) activity in

the rotation phase when grown on soils trained from intercropping phase. Values are the means and 95% confidence intervals. Small dots represent individual experimental replicates. M-M: maize monoculture, Fb-Fb: faba bean monoculture, L-L: lupine monoculture, Fb-L: faba bean + lupine intercrop, M-Fb: maize + faba bean intercrop, M-L: maize + lupine intercrop. Refer to Supplementary table 1 for descriptive statistics

was exceptionally high in intercropping in the present study. Along with facilitation, this increase may additionally be attributed to the lowered competition for resources as a result of early harvest of faba bean and lupine than maize as well as reduced maize planting density when intercropped. Such temporal differentiation due to different harvesting period has been shown to significantly contribute to



Fig. 5 Barley root length colonization (%) by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in the rotation phase when grown on soils trained from intercropping phase. Values are the means and 95% confidence intervals. Small dots represent individual experimental replicates. M–M: maize monoculture, Fb–Fb: faba bean monoculture, L–L: lupine monoculture, Fb–L: faba bean + lupine intercrop, M–Fb: maize + faba bean intercrop, M–L: maize + lupine intercrop. Refer to Supplementary table 1 for descriptive statistics



Fig.6 Barley aboveground biomass (kg m⁻²) in the rotation phase when grown on soils trained from intercropping phase. Presented are the means and 95% confidence intervals. Small dots represents individual replicates. M–M: maize monoculture, Fb–Fb: faba bean monoculture, L–L: lupine monoculture, Fb–L: faba bean + lupine intercrop, M–Fb: maize + faba bean intercrop, M-L: maize + lupine intercrop. Refer to Supplementary table 1 for descriptive statistics

yield advantages in intercropping systems (Yu et al. 2015; Dong et al. 2018).

Next, we showed that when intercropped with lupine, the aboveground biomass production for faba bean and maize was greater (Fb-L and M-L) than their corresponding monocultures, whereas, the aboveground biomass of lupine decreased as compared to its monoculture. Lupines in nature tend to grow in large stands that dominate the surrounding vegetation, and hence evolutionarilyspeaking our results seem to underline this habit, in that it did not benefit from intercropping. The lower performance of lupine when intercropped also hints toward antagonistic inter-specific interactions negatively affecting lupine growth and is very likely that the competition for resources severely constrained lupine growth when intercropped. This notion is supported by the smaller SPAD values (a proxy for chlorophyll content) for faba bean and maize leaves in the intercropping than their corresponding monocultures whereas SPAD values were the highest and remained similar for lupine in both monoculture and intercropping with maize and faba bean. This finding indicated that energy and resource investments for photosynthetic activity was generally greater for lupine than both maize and faba bean and did not change depending on monocultures and intercropping. On the contrary, smaller SPAD values for maize and faba bean when intercropped may suggest reduction in inter-specific competition for resources and efficient resource investments in biomass production for both maize and faba bean. We are aware that SPAD values are only the measure for leaf greenness and the actual rate of photosynthesis in both monocultures and intercrops may vary. It has been shown that intercropping maize with lupine resulted in higher maize biomass production but there was a tendency of lower biomass for lupine (although not significant) compared to their monocultures (Dissanayaka et al. 2015). In support of our results, Hauggaard-Nielsen et al. (2008) found that narrow-leafed lupine (L.angustifolius L.) performance was lowered in intercropping with barley with a reduction in atmospheric N-fixation from 15 to 5–6 g N m⁻². Further investigations are required to quantify C costs for resource acquisition and biomass production for lupine before adopting lupine as a viable companion crop in intercropping and mixed cultures.

Soil legacies from intercropping phase did not affect soil microbial parameters and barley aboveground biomass production in the rotation phase

We showed that variation in soil mineral N was dependent on the intercropping phase, thereby, created soil N legacies (Fig. 3). Mineral N was greater in legume monocultures (both Fb-Fb and L-L) compared to maize monoculture, with in-between effect for intercropped combinations. This is very likely a result of residual N in soil from decomposition of high-N plant residues that was reported previously (Freschet et al. 2012). Lower C:N ratios of legume residues make them faster to decompose by microbes. Legumes are also known to increase soil N availability through rhizodeposition (Fustec et al. 2009) and biological N fixation (Jensen and Hauggaard-Nielsen 2003) that leads to facilitative effects on neighbors (Temperton et al. 2007). Temperton et al. (2007) found that legume presence across a gradient of grassland plant diversity in the Jena Experiment facilitated a grass and a forb species, but the exact effect was largest for the grass, with the forb only increasing leaf N but not growing larger with legumes. Contrary to our expectation (i.e. higher mineral N in intercropped combinations than maize monoculture) we found comparable amounts of mineral N in maize monoculture (M-M) and all the intercrop combinations. This contrasts with previous findings showing that plants in mixed cultures extracted more nutrients from soil than those in monocultures due to complementarity in resource acquisition (Levine and HilleRisLambers 2009; Yang et al. 2013; Hacker et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2015). However, in the present study, this could be an artifact as we only measured the mineral N (NO₃⁻ and NH₄⁺) after the intercropping phase which does not represent all N pools in soil. Depending on cropping systems, discrepancies in total and (in)organic N pools have been reported suggesting alteration in soil N pools after intercropping (Cong et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2015). Future studies would need to also measure organic N pools and mineralization rates to better understand soil N dynamics in relation to relative importance of organic and mineral N in intercropping settings. Similar to mineral N, we expected that faster decomposition of legume residues would increase the fraction of their residues that becomes a part of the SOM thereby increasing the total SOM content in soil. However, we found that the total SOM remained similar after intercropping phase. This finding suggests that the legume-derived SOM fraction decomposed quickly without affecting the total pool of SOM. This is plausible as one would expect an increased pool of particulate organic matter during early decomposition stages which is characterized by faster decomposition than the mineral associated organic matter pool. We suggest that future studies directly quantify the litter decomposition and its contribution in the formation of stable SOM from different cropping systems.

Soil legacies from intercropping phase neither affected the microbial parameters measured nor the aboveground biomass of barley in the rotation phase, thereby rejecting our second hypothesis. We found that, in the rotation phase, microbial biomass C and N, and their potential enzyme activities remained unchanged, suggesting an absence of strong PSF effects. In agreement with our findings, Wang et al. (2015) showed in a decade long mixed cropping experiment that even though the soil chemical parameters such as soil pH, exchangeable potassium, and cation exchange capacity varied depending upon cropping systems (monocultures versus continuous and rotational mixed cultures), the soil biological parameters such as activities of urease, phosphomonoesterase, and nitrate reductase remained largely unaffected. In an another experiment under rainfed conditions, Scalise et al. (2015) showed that legume-cereal intercropping had rather low impact compared to soil type and environmental factors on succeeding durum wheat productivity. Our findings are in contrast with results from Barel et al. (2019), where the identity of preceding crop affected the microbial biomass in the succeeding cropping phase. These discrepancies may arise from different plant species and nutrient availability in different soil types under investigation. For example, total N and total P content was higher in the present study than that found in Barel et al. (2019), and soil nutrient availability has strong regulation on microbial community composition and their activities (Olander and Vitousek 2000; Bell et al. 2015; Kumar et al. 2018) as well as the PSF effects (in't Zandt et al. 2019; Klinerová and Dostál 2019).

No change in barley aboveground biomass production in the rotation phase suggests that PSF effects are context dependent and edaphic factors may, in part, play a significant role. It further suggests that the generally observed positive plant-microbial interaction and plant performance in nutrient-limited soils may fade with higher nutrient availability. Our results are supported by a recent study (in't Zandt et al. 2019), where PSF effects on shoot biomass production of four grassland species were neutralized under increased nutrient availability. Interestingly, we found variation in the barley root length colonized by AMF but this did not lead to a measurable benefit (higher biomass production) for barley. This is in line with the long-held view that under higher nutrient availability, plants are less dependent on AMF for nutrient acquisition (Treseder 2004; Camenzind et al. 2016). Altered AMF colonization of barley roots may be due to changes in their community composition from intercropping phase. AMF communities have been shown to co-vary with their host plant community composition and diversity (Schmid et al. 2020; Smilauer et al. 2020). Therefore, it is very likely that soil harbored differential AMF communities from intercropping phase, which may have varied in the degree of root colonization potential.

Conclusions

We found evidence for good intercropping species combinations (maize and faba bean) as well as not so effective intercropping combinations (with lupine), with species-specific increases in biomass production in intercropping despite relatively high nutrient content in the agricultural soil. This suggests that inter-specific interactions overwhelmed the soil nutrient availability. Density-dependent relaxation in competition with maize in the intercropped combinations may have further resulted in increased biomass production but this was the case only for faba bean and not for lupine. Although belonging to the same plant functional group (i.e. legume), our study underlines that faba bean and lupine have a different potential in intercropping systems for biomass production. Further, we showed that the feedback effects of intercropping did not lead to improved barley biomass production even if there were changes in residual mineral N after the intercropping phase. These effects were also similar for other biological parameters (microbial biomass and their potential enzyme activity) in the rotation phase. Even though we showed that intercropping did not lead to significant PSF effects in our study, such effects may become important in management practices promoting reduced external mineral inputs or in soils with low fertility.

Acknowledgements We greatly acknowledge field assistance from Thomas Niemeyer, Christoph Stegen, Vladimir Vakhtinskii, Pola Rief, Laura Störzer, Hannes Schempp, Johanna Wille, and Mira Hesselman. This research was financed by the BonaRes soil sustainability program of the German Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF) within the 'INPLAMINT – Increasing agricultural nutrient-use efficiency by optimizing plant-soil-microorganisms interactions' project with the grant numbers: 031B0508H and 031B0508F. Authors would like to sincerely thank the editor and three anonymous reviewers for their insightful comments and suggestions.

Author contribution AK and VMT designed the experiment. AK collected field data and led lab measurements. CR and HC measured mineral N, microbial biomass, and potential enzyme activities. SP took SPAD measurements for leaf greenness. AK analyzed all the data and prepared the first draft. All coauthors read and contributed to finalize the manuscript, and gave their permission for submission.

Data availability Should the manuscript be accepted for publication, the presented data will be submitted to BonaRes data repository (https://datenzentrum.bonares.de/data-portal. php).

Declarations

Conflict of interest Authors declare no conflict of interest for this submission.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.
References

- Barel JM, Kuyper TW, Paul J et al (2019) Winter cover crop legacy effects on litter decomposition act through litter quality and microbial community changes. J Appl Ecol 56:132–143. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13261
- Bell CW, Asao S, Calderon F et al (2015) Plant nitrogen uptake drives rhizosphere bacterial community assembly during plant growth. Soil Biol Biochem 85:170–182. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.03.006
- Bever JD (1994) Feeback between plants and their Soil communities in an old field community. Ecology 75:1965–1977
- Bever JD (2003) Soil community feedback and the coexistence of competitors: Conceptual frameworks and empirical tests. New Phytol 157:465–473. https://doi.org/10.1046/j. 1469-8137.2003.00714.x
- Brookes PC, Landman A, Pruden G, Jenkinson DS (1985) Chloroform fumigation and the release of soil nitrogen: a rapid direct extraction method to measure microbial biomass nitrogen in soil. Soil Biol Biochem 17:837–842. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(85)90144-0
- Bukowski AR, Schittko C, Petermann JS (2018) The strength of negative plant–soil feedback increases from the intraspecific to the interspecific and the functional group level. Ecol Evol 8:2280–2289. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ece3.3755
- Camenzind T, Homeier J, Dietrich K et al (2016) Opposing effects of nitrogen versus phosphorus additions on mycorrhizal fungal abundance along an elevational gradient in tropical montane forests. Soil Biol Biochem 94:37–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.11.011
- Chai Q, Qin A, Gan Y, Yu A (2014) Higher yield and lower carbon emission by intercropping maize with rape, pea, and wheat in arid irrigation areas. Agron Sustain Dev 34:535–543. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-013-0161-x
- Chen P, Song C, Liu XM et al (2019) Yield advantage and nitrogen fate in an additive maize-soybean relay intercropping system. Sci Total Environ 657:987–999. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.376
- Cong WF, Hoffland E, Li L, Six J, Sun JH, Bao XG, Zhang FS, Van Der Werf W (2015) Intercropping enhances soil carbon and nitrogen. Glob Change Biol 21:1715–1726. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12738
- Craven D, Isbell F, Manning P et al (2016) Plant diversity effects on grassland productivity are robust to both nutrient enrichment and drought. Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0277
- Darch T, Giles CD, Blackwell MSA et al (2018) Inter- and intra-species intercropping of barley cultivars and legume species, as affected by soil phosphorus availability. Plant Soil 427:125–138. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11104-017-3365-z
- Dissanayaka DMSB, Maruyama H, Masuda G, Wasaki J (2015) Interspecific facilitation of P acquisition in intercropping of maize with white lupin in two contrasting soils as influenced by different rates and forms of P supply. Plant Soil 390:223–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-015-2392-x
- Dong N, Tang M, Zhang W et al (2018) Temporal differentiation of crop growth as one of the drivers of intercropping yield advantage. Sci Rep. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-21414-w

- Ehrenfeld JG, Ravit B, Elgersma K (2005) Feedback in the plant-soil system. Annu Rev Environ Resour 30:75–115. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.energy.30.050504.144212
- Fitzpatrick CR, Gehant L, Kotanen PM, Johnson MTJ (2017) Phylogenetic relatedness, phenotypic similarity and plant– soil feedbacks. J Ecol 105:786–800. https://doi.org/10. 1111/1365-2745.12709
- Freschet GT, Aerts R, Cornelissen JHC (2012) A plant economics spectrum of litter decomposability. Funct Ecol 26:56– 65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2011.01913.x
- Fustec J, Lesuffleur F, Mahieu S, Cliquet JB (2009) Nitrogen rhizodeposition of Legumes. Sustain Agric 2:869–881. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0394-0_38
- Gaudin ACM, Tolhurst TN, Ker AP et al (2015) Increasing crop diversity mitigates weather variations and improves yield stability. PLoS ONE 10:1–20. https://doi.org/10. 1371/journal.pone.0113261
- German DP, Weintraub MN, Grandy AS et al (2011) Optimization of hydrolytic and oxidative enzyme methods for ecosystem studies. Soil Biol Biochem 43:1387–1397
- Gou F, Van IMK, Wang G et al (2016) Yield and yield components of wheat and maize in wheat—maize intercropping in the Netherlands. Eur J Agron 76:17–27. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.eja.2016.01.005
- Gurr GM, Lu Z, Zheng X, Xu H, Zhu P, Chen G, Yao X, Cheng J, Zhu Z, Catindig JL, Villareal S, Chien HV, Cuong LQ, Channoo C, Chengwattana M, Lan LP, Hai LH, Chaiwong J, Nicol HI, Perovic DJ, Wratten SD, Heong KL (2016) Multi-country evidence that crop diversification promotes ecological intensification of agriculture. Nature Plants 2:16014. https://doi.org/10.1038/nplants.2016.14
- Hacker N, Ebeling A, Gessler A et al (2015) Plant diversity shapes microbe-rhizosphere effects on P mobilisation from organic matter in soil. Ecol Lett 18:1356–1365. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12530
- Hauggaard-Nielsen H, Jørnsgaard B, Kinane J, Jensen ES (2008) Grain legume - Cereal intercropping: The practical application of diversity, competition and facilitation in arable and organic cropping systems. Renew Agric Food Syst 23:3–12. https://doi.org/10.1017/S17421705070020 25
- Heinen R, Hannula ES, De Long JR et al (2020) Plant community composition steers grassland vegetation via soil legacy effects. Ecol Lett 23:973–982. https://doi.org/10. 1111/ele.13497
- Ho J, Tumkaya T, Aryal S et al (2019) Moving beyond P values: data analysis with estimation graphics. Nat Methods 16:565–566. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-019-0470-3
- Huang Y, Chen Y, Castro-Izaguirre N et al (2018) Impacts of species richness on productivity in a large-scale subtropical forest experiment. Science 80(362):80–83. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.aat6405
- in't Zandt D, van den Brink A, de Kroon H, Visser EJW (2019) Plant-soil feedback is shut down when nutrients come to town. Plant Soil 439:541–551. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11104-019-04050-9
- Ingerslew KS, Kaplan I (2018) Distantly related crops are not better rotation partners for tomato. J Appl Ecol 55:2506– 2516. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13156
- Isbell F, Adler PR, Eisenhauer N et al (2017) Benefits of increasing plant diversity in sustainable agroecosystems.

J Ecol 105:871–879. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745. 12789

- Jensen ES, Hauggaard-Nielsen H (2003) How can increased use of biological N2 fixation in agriculture benefit the environment? Plant Soil 252:177–186. https://doi.org/10. 1023/A:1024189029226
- Kaplan I, Bokulich NA, Caporaso JG et al (2020) Phylogenetic farming: can evolutionary history predict crop rotation via the soil microbiome? Evol Appl 13:1984–1999. https:// doi.org/10.1111/eva.12956
- Karpenstein-Machan M, Stuelpnagel R (2000) Biomass yield and nitrogen fixation of legumes monocropped and intercropped with rye and rotation effects on a subsequent maize crop. Plant Soil 218:215–232
- Kassambara A (2020) ggpubr: "ggplot2" Based Publication Ready Plots. https://cran.r-project.org/package=ggpubr
- Klinerová T, Dostál P (2019) Nutrient-demanding species face less negative competition and plant-soil feedback effects in a nutrient-rich environment. New Phytol. https://doi. org/10.1111/nph.16227
- Kumar A, Shahbaz M, Blagodatskaya E et al (2018) Maize phenology alters the distribution of enzyme activities in soil: field estimates. Appl Soil Ecol 125:233–239. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2018.02.001
- Latati M, Blavet D, Alkama N et al (2014) The intercropping cowpea-maize improves soil phosphorus availability and maize yields in an alkaline soil. Plant Soil 385:181–191. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-014-2214-6
- Levine JM, HilleRisLambers J (2009) The importance of niches for the maintenance of species diversity. Nature 461:254–257. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature08251
- Li L, Li SM, Sun JH et al (2007) Diversity enhances agricultural productivity via rhizosphere phosphorus facilitation on phosphorus-deficient soils. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:11192– 11196. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0704591104
- Li L, Tilman D, Lambers H, Zhang FS (2014) Plant diversity and overyielding: insights from belowground facilitation of intercropping in agriculture. New Phytol 203:63–69
- Li B, Li YY, Wu HM et al (2016) Root exudates drive interspecific facilitation by enhancing nodulation and N2 fixation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 113:6496–6501. https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.1523580113
- Li Y, Ma L, Wu P et al (2020) Yield, yield attributes and photosynthetic physiological characteristics of dryland wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.)/maize (*Zea mays* L.) strip intercropping. F Crop Res 248:107656. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.fcr.2019.107656
- Mangiafico S (2020) rcompanion: functions to support extension education program evaluation. https://cran.rproject. org/package=ggpubr
- Marx MC, Wood M, Jarvis SC (2001) A microplate fluorimetric assay for the study of enzyme diversity in soils. Soil Biol Biochem 33:1633–1640. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0038-0717(01)00079-7
- McGonigle TP, Miller MH, Evans DG et al (1990) A new method which gives an objective measure of colonization of roots by vesicular—arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. New Phytol 115:495–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137. 1990.tb00476.x

- Mehrabi Z, Tuck SL (2015) Relatedness is a poor predictor of negative plant-soil feedbacks. New Phytol 205:1071– 1075. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13238
- Miller EC, Perron GG, Collins CD (2019) Plant-driven changes in soil microbial communities influence seed germination through negative feedbacks. Ecol Evol 9:9298–9311. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5476
- Mushonga K, Steyn JM, Swart WJ, Van Der WJE (2020) Plant – soil feedback responses of four dryland crop species under greenhouse conditions. Plant Environ Interact 1:181–195. https://doi.org/10.1002/pei3.10035
- Olander LP, Vitousek PM (2000) Regulation of soil phosphatase and chitinase activity by N and P availability. Biogeochemistry 49:175–190. https://doi.org/10.1023/A: 1006316117817
- Panke-Buisse K, Poole AC, Goodrich JK et al (2015) Selection on soil microbiomes reveals reproducible impacts on plant function. ISME J 9:980–989. https://doi.org/10. 1038/ismej.2014.196
- Phillips JM, Hayman DS (1970) Improved procedures for clearing roots and staining parasitic and vesicular– arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi for rapid assessment of infection. Trans Br Mycol Soc 55:158–161. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0007-1536(70)80110-3
- Png GK, Lambers H, Kardol P et al (2019) Biotic and abiotic plant-soil feedback depends on nitrogen-acquisition strategy and shifts during long-term ecosystem development. J Ecol 107:142–153. https://doi.org/10.1111/ 1365-2745.13048
- Polley HW, Wilsey BJ, Derner JD (2003) Do species evenness and plant density influence the magnitude of selection and complementarity effects in annual plant species mixtures? Ecol Lett 6:248–256. https://doi.org/10. 1046/j.1461-0248.2003.00422.x
- Rillig MC, Ryo M, Lehmann A et al (2019) The role of multiple global change factors in driving soil functions and microbial biodiversity. Science 366:886–890. https:// doi.org/10.1126/science.aay2832
- Roy J, van Duijnen R, Leifheit EF et al (2021) Legacy effects of pre-crop plant functional group on fungal root symbionts of barley. Ecol Appl. https://doi.org/10.1002/EAP. 2378
- Scalise A, Tortorella D, Pristeri A et al (2015) Legume-barley intercropping stimulates soil N supply and crop yield in the succeeding durum wheat in a rotation under rainfed conditions. Soil Biol Biochem 89:150–161. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.07.003
- Schmid MW, Moorsel SJ Van, Hahl T et al (2020) Plant diversity and community age shape soil microbial communities. 1–52. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.07.08.193409
- Schnitzer SA, Klironomos JN, HilleRisLambers J et al (2011) Soil microbes drive the classic plant diversity–productivity pattern. Ecology 92:296–303
- Sileshi G, Akinnifesi FK, Ajayi OC et al (2008) Meta-analysis of maize yield response to woody and herbaceous legumes in Sub-Saharan Africa. Plant Soil. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11104-008-9547-y
- Smilauer P, Kosnar J, Kotilinek M, Smilauerov M (2020) Contrasting effects of host identity, plant community, and

local species pool on the composition and colonization levels of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal community in a temperate grassland. New Phytol 225:461–473. https:// doi.org/10.1111/nph.16112

- Su BY, Song YX, Song C et al (2014) Growth and photosynthetic responses of soybean seedlings to maize shading in relay intercropping system in Southwest China. Photosynthetica 52:332–340. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11099-014-0036-7
- Team RC (2020) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Retrieved from https://www.r-project.org/
- Temperton VM, Mwangi PN, Scherer-Lorenzen M et al (2007) Positive interactions between nitrogen-fixing legumes and four different neighbouring species in a biodiversity experiment. Oecologia 151:190–205. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00442-006-0576-z
- Tilman D, Balzer C, Hill J, Befort BL (2011) Global food demand and the sustainable intensification of agriculture. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108:20260–20264. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1116437108
- Treseder KK (2004) A meta-analysis of mycorrhizal responses to nitrogen, phosphorus, and atmospheric CO₂ in field studies. New Phytol 164:347–355. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01159.x
- Uroz S, Courty PE, Oger P (2019) Plant symbionts are engineers of the plant-associated microbiome. Trends Plant Sci 24:905–916. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2019.06. 008
- Van der Putten WH, Bardgett RD, Bever JD et al (2013) Plantsoil feedbacks: the past, the present and future challenges. J Ecol 101:265–276. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745. 12054
- Vance E, Brookes PC, Jenkinson DS (1987) An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass C. Soil Biol Biochem 19:703–707
- Venables WN, Ripley BD (2002) Modern applied Statistics with S, 4th Ed. Springer, NewYork. https://www.stats.ox. ac.uk/pub/MASS4/
- Vierheilig H, Coughlan AP, Wyss URS, De Recherche C (1998) Ink and vinegar, a simple staining technique for arbuscularmycorrhizal fungi. Appl Environ Microbiol 64:5004–5007
- Wang ZG, Bao XG, Li XF et al (2015) Intercropping maintains soil fertility in terms of chemical properties and enzyme activities on a timescale of one decade. Plant Soil 391:265–282. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-015-2428-2

- Wang GZ, Li HG, Christie P et al (2017) Plant-soil feedback contributes to intercropping overyielding by reducing the negative effect of take-all on wheat and compensating the growth of faba bean. Plant Soil 415:1–12. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11104-016-3139-z
- Wang G, Bei S, Li J et al (2020) Soil microbial legacy drives crop diversity advantage: linking ecological plant–soil feedback with agricultural intercropping. J Appl Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13802
- Wezel A, Casagrande M, Celette F et al (2014) Agroecological practices for sustainable agriculture. A Review Agron Sustain Dev 34:1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13593-013-0180-7
- Wickham H (2016) ggplot: elegant graphics for data analysis. Springer, New York
- Witt C, Gaunt JL, Galicia CC et al (2000) A rapid chloroformfumigation extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen in flooded rice soils. Biol Fertil Soils 30:510–519. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s003740050030
- Yang W, Li Z, Wang J et al (2013) Crop yield, nitrogen acquisition and sugarcane quality as affected by interspecific competition and nitrogen application. F Crop Res 146:44– 50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2013.03.008
- Yu Y, Stomph TJ, Makowski D, van der Werf W (2015) Temporal niche differentiation increases the land equivalent ratio of annual intercrops: A meta-analysis. F Crop Res 184:133–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2015.09.010
- Zhang D, Zhang C, Tang X et al (2016) Increased soil phosphorus availability induced by faba bean root exudation stimulates root growth and phosphorus uptake in neighbouring maize. New Phytol 209:823–831. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/nph.13613
- Zhang WP, Liu GC, Sun JH et al (2017) Temporal dynamics of nutrient uptake by neighbouring plant species: evidence from intercropping. Funct Ecol 31:469–479. https://doi. org/10.1111/1365-2435.12732
- Zuur AF, Ieno EN, Elphick CS (2010) A protocol for data exploration to avoid common statistical problems. Methods Ecol Evol 1:3–14. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2009.00001.x

Publisher's note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

General discussion

Losses of N (N leaching and N₂O) in winter period between crop growing

Temperature changes strongly affects N losses from soil, but to our knowledge few studies have investigated N transformations and losses during cooling-warming cycling in winter period. We have observed the remineralization of previously immobilized N and suppression of nitrification at low temperature after the cooling-warming phase of the experiment. These mineral N contributed to the growth of barley afterwards, especially during the critical N uptake time for the young barley seedlings. However, as a side effect, the cooling-warming cycle induced a potential risk of N losses, as confirmed by the N₂O emission peak in all treatments of the experiment.

Freezing-thawing cycle may occur if the temperature drops below freezing during the cold period in winter, which is a critical time for N loss. Freezing-thawing increased N₂O emission compared to the treatments without freezing. However, the increase of N₂O (5.5-37.9%) caused by freezing in our experiment was less than that found by many studies (Song et al., 2017; Wagner-Riddle et al., 2017). Furthermore, we found no research comparing N₂O emissions during freezing-thawing with cooling-warming conditions. We assume that freezing-thawing would not strongly increase N₂O emission as compared with treatments experienced cooling-warming. If there were treatments without cooling phase but incubated continuously in the greenhouse, freezing would have a large increase of N₂O emission compared to them.

Methods of reducing soil N losses and improving crop N uptake

By immobilizing soil N, straw application reduced the total N lost from soil, which was due to the mitigation of N leaching (chapter 1 and 2). However, the N leaching (accounted for around 1% of fertilizer N) was much less in our mesocosm experiment than the field situation (Abdalla et al., 2019). We assumed that under field conditions with significant N leaching, straw should have stronger mitigation of N losses. However, straw application strongly increased soil N₂O emission during conditioning phase in high N fertilizer levels by stimulating denitrification (chapter 2). The stimulatory effect of straw on N₂O emissions can be avoided, for example, straw application under reduced N fertilizer and drip irrigation did not increase the N₂O emission, because of lower levels of chemical N fertiliser and a more stable soil moisture situation (Zhao et al., 2021). In summary, straw amendment in conjunction with NO₃⁻ can cause higher soil N₂O emissions under conditioning phase. We recommend adding the straw well in advance of fertilization so that when the straw decomposes, there is not enough NO₃⁻ resource for denitrification and N₂O emission.

Straw application was a main factor affecting processes of soil N cycle, i.e. immobilization, nitrification, remineralization and denitrification in our experiment. The mineral N was immobilized after straw application during pre-incubation and cooling-warming phases and remineralized in planting phase (chapter 1). The soil NO_3^- content decreased after straw application during pre-incubation and cooling-warming phases, but not in the planting phase, and the soil NH_4^+ increased after straw application (58-135 %) at no and low N fertilizer levels in the planting phase (chapter 1). N immobilization started immediately after straw application, and remineralization was weeks or months after (Cao et al., 2018; Shindo and Nishio, 2005). Therefore, straw application decreased shoot biomass and N contents in no

and low N fertilizer levels treatments. The remineralization of immobilized N (induced by straw application) missed the N demand of early barley growth stage, the microbial N uptake caused N shortage for barley during its early growth stage. The soil NO_3^- of cooling-warming phase contributed more to the shoot N than the soil NO_3^- measured at the end of planting phase. It means that the critical time for barley N absorption was closer to the end of cooling-warming phase than the end of planting phase.

Differing from our results, straw could increase the crop yield by increasing SOC and improving soil's biophysical and physico-chemical properties (Wang et al., 2015), or reducing NO_3^- leaching (Yang et al., 2018). With sufficient N fertilization, straw incorporation led to the yield increase (e.g. van Duijnen et al., 2018) by the additional nutrient inputs or the remineralization of immobilized N during the growing season (Di and Cameron, 2002). Straw application did not decrease shoot N content in high N levels in our study, because of sufficient N supply both for soil microbes and barley. We assumed that with ample supply of soil inorganic N, either from fertilizers or because of accelerated organic N mineralization, the straw application will not decrease crop yields in the early growth stage, while the remineralized N from microorganisms may increase the crop's biomass in the late growth stage (Cao et al., 2018).

Compared to straw, the effect of NI is short-lived but effective in reducing N₂O emissions. When straw was combined with NI, the total N loss reduction was stronger in high N levels because NI reduced the N₂O emission and straw application reduced N leaching (chapter 1 and 2). However, the effects of NI on soil mineral N were quite weak (chapter 1 and 2). Therefore, no effects of NI on barley N uptake were detected 70 days after fertilization.

Besides straw and NI, there are other soil amendments, with biochar receiving the most attention. Regarding the impact of applying biochar to farmland on soil N loss, the time of application is crucial for its effect. Additionally, the impact of biochar on crop output and N loss is also influenced by the amount of fertiliser used (Wei et al., 2020). Although there is substantial evidence that applying biochar along with N fertiliser can increase the effectiveness of N utilisation, further research is necessary to determine the appropriate application rates for biochar and how these rates affect its economic viability in comparison to traditional fertilisers (Gao et al., 2022). Moreover, the N adsorption of biochar declined with longer treatment times, which could eventually result in an ecological risk (Zhang et al., 2021). Biochar application can also degrade soil properties, which should be noted if specific biochar is used to upgrade certain soil properties (Shaaban et al., 2018). In comparison, straw has stronger but shorter-term effects on the soil N cycling, biochar has longer-term but more subtle effects, and the production and transport of biochar requires additional human and material resources (Wu et al., 2019).

Among the soil amendments, sawdust is a relatively slow decomposing soil additive, and sawdust addition does not reduce NO3 leaching regardless of plant species (Esperschuetz et al., 2016). High rates of N fertiliser can cause soil acidification, but the addition of sawdust or mulch slows N fertiliser-induced acidification, pre-plant integrated sawdust also inhibited plant growth (White, 2006). Addition of untreated sawdust significantly reduced corn growth, dry matter production, and uptake of N and other nutrients (Olayinka and Adebayo, 1985). As a result, sawdust is not as effective as straw and biochar and is less commonly used on farmland.

The effects of different soil amendments on soil N fixation differed, with wheat straw application promoting rapid fixation of excess N by soil microorganisms, followed by sawdust, and pure lignin failing to promote microbial fixation of N. Compared with soil amended with straw, spruce sawdust-amended soils released more N₂O, whereas wheat straw-amended soils produced more CO₂ (Reichel et al., 2018). Diversification of C amendments may be good where specific materials are locally available and low cost, but their efficiency and mitigation of N losses should be tested to select the optimal soil amendment based on soil, climate and crop species.

We found that the effects of intercropping on crops growth were specie dependent, there were good intercropping species combinations e.g. maize and faba bean (chapter 3). Moreover, intercropping faba bean and maize had higher above-ground production of biomass in intercropping than in monoculture. Besides of good intercropping species combinations, there was also ineffective intercropping combinations, when faba beans or maize were intercropped with lupins, faba beans and maize gained more above-ground biomass, while lupins gained less above-ground biomass (chapter 3). Intercropping had a negative effect on lupin, suggesting the result of interspecific antagonism, possibly due to strong competition for resources during intercropping. However, this effect is soil and site specific and crop combinations will perform differently in different soil and climate types.

The enhanced effectiveness of intercropping on crop yields have been widely reported (Li et al., 2023; Li et al., 2021). However, intercropping has some disadvantages. These include lower yields of the main crop and high labour inputs (Gliessman, 1985). Because intercropped plants compete with each other for light, soil nutrients and water, yields of major crops in intercropping systems will not be as high as in monocropping (Willey, 1979). Another possible disadvantage is the high cost of maintenance, especially weeding, which may have to be done by hand. In countries where there is a surplus of labour, this is not a serious problem, and since growing monocultures is more vulnerable to natural disasters, intercropping sets can reduce the risks associated with growing monocultures and thus increase the incomes of smallholders; but in countries where there is a shortage of labour, intercropping can lead to an increase in costs (Gebru, 2015). Small-scale farmers tend to favour monoculture, while large farms prefer intercropping to reduce production costs (Ghazali et al., 2016).

Crop yields are shown to rise by 20% on average with crop rotation compared to continuous monoculture in a review of studies (Zhao et al., 2020). Crop rotation significantly boosts agricultural yields without the use of additional inputs; it encourages beneficial soil microorganisms and their interactions, breaks disease cycles and reduces weed populations, all of which enhance the physical and chemical properties of the soil and boost crop yields and land-use efficiency (Shah et al., 2021). However, one of the biggest challenges to the adoption of crop rotation is financial, as incorporating additional crops into the normal rotation may require farmers to make significant upfront investments, such as purchasing new machinery, and incur additional short-term costs (Shah et al., 2021). To optimise agronomic and environmental benefits, each crop rotation system should be carefully planned taking into account the local climate, soils, crops, and management practises. (Zhao et al., 2020). And soil amendments should be used in conjunction with farming practices, such as intercropping and crop rotation, to counter the limitations of using each practice alone.

Intercropping creates PSF effects to influence the growth of subsequent crop rotations. Although PSF could have positive or negative effects on the next generation crop growth (Kulmatiski et al., 2008; Kulmatiski and Kardol, 2008), during the rotation phase in our experiment, however, although intercropping alters soil mineral N, its feedback effect did not increase barley biomass production (chapter 3). However, it was proposed that in resource-rich environments, plants are dominated by competition and negative PSFs, whereas in resource-poor environments plants may receive a net benefit from mutualists in the soil, shifting interactions between individuals from mainly negative to mainly positive (Lekberg et al., 2018). Thus, under low resource conditions, plants may benefit from facilitation and positive PSF. Although intercropping had no significant PSF effects in our study, PSF effects may be important in farming practices with reduced mineral inputs or on low fertility soils.

Contribution of this study to the science and agriculture

Although the effects of soil amendments on N loss and crop N uptake varied considerably, the differences were due to variations in soils, climatic conditions and field management. It was reported that straw application several months or one season before fertilization and sowing crop seed (Yang et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2015; Zhang et al., 2016) could improve the crop yield. Good crop management presumes addition of the fertilizer separately from (e.g. after) straw application to meet the demand of crop growth (Xu et al., 2019; Yang et al., 2020). Carefoot (1997) suggests that fresh plant residues stimulate microorganisms to immobilise large amounts of N, but after two months of decomposition, the immobilised N is remineralised and available for plant use. For example, straw application in the autumn after harvesting crops can keep the inorganic N in soil and immobilise it, mitigating N leaching and emission. The immobilized N could be released in the next early spring when substantial warming occurs after (cold) winter, during the cooling-warming cycle the strong mineralization of N would supply the growth of crops. In addition, application of straw with N fertiliser at sufficiently long intervals also avoids significant N₂O emissions, such as the no N fertiliser treatments, no substantial increase in N₂O emissions by straw application. Another approach is to control the quantity of straw applied or the C/N ratio of the straw, we found that the soil N sequestration capacity caused by straw was significantly reduced when the total C/N ratio of the soil amendments was below 25. Finally, the critical time for N uptake in barley is the early stage of planting, so it is essential to ensure the supply of N at this stage, to prevent low yields due to insufficient N supply in the early stages of barley growth.

Since N₂O emission peaks are common during the initial stages of fertilisation (Chen et al., 2019), we recommend applying NI together with N fertiliser. NI can be used concurrently with the straw to reduce the N₂O emissions inspired by the straw application. Previous studies showed that application of NI (e.g. PIADIN®) promoted the crop growth (Barneze et al., 2015; Federolf et al., 2016). The effects of NI on crops growth are determined in large amount on the mitigation of N leaching. It was founded that when NI mitigating N leaching effectively, it provides more N for crop and increase the crop growth. For example, during the time of strong precipitation and irrigation especially after the application of NH₄⁺ fertilizer, the addition of NI could retard the nitrification and reduce the amount of easily leaching NO₃⁻, retain soil N for the later crop uptake. Therefore, better results in reducing N loss and increasing yield can be achieved by applying NI during the fertilizer application period and during the heavy rainfall phase.

However, very few research has compared N uptake and losses in intercropping versus monocropping (Yin et al., 2019), crop rotation versus continuous cropping systems with and without the application of straw (Limon-Ortega et al., 2008). Additionally, we are not aware of any research comparing N utilization and losses under cooling-warming and freezing-thawing cycling in intercropping and monocropping, as well as in rotational and continuous cropping systems, and the contribution of PSF effects to these processes. It's vital to determine whether and when to apply straw, NI, and N fertiliser in order to achieve the highest NUE and lowest N losses in field situations, under intercrop versus monocrop, crop rotation versus continuous cropping, as well as under cooling-warming and freezing-thawing conditions, respectively.

In conclusion, crop management and soil amendments are additional potential strategies to increase crop NUE and decrease N losses. Numerous studies have shown that intercropping and rotations can increase crop yields; however, the final effects depend on the crop combinations chosen, and illogical intercropping and rotation combinations can lower crop yields. Additionally, the increased labour inputs associated with sophisticated management are elements to be taken into consideration in the agricultural production of rotation and intercropping, as opposed to the simpler management of monocrops and continuous cropping. Similar circumstances apply to soil amendments like NI, straw, charcoal, and sawdust: although sensible management will have a positive effect on crop yields, irrational management will have no effect or even a negative effect. In addition, there are personnel and financial costs associated with applying soil amendments. In conclusion, in order to maximise crop yield and benefit the environment, management practices like intercropping, crop rotation, and the use of soil amendments like NI, straw, biochar, and sawdust should be carefully chosen for adoption based on the unique characteristics of the arable land as well as the costs and labour inputs.

Reference

- Abdalla, M. et al., 2019. A critical review of the impacts of cover crops on nitrogen leaching, net greenhouse gas balance and crop productivity. Global Change Biology, 25(8): 2530-2543.
- Barneze, A.S., Minet, E.P., Cerri, C.C. and Misselbrook, T., 2015. The effect of nitrification inhibitors on nitrous oxide emissions from cattle urine depositions to grassland under summer conditions in the UK. Chemosphere, 119: 122-129.
- Cao, Y. et al., 2018. Effects of wheat straw addition on dynamics and fate of nitrogen applied to paddy soils. Soil and Tillage Research, 178: 92-98.
- Carefoot, J. and Janzen, H., 1997. Effect of straw management, tillage timing and timing of fertilizer nitrogen application on the crop utilization of fertilizer and soil nitrogen in an irrigated cereal rotation. Soil and Tillage Research, 44(3-4): 195-210.
- Chen, H., Zhou, J., Li, B. and Xiong, Z., 2019. Yield-scaled N2O emissions as affected by nitrification inhibitor and overdose fertilization under an intensively managed vegetable field: A three-year field study. Atmospheric Environment, 206: 247-257.
- Di, H.J. and Cameron, K.C., 2002. Nitrate leaching in temperate agroecosystems: sources, factors and mitigating strategies. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 64(3): 237-256.
- Esperschuetz, J. et al., 2016. Production of biomass crops using biowastes on low-fertility soil: 2. Effect of biowastes on nitrogen transformation processes. Journal of Environmental Quality, 45(6): 1970-1978.
- Federolf, C.-P., Westerschulte, M., Olfs, H.-W., Broll, G. and Trautz, D., 2016. Enhanced nutrient use efficiencies from liquid manure by positioned injection in maize cropping in northwest Germany. European Journal of Agronomy, 75: 130-138.
- Gao, Y. et al., 2022. A critical review of biochar-based nitrogen fertilizers and their effects on crop production and the environment. Biochar, 4(1): 36.
- Gebru, H., 2015. A review on the comparative advantages of intercropping to mono-cropping system. Journal of Biology, Agriculture and Healthcare, 5(9): 1-13.
- Ghazali, A. et al., 2016. Effects of monoculture and polyculture farming in oil palm smallholdings on terrestrial arthropod diversity. Journal of Asia-Pacific Entomology, 19(2): 415-421.
- Gliessman, S.R., 1985. Agro-ecological processes in sustainable agriculture. Sleeping Bear Press, Chelsea, ML, USA.
- Kulmatiski, A., Beard, K.H., Stevens, J.R. and Cobbold, S.M., 2008. Plant–soil feedbacks: a meta-analytical review. Ecology letters, 11(9): 980-992.
- Kulmatiski, A. and Kardol, P., 2008. Getting plant—soil feedbacks out of the greenhouse: experimental and conceptual approaches, Progress in botany. Springer, pp. 449-472.
- Lekberg, Y. et al., 2018. Relative importance of competition and plant-soil feedback, their synergy, context dependency and implications for coexistence. Ecology Letters, 21(8): 1268-1281.
- Li, C. et al., 2023. The productive performance of intercropping. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 120(2): e2201886120.
- Li, X.-F. et al., 2021. Long-term increased grain yield and soil fertility from intercropping. Nature Sustainability, 4(11): 943-950.
- Limon-Ortega, A., Govaerts, B. and Sayre, K.D., 2008. Straw management, crop rotation, and nitrogen source effect on wheat grain yield and nitrogen use efficiency. European Journal of Agronomy, 29(1): 21-28.
- Olayinka, A. and Adebayo, A., 1985. The effect of methods of application of sawdust on plant growth, plant nutrient uptake and soil chemical properties. Plant and soil, 86: 47-56.

- Reichel, R. et al., 2018. Potential of wheat straw, spruce sawdust, and lignin as high organic carbon soil amendments to improve agricultural nitrogen retention capacity: an incubation study. Frontiers in Plant Science, 9: 900.
- Shaaban, M. et al., 2018. A concise review of biochar application to agricultural soils to improve soil conditions and fight pollution. Journal of environmental management, 228: 429-440.
- Shah, K.K. et al., 2021. Diversified crop rotation: an approach for sustainable agriculture production. Advances in Agriculture, 2021: 1-9.
- Shindo, H. and Nishio, T., 2005. Immobilization and remineralization of N following addition of wheat straw into soil: determination of gross N transformation rates by 15N-ammonium isotope dilution technique. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 37(3): 425-432.
- Song, Y., Zou, Y., Wang, G. and Yu, X., 2017. Altered soil carbon and nitrogen cycles due to the freeze-thaw effect: A meta-analysis. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 109: 35-49.
- van Duijnen, R., Roy, J., Härdtle, W. and Temperton, V.M., 2018. Precrop functional group identity affects yield of winter barley but less so high carbon amendments in a mesocosm experiment. Frontiers in Plant Science, 9: 912.
- Wagner-Riddle, C. et al., 2017. Globally important nitrous oxide emissions from croplands induced by freeze-thaw cycles. Nature Geoscience, 10(4): 279-283.
- Wang, J., Wang, X., Xu, M., Feng, G. and Zhang, W., 2015. Crop yield and soil organic matter after long-term straw return to soil in China. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 102(3): 371-381.
- Wei, W. et al., 2020. Biochar effects on crop yields and nitrogen loss depending on fertilization. Science of the Total Environment, 702: 134423.
- White, L.D., 2006. The effect of pre-plant incorporation with sawdust, sawdust mulch, and nitrogen fertilizer rate on soil properties and nitrogen uptake and growth of Elliott'highbush blueberry.
- Willey, R., 1979. Intercropping: its importance and research needs. Part 2, agronomy and research approaches. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux.
- Wu, D. et al., 2018. Straw amendment with nitrate-N decreased N2O/(N2O+ N2) ratio but increased soil N2O emission: A case study of direct soil-born N2 measurements. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 127: 301-304.
- Wu, Z., Zhang, X., Dong, Y., Li, B. and Xiong, Z., 2019. Biochar amendment reduced greenhouse gas intensities in the rice-wheat rotation system: six-year field observation and meta-analysis. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 278: 107625.
- Xu, J., Han, H., Ning, T., Li, Z. and Lal, R., 2019. Long-term effects of tillage and straw management on soil organic carbon, crop yield, and yield stability in a wheat-maize system. Field Crops Research, 233: 33-40.
- Yang, H. et al., 2020. The combined effects of maize straw mulch and no-tillage on grain yield and water and nitrogen use efficiency of dry-land winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.). Soil and Tillage Research, 197: 104485.
- Yang, S., Wang, Y., Liu, R., Xing, L. and Yang, Z., 2018. Improved crop yield and reduced nitrate nitrogen leaching with straw return in a rice-wheat rotation of Ningxia irrigation district. Scientific Reports, 8(1): 1-8.
- Yin, W. et al., 2019. Straw and plastic mulching enhances crop productivity via optimizing interspecific interactions of wheat-maize intercropping in arid areas. Crop Science, 59(5): 2201-2213.
- Zhang, J., Mueller, C. and Cai, Z., 2015. Heterotrophic nitrification of organic N and its contribution to nitrous oxide emissions in soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 84: 199-209.

- Zhang, L. et al., 2021. Effects of biochar application on soil nitrogen transformation, microbial functional genes, enzyme activity, and plant nitrogen uptake: A metaanalysis of field studies. GCB Bioenergy, 13(12): 1859-1873.
- Zhang, P. et al., 2016. Effects of straw incorporation on the soil nutrient contents, enzyme activities, and crop yield in a semiarid region of China. Soil Tillage Research, 160: 65-72.
- Zhao, J. et al., 2020. Does crop rotation yield more in China? A meta-analysis. Field Crops Research, 245: 107659.
- Zhao, Y. et al., 2021. Drip fertigation with straw incorporation significantly reduces N2O emission and N leaching while maintaining high vegetable yields in solar greenhouse production. Environmental Pollution, 273: 116521.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Michael Bonkowski for giving me the opportunity to do my PhD within this group. Studying in a country with a completely different culture and customs was challenging and difficult, but Prof. Dr. Michael Bonkowski always gave me timely support. During the first two years of my PhD, I encountered a lot of difficulties and frustrations in conducting my project because I was not familiar with some of the methods and rules, and I made some mistakes, but he always encouraged and taught me how to proceed. At the same time, Prof. Dr. Michael Bonkowski also has a very rigorous research mindset and senior research ability, which helped me to avoid many potential problems when planning my project and guided me to conduct meaningful research.

Secondly, I would like to thank Dr Christoph Rosinger, who played a crucial role in setting up and carrying out my project. There are a large number of specific operational issues involved in a project from inception to completion, and any of these issues that are not properly addressed can lead to the failure of the entire project. Dr Christoph Rosinger is one of the most rigorous scientists I have ever met, and at the same time, he is extremely creative and executive, and he helped me to find reasonable and feasible solutions to every tricky experimental process I encountered to ensure the successful completion of my PhD project. In addition, I would like to thank Dr Sergey Blagodatsky. He is a very enthusiastic and friendly colleague, and with his help I was able to successfully complete the publication of my academic paper. Translating a successful experimental result into a successfully published journal paper is a long and difficult process, and it would have been even more difficult without Dr Sergey Blagodatsky's continuous help.

I would also like to thank my colleagues in the group, they are the best I have ever met, we are always willing to help each other and it has always been easy and fun to work with them. I would especially like to thank Anna Herzog and Irene Brockhaus, the technicians, who are always the first ones I think of when I have problems with the experiments and with the school, and who always help me in a positive way.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Eric von Elert for agreeing to be second examiner, whose time and effort is much appreciated. Prof. Dr. Nicolas Brüggerman, leader of the INPLAMINT project, and Prof. Dr. Matthias C. Rillig for their continued support through the collaboration and agreeing to be on my thesis committee.

Also, I would like to thank China Scholarship Council (CSC) for funding my PhD studies!

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family for being my biggest support and motivation during these years of living abroad.

Subpublications and Records of Achievement

Chapter 1

^(1, 2, 3)**Chen, H.**, Rosinger, C., Blagodatsky, S., Reichel, R., Li, B., Kumar, A., Rothardt, S., Luo, J., Brüggemann, N., Kage, H., 2023. Straw amendment and nitrification inhibitor controlling N losses and immobilization in a soil cooling-warming experiment. Science of The Total Environment 870, 162007.

Chapter 2

^(1, 2, 3)**Chen, H.**, Rosinger, C., Blagodatsky, S., Reichel, R., Li, B., Kumar, A., Rothardt, S., Luo, J., Brüggemann, N., Kage, H. Straw application and nitrification inhibitor affect soil N losses during cooling-warming and freeze-thaw cycles. Unpublished manuscript

Chapter 3

^(4, 5)Kumar, A., Rosinger, C., **Chen, H**., Protic, S., Bonkowski, M., Temperton, V.M., 2021. Gone and forgotten: facilitative effects of intercropping combinations did not carry over to affect barley performance in a follow-up crop rotation. Plant and Soil 467, 405-419.

(1) The experimental design was planned by author, Prof. Dr. Michael Bonkowski, Prof. Dr. Nicolas Brüggerman and post-doc Christoph Rosinger. Laboratory work was carried out by the author.

(2) Data analysis and statistical was carried out by the author.

(3) The Manuscript was written by the author with guidance from Prof. Dr. Michael Bonkowski and Dr Sergey Blagodatsky.

(4) The author was involved in the writing of the article and refining the final version of the manuscript.

(5) The author contributed in laboratory work and biochemical analysis for the samples.

Erklärung zur Dissertation

Erklärung zur Dissertation

Erklärung zur Dissertation gemäß der Promotionsordnung vom 12. März 2020

Diese Erklärung muss in der Dissertation enthalten sein. (This version must be included in the doctoral thesis)

"Hiermit versichere ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation selbstständig und ohne die Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel und Literatur angefertigt habe. Alle Stellen, die wörtlich oder sinngemäß aus veröffentlichten und nicht veröffentlichten Werken dem Wortlaut oder dem Sinn nach entnommen wurden, sind als solche kenntlich gemacht. Ich versichere an Eides statt, dass diese Dissertation noch keiner anderen Fakultät oder Universität zur Prüfung vorgelegen hat; dass sie - abgesehen von unten angegebenen Teilpublikationen und eingebundenen Artikeln und Manuskripten - noch nicht veröffentlicht worden ist sowie, dass ich eine Veröffentlichung der Dissertation vor Abschluss der Promotion nicht ohne Genehmigung des Promotionsausschusses vornehmen werde. Die Bestimmungen dieser Ordnung sind mir bekannt. Darüber hinaus erkläre ich hiermit, dass ich die Ordnung zur Sicherung guter wissenschaftlicher Praxis und zum Umgang mit wissenschaftlichem Fehlverhalten der Universität zu Köln gelesen und sie bei der Durchführung der Dissertation zugrundeliegenden Arbeiten und der schriftlich verfassten Dissertation beachtet habe und verpflichte mich hiermit, die dort genannten Vorgaben bei allen wissenschaftlichen Tätigkeiten zu beachten und umzusetzen. Ich versichere, dass die eingereichte elektronische Fassung der eingereichten Druckfassung vollständig entspricht."

Teilpublikationen:

Chen H, Christoph R, Sergey B, Rüdiger R, Bo L, Amit K, Steffen R, Jie L, Nicolas B, Henning K, Michael B. (2023). Straw amendment and nitrification inhibitor controlling N losses and immobilization in a soil cooling-warming experiment. Science of The Total Environment, 870, 162007

Kumar, A., Rosinger, C., Chen, H., Protic, S., Bonkowski, M., Temperton, V. M. (2021). Gone and forgotten: facilitative effects of intercropping combinations did not carry over to affect barley performance in a follow-up crop rotation. Plant and Soil, 467(1), 405-419

Chen H, Blagodatsky S, Rosinger C, Reichel R, Li B, Bonkowski M, Straw application and nitrification inhibitor affect soil N losses during cooling-warming and freeze-thaw cycles.



Datum, Name und Unterschrift